
There is an induction hearing loop system available in all meeting rooms.  Some of the 
systems are infra-red operated, if you wish to use this system then please contact 
Philippa Turvey on 01733 452460 as soon as possible.

AB
PLANNING AND ENVIRONMENTAL PROTECTION COMMITTEE

TUESDAY 28 JULY 2015
1.30 PM

Bourges/Viersen Rooms - Town Hall

AGENDA
Page No

1. Apologies for Absence

2. Declarations of Interest

At this point Members must declare whether they have a disclosable 
pecuniary interest, or other interest, in any of the items on the agenda, 
unless it is already entered in the register of members’ interests or is a 
“pending notification “ that has been disclosed to the Solicitor to the Council. 

3. Members' Declaration of intention to make representations as Ward 
Councillor

4. Development Control and Enforcement Matters

4.1 14/01307/MMFUL - Eyebury Quarry, Eyebury Road, Eye, 
Peterborough

5 - 18

4.2 15/00229/MMFUL - Cooks Hole, Leicester Road, Thornhaugh, 
Peterborough

19 - 32

4.3 15/00230/MMFUL - Thornhaugh Landfill Site, Leicester Road, 
Thornhaugh, Peterborough

33 - 52

4.4 15/00653/OUT - 1 Grove Street, Woodston, Peterborough, PE2 
9AG

53 - 60

4.5 15/00662/R3FUL - Caretakers House, 9 The Pentlands, 
Gunthorpe, Peterborough

61 - 68

4.6 15/00671/HHFUL - 80 Ledbury Road, Netherton, Peterborough, 
PE3 9PJ

69 - 78

Public Document Pack



4.7 15/00692/FUL - Memorial Wing, Peterborough District Hospital, 
Thorpe Road, Peterborough

79 - 110

4.8 15/00740/FUL - 126 Lincoln Road, Peterborough, PE1 2NT 111 - 116

4.9 15/00768/HHFUL - 21 Grange Road, West Town, Peterborough, 
PE3 9DR

117 - 124

4.10 15/00769/HHFUL - 21 Grange Road, West Town, Peterborough, 
PE3 9DR

117 - 124

Emergency Evacuation Procedure – Outside Normal Office Hours

In the event of the fire alarm sounding all persons should vacate the building by way of the nearest escape 
route and proceed directly to the assembly point in front of the Cathedral.  The duty Beadle will assume 
overall control during any evacuation, however in the unlikely event the Beadle is unavailable, this 
responsibility will be assumed by the Committee Chair.

Recording of Council Meetings: Any member of the public may film, audio-record, take photographs and use 
social media to report the proceedings of any meeting that is open to the public. A protocol on this facility is 
available at: 

http://democracy.peterborough.gov.uk/documents/s21850/Protocol%20on%20the%20use%20of%20 
Recording.pdf

Committee Members:

Councillors: C Harper (Chairman), L Serluca (Vice Chairman), P Hiller, N North, J Stokes, 
S Martin, Sylvester, D Harrington, J Okonkowski and S Lane

Substitutes: Councillors: G Casey, N Shabbir, C Ash and R Herdman

Further information about this meeting can be obtained from Philippa Turvey on telephone 01733 
452460 or by email – philippa.turvey@peterborough.gov.uk

http://democracy.peterborough.gov.uk/documents/s21850/Protocol%20on%20the%20use%20of%20%20Recording.pdf
http://democracy.peterborough.gov.uk/documents/s21850/Protocol%20on%20the%20use%20of%20%20Recording.pdf
http://democracy.peterborough.gov.uk/documents/s21850/Protocol%20on%20the%20use%20of%20%20Recording.pdf
http://democracy.peterborough.gov.uk/documents/s21850/Protocol%20on%20the%20use%20of%20%20Recording.pdf
http://democracy.peterborough.gov.uk/documents/s21850/Protocol%20on%20the%20use%20of%20%20Recording.pdf
http://democracy.peterborough.gov.uk/documents/s21850/Protocol%20on%20the%20use%20of%20%20Recording.pdf
http://democracy.peterborough.gov.uk/documents/s21850/Protocol%20on%20the%20use%20of%20%20Recording.pdf
http://democracy.peterborough.gov.uk/documents/s21850/Protocol%20on%20the%20use%20of%20%20Recording.pdf
http://democracy.peterborough.gov.uk/documents/s21850/Protocol%20on%20the%20use%20of%20%20Recording.pdf
http://democracy.peterborough.gov.uk/documents/s21850/Protocol%20on%20the%20use%20of%20%20Recording.pdf
http://democracy.peterborough.gov.uk/documents/s21850/Protocol%20on%20the%20use%20of%20%20Recording.pdf
http://democracy.peterborough.gov.uk/documents/s21850/Protocol%20on%20the%20use%20of%20%20Recording.pdf
http://democracy.peterborough.gov.uk/documents/s21850/Protocol%20on%20the%20use%20of%20%20Recording.pdf
http://democracy.peterborough.gov.uk/documents/s21850/Protocol%20on%20the%20use%20of%20%20Recording.pdf


CASE OFFICERS:

Planning and Development Team: Nicholas Harding, Lee Collins, Andrew Cundy, Paul Smith, 
Mike Roberts, Louise Lewis, Janet Maclennan, Astrid 
Hawley, David Jolley, Louise Lovegrove, Vicky Hurrell, 
Amanda McSherry, Sam Falco, Matt Thomson, Chris 
Edwards, Michael Freeman

Minerals and Waste: Theresa Nicholl, Alan Jones

Compliance: Nigel Barnes, Anthony Whittle, Karen Cole, Julie Robshaw

NOTES:

1. Any queries on completeness or accuracy of reports should be raised with the Case Officer 
or Head of Planning, Transport and Engineering Services as soon as possible.

2. The purpose of location plans is to assist Members in identifying the location of the site.  
Location plans may not be up-to-date, and may not always show the proposed development.  

3. These reports take into account the Council's equal opportunities policy but have no 
implications for that policy, except where expressly stated.

4. The background papers for planning applications are the application file plus any documents 
specifically referred to in the report itself.

5. These reports may be updated orally at the meeting if additional relevant information is 
received after their preparation.



This page is intentionally left blank



5



This page is intentionally left blank

6



Planning and EP Committee 28 July 2015                                                                       Item 1

Application Ref: 14/01307/MMFUL 

Proposal: Provision of an in-vessel composting facility and retention and extension 
of the existing recycling facility

Site: Eyebury Quarry, Eyebury Road, Eye, Peterborough
Applicant: Biffa Waste Services Ltd

Agent:
Referred by: Director of Growth and Regeneration
Reason: EIA development
Site visit: 27.11.2015

Case officer: Mr A O Jones
Telephone No. 01733 454440
E-Mail: alan.jones@peterborough.gov.uk

Recommendation: GRANT subject to relevant conditions  

1 Description of the site and surroundings and Summary of the proposal

Site and Surroundings

The application site sits within the existing Eyebury landfill and quarry complex, situated some 
0.5km southeast of the Eye village, accessed via the Eyebury Road. The proposal site generally 
correlates with the existing recycling shed and open recycling area, with a proposed maturation 
pad to the south of the site, and covers an area of some 3.3 hectares. Eye 3 footpath/bridleway, 
which also forms part of the Green Wheel runs east - west to the north of the proposed site, and 
the nearest residential properties are those at Tanholt Farm to the northwest. The proposal site 
incorporates the existing quarry and landfill access road located off Eyebury Road, and is currently 
used as the recycling area ancillary to the landfill southern extension to the south and east. The 
quarry plant and processing area lies immediately to the west and north, and beyond the 
Greenwheel to the north lie the quarry extraction area and restored areas of former landfill.

Proposal

The proposal is for an “In Vessel Composting” facility (hereafter an IVC) to receive up to 24,000 
tonnes per annum of food and other organic wastes for processing and composting to meet quality 
standards (PAS 100). The proposals include a waste reception building measuring 40m by 35m by 
13.75m to ridge height, with a smaller 'Biofilter' building adjacent with dimensions of 6m x16m, up 
to 5m in height and with an 11.75m stack. 

The process for the IVC involves receiving the food / organic waste within the reception building 
where it is inspected prior to stockpiling, shredding, blending and subsequent loading into 
individual sealed containers. The sealed containers are then connected to the 'Biofilter' and stored 
for approximately 1 week in Stage 1 of the process. The containers are then brought back into the 
reception building, unloaded and reloaded into a Stage 2 container to complete the sanitisation 
process. The material is then transferred to the maturation pad and stored in long triangular 
shaped heaps known as open windrows for a period of 6-8 weeks, prior to screening and removal 
as a saleable compost product.

1

7



The proposals include the retention and extension of the existing recycling shed (the use of the 
recycling shed is currently tied to the life of the landfill site). It is proposed that upon completion of 
landfill operations the recycling shed be used exclusively for the processing, sorting and baling of 
dry mixed recyclables (whilst the landfill is in operation construction and demolition materials will 
continue to be recycled). The proposed extension adds an additional 10m width and a further 6.1m 
of length at a height of just under 11m to the existing building. The extension will be clad in olive 
green to match the existing shed. 

The IVC and recycling facilities are proposed to make use of the existing weighbridge and offices, 
and access from Eyebury Road.

The applicant has voluntarily submitted an Environmental Statement. The proposal is regarded as 
a change to a Schedule 1 development (i.e. waste disposal, landfill of hazardous waste), 
accordingly the proposal should be considered as EIA development under the Town and Country 
Planning (Environmental Impact Assessment) Regulations 2011.

2 Planning History

Reference Proposal Decision Date
14/00477/MMFUL Provision of leachate treatment lagoons 

and a discharge pipeline
Permitted 29/05/2014

13/01225/MMFUL Proposed extraction of sand and gravel 
from Tanholt Farm as an extension to the 
existing quarry on adjacent land, with 
restoration to agriculture, nature 
conservation and recreational uses

Permitted 09/01/2015

13/01222/MMFUL Retention of aggregate processing plant, 
stocking area, lagoons and internal haul 
roads

Permitted 09/01/2015

11/02052/WCMM Variation of conditions 1,  19 , 21 and 31 of 
planning permission 08/01562/WCMM to 
allow the acceptance of asbestos in 
dedicated cells and to increase the 
catchment area for asbestos

Permitted 27/04/2012

11/01921/WCMM Section 73 application for non-compliance 
of conditions C2, C3, C9, C19 and C41 of 
planning permission 05/00353/MMFUL to 
extend the period for extraction for 5.5 
years, and to amend the method of 
working, restoration and planting details, 
and noise and dust schemes at Tanholt 
Farm, Eye

Permitted 09/01/2015

10/00650/WCMM Variation of conditions 3 and 4 of planning 
permission 00/00625/MMFUL to extend 
time limit for completion by a further 12 
months and to retain recycling facility until 
31.12.2021

Permitted 04/02/2011

3 Planning Policy

Decisions must be taken in accordance with the development plan policies below, unless material 
considerations indicate otherwise.

Cambridgeshire & Peterborough Mineral and Waste Core Strategy DPD (2011)

MW02 - Strategic Vision and Objectives for Sustainable Waste Management Development 

2

8



Growth will be supported by a network of waste management facilities which will deliver 
sustainable waste management.  The facilities will be 'new generation' which will achieve higher 
levels of waste recovery and recycling in line with relevant targets.  They will also be of high quality 
design and operation, contributing towards addressing climate change and minimising impacts on 
communities in Cambridgeshire and Peterborough.  There will be a network of standalone facilities 
but also co-located facilities in modern waste management 'eco-parks'. The network will manage a 
wide range of wastes from the plan area, contributing to self sufficiency but also accommodating 
the apportioned waste residues from London or authorities in the East of England.  Any long 
distance movement of waste should be through sustainable transport means - such facilities will be 
safeguarded via Transport Zones.  A flexible approach regarding different types of suitable waste 
technology on different sites will be taken and Waste Consultation Areas and Waste Water 
Treatment Works Safeguarding Areas will be designated to safeguard waste management sites 
from incompatible development.  A proactive approach to sustainable construction and recycling 
will be taken and strategic developments will need to facilitate temporary waste facilities to 
maximise the reuse, recovery and recycling of inert and sustainable construction waste throughout 
the development period.  Where inert waste cannot be recycled it will be used in a positive manner 
to restore sites.  The natural and built historic environment will continue to be protected with an 
increased emphasis on operational practices which contribute towards climate change and 
minimise the impact of such development on local communities. (Policy CS2 sets out a list of 
strategic objectives to support this vision; those of relevance will be discussed in the body of the 
report).

MW14 - The Scale of Waste Management Provision 
Sets out the amounts of waste provision and timescales for the various types of waste 
management facility to be provided for by the Waste Planning Authority by 2026.

MW15 - The Location of Future Waste Management Facilities 
A network of waste management facilities will be developed across Cambridgeshire and 
Peterborough.  The spatial distribution of the network will be guided by various economic and 
environmental factors (the relevant details of which will be discussed in the main body of the 
report).

MW18 - Waste Management Proposals Outside Allocated Areas 
Waste management development proposals outside allocated areas will be considered favourably 
where they meet the listed criteria.

MW22 - Climate Change 
Minerals and waste proposals will need to take account of climate change over the lifetime of the 
development, setting out how this will be achieved.  Proposals will need to adopt emissions 
reduction measures and will need to set out how they will be resilient to climate change.  
Restoration schemes which contribute to climate change adaption will be encouraged.

MW23 - Sustainable Transport of Minerals and Waste 
Sustainable transport of minerals and waste will be encouraged and new and enhanced facilities to 
enable this will be encouraged.  Transport Zones and Transport Safeguarding Areas will be 
defined and designated in the Site Specific Proposals Plan.  There will be a presumption against 
development which could prejudice a protected area for transport of minerals and/or waste.

MW24 - Design of Sustainable Minerals and Waste Management Facilities 
All proposals for minerals and waste management development must achieve a high standard in 
design and environmental mitigation.  Waste Management proposals must be consistent with 
guidance set out in The Location and Design of Waste Management Facilities SPD.

MW25 - Restoration and Aftercare of Mineral and Waste Management Sites 
Minerals workings and waste management sites will be restored to a beneficial after use with 
aftercare arrangements.  Restoration proposals will be considered on a site by site basis but must 
meet the criteria set out in the policy.

3

9



MW29 - The Need for Waste Management Development and the Movement of Waste 
Proposals for new or extended waste management development will be permitted where they meet 
a demonstrated need within Cambridgeshire and Peterborough. Applicants will be required to enter 
into binding restrictions on catchment area, tonnages and/or types of waste. Permission may be 
granted for development involving importation of waste from outside the Plan area where it is 
demonstrated it is sustainable.

MW30 - Waste Consultation Areas 
Waste Consultation Areas will be identified through the Core Strategy and Site Specific Proposals 
Plan and development will only be permitted in these areas where it is demonstrated it will not 
prejudice future or existing planned waste management operations.

MW32 - Traffic and Highways 
Minerals and Waste development will only be permitted where it meets the criteria set out in this 
policy.

MW33 - Protection of Landscape Character 
Minerals and Waste development will only be permitted where it can be assimilated into the local 
landscape character in accordance with the Cambridgeshire Landscape Guidelines, local 
Landscape Character Assessments and related SPDs.

MW34 - Protecting Surrounding Uses 
Mineral and waste management development will only be permitted where it can be demonstrated 
(with mitigation where necessary) there is no significant harm to the environment, human health or 
safety, existing or proposed neighbouring land uses, visual intrusion or loss of residential/other 
amenity.

MW35 - Biodiversity and Geodiversity 
Mineral and waste management development will only be permitted where there will likely be no 
significant adverse effect on local nature conservation or geological interest.  Where it is 
demonstrated there are overriding benefits to the development compensation and/or mitigation 
measures must be put in place.  Proposals for new habitat creation must have regard to the 
Peterborough Biodiversity Action Plan and supporting Habitat and Species Action Plans.

MW39 - Water Resources and Water Pollution Prevention 
Mineral and waste management development will only be permitted where it is demonstrated there 
is no significant adverse impact or risk to;

a. Quantity or quality of groundwater/water resources
b. Quantity or quality of water enjoyed by current abstractors unless alternative provision is made
c. Flow of groundwater in or near the site

Adequate water pollution control measures will need to be incorporated.

4 Consultations/Representations

Archaeological Officer (01.03.15)
No objections - no archaeological implications.

PCC Pollution Team (06.10.14)
The planning system should focus on whether the development itself is an acceptable use of the 
land, and the impacts of those uses, rather than the control of processes or emissions themselves. 
Planning authorities should work on the assumption that the relevant pollution control regime will 
be properly applied and enforced.

Odour - an Environmental Permit from the Environment Agency will be required which will cover 

4

10



the process design and effectiveness of operational controls.

Noise - the submitted noise limits that have been proposed are based on Minerals policy and are 
inappropriate for this type of development. Noise limits (which have been recommended by the 
pollution team) should be based on background noise levels. Appropriate reversing alarms are 
required.

Lighting - should be controlled by condition.

Land contamination - the submitted information demonstrates the suitability of the site for the 
proposed use.

PCC Transport & Engineering Services (24.02.15)
Clarification required that the cumulative HGV trips to and from all existing and proposed uses 
would not exceed the maximum (currently) permitted. (Officer clarification: 450 vehicle 
movements per weekday are currently permitted for the quarry and landfill facilities at Eyebury. 
Historically an average of 238 trips per weekday have been associated with the quarry, landfill and 
recycling facilities. A maximum of 36 vehicle trips are anticipated in association with the proposed 
recycling and IVC facilities.)

Landscape Architect (Enterprise) (11.03.15)
The overall impact is minor to negligible in landscape and visual terms. The proposed hedging will 
offer some additional screening to the recycling building and should be established as soon as 
possible, and include some trees. It advised that Elm is not the only species within the tree mix and 
at least one other species should be included.

PCC Wildlife Officer (24.02.15)
No objections, subject to the imposition of appropriate conditions in relation to Great Crested 
Newts, reptiles and landscaping.

Section 106 Major Group (13.02.15)
No S106 contribution is sought.

Environment Agency (04.03.15)
No objections. The applicant is advised that an Environmental Permit will be required.

Eye Parish Council (19.10.14)
No objections.

Local Residents/Interested Parties 

Initial consultations: 16
Total number of responses: 1
Total number of objections: 0
Total number in support: 0

Eye Parish Council have responded, and have no objections (see above).

5 Assessment of the planning issues

Policies quoted below are from the Cambridgeshire and Peterborough Minerals and Waste core 
Strategy DPD unless otherwise stated.

The main considerations are:

The principle of development
The proposed works fall within both the Minerals (M9X) and Waste (W8U) Consultation Areas 

5

11



associated with the Eyebury quarry and landfill complex. It is not considered that the proposals will 
either prevent or inhibit the operation of either of these facilities and the proposals are therefore in 
accordance with Cambridgeshire and Peterborough Minerals and Waste Core Strategy (the Core 
Strategy) policies CS27 and CS30. 

The proposals constitute a waste management facility outside an allocated area. Such applications 
will be considered favourably where they are consistent with the spatial strategy for waste 
management and it can be demonstrated that they contribute towards sustainable waste 
management by moving waste up the waste hierarchy. The spatial strategy seeks provision of a 
minimum IVC recycling capacity of 10,500 tonnes per annum and 627,000 tonnes per annum of 
new recycling capacity, and as such, the proposals are considered to provide waste management 
capacity in accordance with policy CS14. The location of such facilities is principally guided by a 
number of factors as set out in policy CS15, with which the proposals accord. The applicant has 
subsequently supplied further information in response to the need to minimise the movement of 
waste and agreed catchment restrictions which help ensure not only that the movement of waste is 
minimised but that the facilities will ensure provision of waste management operations that fulfil a 
locally recognised need. 

In relation to the retention and extension of the recycling facilities, it is accepted that these have 
historically been linked to the landfill operations at Eyebury through the recycling of construction 
and demolition wastes. The applicant is seeking the retention and extension of these facilities in 
order to shift to the processing and bulking of Dry Mixed Recyclates upon completion of the 
landfilling activities. The co-locational synergies of the recycling and IVC facilities are limited to the 
site infrastructure such as the weighbridge and offices, and a potential reduction in vehicle 
movements, and as such there is limited justification for the siting of what is effectively a waste 
transfer station of this nature in this location. In the event that the IVC is not implemented, or is 
implemented and then ceases to be operational, the recycling facilities would be considered to be 
inappropriate in this location and should be removed upon completion of landfilling as currently 
required. This can be controlled by condition and the proposals are therefore considered to be in 
accordance with policy CS18.

The provision of an IVC and recycling facility also clearly contribute to moving waste up the 
hierarchy and contributing to sustainable waste management and it is therefore considered that the 
proposals are in accordance with policies CS2 and CS18. 

Visual and landscape impact
The overall impact of the proposals is considered to be minor to negligible in terms of visual impact 
and landscape. Whilst the recycling building and proposed extension are publicly visible, they are 
of a style not unsuited to an agricultural landscape. Similarly, the open countryside is considered 
an appropriate location for an IVC facility, and the planted bund will act as a screen towards 
Eyebury Road to the west. The materials for the recycling shed and bund planting details can be 
controlled by condition and the proposals are therefore considered to be in accordance with 
policies CS33 and CS34.

Highways
The extant permissions for quarry and landfill activities permit up to 430 HGV movements Monday 
to Friday and 230 HGV movements on Saturdays. In recent years the combined quarry and landfill 
vehicle movements have been an average of 216 on weekdays. The proposed maximum number 
of vehicle trips associated with the Recycling and IVC facilities is 74 per day, indicating that there is 
sufficient capacity within the permitted maximum for the continued safe use of the Highways in the 
vicinity of the site. The existing site access is proposed to continue to be used and is of an 
appropriate standard. The extant conditions relating to maximum vehicle numbers for the quarry 
and landfill sites are unaffected. There is an expectation that HGV usage in the vicinity of the site 
would reduce following completion of the quarry and landfill activities, and, whilst the roads in the 
immediate vicinity of the site may have capacity there is the amenity of road users to consider and 
as such it is necessary to control by condition the maximum number of vehicle trips that may be 
associated with the proposals. The proposals are therefore considered to be in accordance with 

6

12



policies CS32 and CS34.

Amenity impacts, air quality, noise, lighting  
Although composting is a 24 hour activity, the site is proposed to be operational between the hours 
of 0700 and 1800 Mondays to Saturdays, the same as the existing landfill activities.

Odour and air quality
The proposal site lies more than 250m from the nearest sensitive receptor, Tanholt Farm, and the 
proposals have been amended to ensure that the maturation pad is located at least 300m from 
Tanholt Farm. The Pollution Control Officer highlights that the planning system should focus on 
whether the development is an acceptable use of land, and the impacts of those uses, rather than 
the control of the processes or emission themselves, as planning authorities should work on the 
assumption that the relevant pollution control regime will be properly applied and enforced. The 
Environmental Statement includes an air quality assessment, which satisfactorily assesses odour, 
bio aerosols and dust issues. The applicant has already secured an Environmental Permit for the 
proposed operations, so it is considered that the Environment Agency, as the regulatory body, are 
satisfied that the control of the processes and emissions can be effectively controlled. The Odour 
Management Plan required by the Permit has also been submitted in support of this application.

The proposed use of the recycling facility for DRM has the potential to cause windblown litter. 
Whilst the likelihood of litter escape off site can be reduced by good site management it is 
important to ensure the effective enforcement of this potential nuisance and this can be controlled 
by condition.

Noise
Tanholt Farm is the closest sensitive receptor at a distance of just over 250m of the proposal site. 
The quarry and landfill complex is subject to noise limits imposed through consideration of minerals 
related activity and guidance. Although the proposals will, for a period, run concurrently with quarry 
and landfill operations, consideration is given to the rating level of noise emitted from the proposals 
in isolation, which it will be upon completion of quarrying and landfilling operations. Accordingly 
noise limits can be controlled by condition on the basis of the facilities impact within the open 
countryside, and the proposals accord with policy CS34. 

Lighting
The proposals do not include any lighting. However it is recognised that there is the potential for 
lighting to be required on site. Inappropriate lighting can negatively impact on ecology, local 
amenity and highway safety and it is therefore proposed to control lighting by condition to ensure 
the suitability of any required lighting.

The proposals are considered to be in accordance with policy CS34 with respect to protecting 
surrounding uses.

Water environment
The proposals incorporate an onsite drainage system to ensure all potentially contaminated 
surface water run-off can be collected and treated. The proposed surface water drainage system 
will not compromise the effectiveness of the approved drainage systems associated with the 
landfill. The drainage system is dependent on a suitable surface being provided and appropriate 
lining of drainage lagoons being provided, which can be controlled by condition. The proposals are 
considered to be in accordance with policy CS39.

Ecology
The site has been subject of a habitat survey which has confirmed that there are no statutorily 
protected sites or features affected by the development. There are no protected species present on 
the site, although potentially suitable habitat is present. Effective maintenance measures, which 
can be controlled by condition, will ensure that Great Crested Newts and reptiles do not colonise 
the site preventing its safe operation. 

7

13



Details of the planting and maintenance scheme for the proposed bunding around the maturation 
pad present biodiversity enhancements which can be controlled by condition. Additionally, the 
impact of the proposals on the wider restoration of the quarry and landfill complex has been 
assessed and the proposals can be satisfactorily assimilated within the approved restoration 
schemes. In the event that the proposed operation ceases to be operational, a restoration, 
landscaping and aftercare scheme will be required to ensure the satisfactory restoration of the site. 
This can be controlled by condition. The proposals are in accordance with policies CS25 and 
CS35.

Cumulative Impact
The Town and Country Planning (Environmental Impact Assessment Regulations) 2011 require 
that applicants consider the cumulative impact of the various aspects of their proposal in 
combination with one another and in combination with other existing or known projects within the 
vicinity.  The applicant has considered such impacts within each chapter of the Environmental 
Statement (ES).  

The ES has identified no cumulative impacts that would result in unacceptable impacts on the 
surrounding area.  Of note, there are extant permissions for both mineral and landfill operations at 
Eyebury which have been considered both during operational and post restoration stages.  

It is considered that there are no cumulative impacts which warrant the refusal of the application. 

Other issues
Archaeology and the historic environment
The quarry and landfill complex at Eyebury has been subject to extensive archaeological 
investigation and reporting which will be unaffected by the proposals. Heritage assets within the 
vicinity have been assessed previously in relation to landfill operations, and an updated 
assessment presented in respect of the impacts of the current proposals. There are no issues in 
relation to archaeology and the historic environment. 

Contaminated land
The proposal site is on made ground associated with previous mineral workings. The proximity of 
the landfill site presents a residual risk, however the landfill is subject to gas and leachate control 
and monitoring measures and there is no unacceptable risk with the proposals being sited in this 
location.

6 Conclusions

The NPPF states that there is a presumption in favour of sustainable development - in terms of 
decision taking this means approving development proposals that accord with the development 
plan without delay.  

The proposal represents appropriate waste management development outside an allocated area, 
which will contribute to moving waste up the waste hierarchy and is therefore supported by both 
the NPPF and local planning policy. The principle of development is in accordance with the waste 
spatial strategy, as set out in policies CS2, CS14, CS15 and CS18 of the Cambridgeshire and 
Peterborough Minerals and Waste Core strategy in relation to the provision of in-vessel 
composting, and recycling, capacity.

An Environmental Statement accompanies the application which is considered comprehensive and 
meets the requirements set out in the Town and Country Planning Environmental Impact 
Assessment Regulations 2011.  Detailed topic areas have been assessed/considered:- 

7 Recommendation

The Director of Growth and Regeneration recommends that Planning Permission is GRANTED 

8

14



subject to the following conditions:

C 1 The development hereby permitted shall be begun before the expiration of three years from 
the date of this permission.

Reason: In accordance with Section 91 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 (as 
amended).

 

C 2 The development hereby permitted shall be carried out in complete accordance with the 
following documents and plans:

Environmental Statement, Non Technical Summary dated February 2015
Environmental Statement Parts I, II and III dated March 2015
Environmental Statement Part IV, drawings as set out below
Site Location Plan ref. E503AF01 Rev 1 dated 28.01.15
Application Area and Land under Applicants Control ref. E5039901 Rev 1 dated 28.01.2015
Environmental Setting ref. E5039801 Rev 1 dated 28.01.2015
Proposed Layout ref. E5039702 Rev 2 dated 22.01.15
Facilities Layout and Weighbridge Elevations ref. E503AG01 Rev 1 dated 28.01.2015
Proposed Elevations ref. E503AA01 dated 06.11.2014
Planning Drainage Layout ref. E503AB00 Rev B dated 13.04.2015
Recycling shed Elevations ref. E503AH00 dated 30.06.2014
Proposed IVC Reception Building Layout ref. E503AE01 Rev 1 dated 28.01.2015
Eye Landfill Site Master Restoration Plan - Option 1 ref. E503AJ01 dated 09.04.2015
Environmental Statement Part V Appendices as set out below
Appendix A Visual and Landscape Impact dated 05.06.2014
Appendix B Odour Impact Assessment of IVC, Bio filters and Open Windrows dated 
January 2015
Appendix B Odour Management Plan dated October 2014
Appendix B Bio aerosol Assessment dated May 2014
Appendix B Dust Assessment dated 19 June 2014
Appendix C Noise Statement dated May 2014
Appendix D Flood Risk Assessment dated April 2015
Appendix E Ecology dated July 2014
Appendix F Contaminated Land

Reason: To clarify what is hereby approved.
 

C 3 The recycling facilities and extension thereto, and all associated buildings, plant, waste, 
skips, hard standings and recycled materials hereby approved shall be removed in their 
entirety by 31.12.2021 unless the In Vessel Composting facility hereby approved is fully 
operational.

The recycling facilities and extension thereto, and all associated buildings, plant, waste, 
skips, hardstanding and recycled materials hereby approved shall be removed in their 
entirety within six months of the In Vessel Composting facility hereby approved ceasing to 
be operational.

A scheme for the restoration, landscaping and aftercare of the site shall be submitted to 
and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority within 6 months of the In Vessel 
Composting facility ceasing to be operational. The restoration, landscaping and aftercare 
shall be carried out in complete accordance with the approved scheme.

9

15



Reason: To secure a beneficial after use for the site in accordance with Cambridgeshire 
and Peterborough Minerals and Waste Core Strategy policy CS25.

 

C 4 The rating level of noise emitted from the site shall not exceed the values set out below. 
The noise levels should be determined at the nearest noise sensitive premises. The 
measurements and assessments should be according to BS:4142:1997.

Location               Noise Limit (Mon-Sat 07:00 - 18:00) LAeq (1 hour)
Willow Hall Farm     40dB
Tanholt Farm          45dB
America Farm         45dB

Reason: In the interests of local amenity in accordance with Cambridgeshire and 
Peterborough Minerals and Waste Core Strategy policy CS34.

 

C 5 Prior to the commencement of development details of reversing alarms to be fitted to all 
mobile plant shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Mineral Planning 
Authority. The approved reversing alarms shall be utilised on all mobile plant throughout the 
period of the development.

Reason: To ensure that operations are carried out in a manner which will safeguard the 
amenity of the area and minimise disturbance to adjacent land users in accordance with 
Cambridgeshire and Peterborough Minerals and Waste Core Strategy policy CS34.

 

C 6 The operations authorised, required or associated with the development hereby permitted 
shall only be carried out between the following times:
7.00 - 18.00 : Monday to Friday
7.00-13.00 Saturdays
and at no other times or on Sundays or Public Holidays.

Reason:  To minimise the risk of disturbance to the nearest residential property in 
accordance with Cambridgeshire and Peterborough minerals and Waste Core Strategy 
policy CS34.

 

C 7 Any lighting erected on site shall be in accordance with a lighting scheme that shall have 
been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority.  Any lighting 
(external to the buildings) erected within the site shall not exceed the obtrusive light 
limitations for sky glow, light into windows, source intensity and building luminance 
specified for environmental zone 2 in the Institution of Lighting Engineers document 
"Guidance Notes for the Reduction of Light Pollution (Revised) (2005). In the event of 
reasonable complaint as determined by the Mineral Planning Authority, the quarry operator 
shall instruct a suitably competent professional to monitor and report in writing to the Local 
Planning Authority on the matters raised in the complaint in accordance with a schedule to 
be agreed by the Mineral Planning Authority.  Should the report demonstrate that the 
lighting does not comply with the above mentioned Guidance Notes; the offending light 
source shall be rectified by the applicant/developer within 7 days of receipt of notice from 
the Local Planning Authority to do so.

Reason: In order to protect surrounding uses and wildlife from light pollution in accordance 
with Cambridgeshire and Peterborough Minerals and Waste Core Strategy policy CS34.

 

10

16



C 8 The facility hereby approved shall be constructed on impermeable pavements with sealed 
drainage for any process areas and the lagoons shall be lined with an appropriate liner to 
prevent dispersal into the surrounding groundwater.

Reason: In the interests of protecting the natural environment and in accordance with 
Cambridgeshire and Peterborough Core Strategy policy CS39.

 

C 9 Areas of potentially suitable reptile habitat, as identified in the Environmental Statement 
Appendix E, shall be managed in complete accordance with the details therein, which 
include;
- any grassland to be cut to a height of 5-10cm and kept short from early spring every year 
to reduce cover for reptiles.
- areas of scrub habitat to be cut, as required, and all cuttings / arising to be removed off 
site.

Reason: In the interests of habitat and species protection in accordance with 
Cambridgeshire and Peterborough minerals and Waste Core Strategy policy CS35.

 

C10 Prior to the commencement of development a scheme for the landscaping and 
maintenance of the bunds surrounding the maturation pad, as shown on approved drawing 
Proposed Layout, ref. E5039702 rev 2 dated 22-01-2015 shall be submitted to and 
approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. Thereafter the development shall be 
carried out in complete accordance with the approved scheme.

Reason: in the interests of visual amenity and biodiversity enhancement in accordance with 
Cambridgeshire and Peterborough Minerals and Waste Core Strategy policies CS33, CS34 
and CS35.

 

C11 The recycling shed and extension shall be clad in the materials as described in approved 
drawing Recycling Shed Elevations ref. E503AH00 dated 30.06.2014.

Reason: In the interests of the visual amenity of the area in accordance with 
Cambridgeshire and Peterborough Minerals and Waste Core Strategy policies CS33 and 
CS34.

 

C12 All reasonable precautions to prevent the spread of litter from the working area shall be 
taken. Any litter from the site which is deposited on nearby land shall be removed and 
returned to the infill site.

Reason: In order to protect the amenity of nearby residential occupiers in accordance with 
policy CS34 of the Cambridgeshire and Peterborough Minerals and Waste Core Strategy 
Development Plan Document 2011.

 

C13 At least 60% by weight of the waste materials brought into the site for recycling or 
composting in the area the subject of this permission shall be sourced from the following 
areas:

1. the administrative area of Peterborough City Council
2. the administrative area of Cambridgeshire County Council
3. within a radius of 45 kilometres from the site

11

17



Weighbridge records shall be submitted to the Mineral Planning Authority annually on a 
date to be agreed with the operator, and shall set out the originating location and the type 
of waste imported to the site or shall be made available to the Mineral Planning Authority 
within one week of such request.

Reason: To limit the area from which waste can be imported to seek to ensure that waste is 
treated at the nearest appropriate facility and that transportation is limited as far as 
practicable in accordance with CS29 of the Cambridgeshire and Peterborough Minerals 
and Waste Core Strategy.

 

C14 The total number of HCV movements for the purposes of all operations and development 
undertaken pursuant to the recycling and In Vessel Composting facilities shall not exceed 
100 per day between Monday and Saturdays inclusive, and none on Sundays, Public 
Holidays and Bank Holidays.

Reason: To minimise disturbance to residential or rural amenity from the development in 
accordance with policies CS32 and CS34 of the Cambridgeshire and Peterborough 
Minerals and Waste Core Strategy Development Plan Document 2011.

 
 

12

18



19



This page is intentionally left blank

20



Planning and EP Committee 28 July 2015                                                                         Item 2

Application Ref: 15/00229/MMFUL 

Proposal: Restoration of part of quarry to original ground levels using inert materials 
and consequential amendments to the restoration scheme

Site: Cook’s Hole, Leicester Road, Thornhaugh, Peterborough
Applicant: Augean PLC

Agent: Aecom

Referred by: Director Growth and Regeneration
Reason: EIA Development
Site visit: 08.04.2015

Case officer: Mr A O Jones
Telephone No. 01733 454440
E-Mail: alan.jones@peterborough.gov.uk

Recommendation: GRANT subject to relevant conditions  

1 Description of the site and surroundings and Summary of the proposal

Site Description

The application site lies at the northern extent of the existing Cook's Hole quarry, extending to 
some 11.4 hectares predominantly within Phase A, though also extending into Phases B and G 
(the entire Cook's Hole site extends to some 54.4 hectares). The application site lies entirely to the 
north of the Thornhaugh Beck, which rises to the west of Bedford Purlieus, flowing eastwards 
before joining the White Water Brook, a tributray of the River Nene. 

The site is located about 1.7km west of the A1 at Wansford. Thornhaugh village lies about 1km to 
the northeast and Wittering 1.7km to the north. The cluster of residential properties at Home Farm 
(about 10 residences) lies about 400m to the north and several other isolated farm houses and 
residences lie within a few hundred metres of the site, notably Oaks Wood Cottage, 300m to the 
north beyond the A47, Nightingale Farm about 325m to the south, and Sibberton Lodge, about 
500m to the east of the site beyond the A47. The northwest boundary adjoins Thornhaugh I quarry 
(which is being restored by landfilling) with which the site shares an access to the A47. A diverted 
Public Right of Way runs between the two sites. The northeast boundary adjoins the A47. The 
remainder of the Cook's Hole quarry site extends to the south, where it adjoins the Thornhaugh II 
quarry site, and to the west where the boundary is defined by a restrictive byway running alongside 
Bedford Purlieus National Nature Reserve (which is a Site of Special Scientific Interest).

The wider Cook's Hole site comprises an area historically worked for Ironstone from the 1950s 
which benefited from a Renewal of Minerals Permission (i.e. a RoMP - an historic planning 
permission which has been reviewed and updated with appropriate conditions) and a new 
permission for an area of previously un-worked mineral. These two permissions (03/01171/RMP 
and 10/01441/MMFUL) were to all intents and purposes identical and were granted in April 2011. 
The two permissions have subsequently been superseded by the current operator and being 
worked according to a different phasing pattern and hours of operation under planning permissions 
13/01372/CMM and 13/01374/WCMM.

Summary of the Proposal

1

21



The application seeks permission for the importation of approximately 300,000 cubic metres of 
inert mineral wastes from the adjoining Thornhaugh I site, with a maximum of 150,000 tonnes per 
calendar year. The mineral wastes will be arising as a result of the engineering requirements to 
provide a modern containment system for landfilled wastes at Thornhaugh I subject of application 
15/00230/MMFUL. The operations are proposed to be completed within the currently approved 
timescale for Cook's Hole, i.e. 21 February 2042. The mineral wastes will be placed on the 
approved restoration profiles at Cook's Hole. The proposals also incorporate a diversion to the 
access track running from Thornhaugh I, which will require a new crossing point to the footpath. 
There are no proposed amendments to the landscaping of the Cook's Hole restoration scheme, 
other than the restored profiles on which it will sit.

2 Planning History

Reference Proposal Decision Date
10/01442/MMFUL Construction of alternative means of access 

and wheelwash facility
Permitted 27/04/2011

10/01440/MMFUL Installation of a weighbridge, weighbridge 
and site offices, mess room, fuel store, 
equipment store, processing plant, sub-
station and other ancillary facilities

Permitted 27/04/2011

13/01374/WCMM Application to vary condition 11 of 
13/00432/WCMM

Permitted 09/12/2013

13/00432/WCMM Variation of condition C11 of planning 
permission 12/01544/WCMM dated 
25/01/2013 - to amend operating hours

Permitted 12/07/2013

13/01372/WCMM Application to vary condition 11 of 
13/00434/WCMM

Permitted 06/12/2013

13/00434/WCMM Variation of condition C11 of planning 
permission 12/01545/WCMM dated 
25/01/2013 - to amend operating hours

Permitted 12/07/2013

12/01545/WCMM Variation of condition C2 of Planning 
Permission 10/01441/MMFUL - Extension 
of quarry area for the winning and working 
of minerals (limestone, sand and ironstone)

Permitted 25/01/2013

12/01544/WCMM Variation of condition C1 of Planning 
Permission 03/01171/RMP - Application for 
the determination of updated planning 
conditions

Permitted 25/01/2013

10/01441/MMFUL Extension of quarry area for the winning 
and working of minerals (limestone, sand 
and ironstone)

Permitted 27/04/2011

03/01171/RMP Application for the determination of updated 
planning conditions

Permitted 27/04/2011

T3018 Prospecting for and winning of minerals by 
opencast mining including restoration of site 
on completion

Permitted 29/03/1957

T2330 Prospecting for and winning of minerals by 
opencast mining including restoration of the 
site on completion

Permitted 05/08/1954

T202 The winning, working and getting of sand 
urgently required for moulding purposes

Permitted 05/01/1949

12/01266/MMFUL Proposed relocation of site offices and 
weighbridge

Permitted 25/01/2013

2

22



3 Planning Policy

Decisions must be taken in accordance with the development plan policies below, unless material 
considerations indicate otherwise.

Cambridgeshire & Peterborough Mineral and Waste Core Strategy DPD (2011)

MW02 - Strategic Vision and Objectives for Sustainable Waste Management Development 
Growth will be supported by a network of waste management facilities which will deliver 
sustainable waste management.  The facilities will be 'new generation' which will achieve higher 
levels of waste recovery and recycling in line with relevant targets.  They will also be of high quality 
design and operation, contributing towards addressing climate change and minimising impacts on 
communities in Cambridgeshire and Peterborough.  There will be a network of standalone facilities 
but also co-located facilities in modern waste management 'eco-parks'. The network will manage a 
wide range of wastes from the plan area, contributing to self sufficiency but also accommodating 
the apportioned waste residues from London or authorities in the East of England.  Any long 
distance movement of waste should be through sustainable transport means - such facilities will be 
safeguarded via Transport Zones.  A flexible approach regarding different types of suitable waste 
technology on different sites will be taken and Waste Consultation Areas and Waste Water 
Treatment Works Safeguarding Areas will be designated to safeguard waste management sites 
from incompatible development.  A proactive approach to sustainable construction and recycling 
will be taken and strategic developments will need to facilitate temporary waste facilities to 
maximise the reuse, recovery and recycling of inert and sustainable construction waste throughout 
the development period.  Where inert waste cannot be recycled it will be used in a positive manner 
to restore sites.  The natural and built historic environment will continue to be protected with an 
increased emphasis on operational practices which contribute towards climate change and 
minimise the impact of such development on local communities. (Policy CS2 sets out a list of 
strategic objectives to support this vision; those of relevance will be discussed in the body of the 
report).

MW14 - The Scale of Waste Management Provision 
Sets out the amounts of waste provision and timescales for the various types of waste 
management facility to be provided for by the Waste Planning Authority by 2026.

MW15 - The Location of Future Waste Management Facilities 
A network of waste management facilities will be developed across Cambridgeshire and 
Peterborough.  The spatial distribution of the network will be guided by various economic and 
environmental factors (the relevant details of which will be discussed in the main body of the 
report).

MW20 - Inert Landfill 
Strategic allocation is made at Block Fen/Langwood Fen Area of Search.

Sites to deliver the remaining 3.69 million cubic metres capacity will be made at mineral extraction 
sites requiring restoration and identified in the Site Specific Proposals Plan.

MW22 - Climate Change 
Minerals and waste proposals will need to take account of climate change over the lifetime of the 
development, setting out how this will be achieved.  Proposals will need to adopt emissions 
reduction measures and will need to set out how they will be resilient to climate change.  
Restoration schemes which contribute to climate change adaption will be encouraged.

MW24 - Design of Sustainable Minerals and Waste Management Facilities 
All proposals for minerals and waste management development must achieve a high standard in 
design and environmental mitigation.  Waste Management proposals must be consistent with 
guidance set out in The Location and Design of Waste Management Facilities SPD.

3

23



MW25 - Restoration and Aftercare of Mineral and Waste Management Sites 
Minerals workings and waste management sites will be restored to a beneficial after use with 
aftercare arrangements.  Restoration proposals will be considered on a site by site basis but must 
meet the criteria set out in the policy.

MW32 - Traffic and Highways 
Minerals and Waste development will only be permitted where it meets the criteria set out in this 
policy.

MW33 - Protection of Landscape Character 
Minerals and Waste development will only be permitted where it can be assimilated into the local 
landscape character in accordance with the Cambridgeshire Landscape Guidelines, local 
Landscape Character Assessments and related SPDs.

MW34 - Protecting Surrounding Uses 
Mineral and waste management development will only be permitted where it can be demonstrated 
(with mitigation where necessary) there is no significant harm to the environment, human health or 
safety, existing or proposed neighbouring land uses, visual intrusion or loss of residential/other 
amenity.

MW37 - Public Rights of Way 
Minerals and waste development will only be permitted where permanent or temporary diversions 
of public rights of way are adversely affected if appropriate alternatives are provided.  Proposals 
should, where practicable, provide for the enhancement of public rights of way.

MW38 - Sustainable Use of Soils 
Mineral and Waste development which affects the best and most versatile agricultural land will only 
be permitted where it meets the criteria set out in this policy.

4 Consultations/Representations

PCC Pollution Team (27.04.15)
No objections subject to appropriate conditions in respect of noise, lighting and air quality / dust.

PCC Transport & Engineering Services (05.03.15)
Clarification required as to whether the proposed vehicle trips are in addition to, or instead of, 
those associated with existing operations (the proposal will result in a reduction in trips in 
comparison with what has been previously approved).

Landscape Architect (Amey) (07.03.15)
The proposed contours are considered to be an overall improvement. The planting mix and density 
has not been submitted, and it is recommended that Blackthorn Prunus Spinosa be included in the 
mix.

PCC Tree Officer (12.03.15)
No objections subject to condition requiring replacement planting in the event of failures.

PCC Wildlife Officer (02.03.15)
No objections. A detailed landscape plan (based on previously approved restoration drawing 
CHQ3) is required. The overview restoration plan (TCH7) for Thornhaugh I and Cook’s Hole is 
acceptable in principle subject to appropriate detail being provided, such as a key and various 
habitat types as on the previously approved drawing.

Archaeological Officer (09.03.15)
No objections. The Cook’s Hole site (subject to permissions 13/01372/MMFUL and 
13/01374/MMFUL) will remain subject to the archaeological conditions imposed through the 
quarrying permission.

4

24



English Heritage (05.03.15)
No comments. The application should be determined in accordance with national and local policy 
guidance.

Natural England - Consultation Service (11.03.15)
No objections. No adverse impact on Bedford Purlieus SSSI, or protected species within 
Thornhaugh I (Great Crested Newts have been successfully translocated under licence). The 
proposed nature conservation end use has the potential for significant biodiversity gains in the long 
term.

Ramblers (Central Office) (26.02.15)
No comments or objections.

Environment Agency (27.05.15)
No objection following submission of appropriate Flood Risk Assessment.

Local Residents/Interested Parties 

Initial consultations: 20
Total number of responses: 0
Total number of objections: 0
Total number in support: 0

Wansford PC - 09/04/2015
The noise from hydraulic breakers at Cook's Hole is within agreed criteria levels.

5 Assessment of the planning issues

Policies quoted below are from the Cambridgeshire and Peterborough Minerals and Waste 
Core Strategy DPD unless otherwise stated.

The main issues to consider are;

Suitability / principle
The Cook's Hole site (W2A) is allocated for inert landfill in the Cambridgeshire and Peterborough 
Minerals and Waste Site Specific Proposals DPD policy SSP W2 to aid the delivery of the Waste 
Spatial Strategy, as set out in Core Strategy policies CS2, CS14, CS15 and CS20. The provision of 
inert landfill space to be used specifically in relation to the mineral wastes proposed to be extracted 
from the neighbouring Thornhaugh I site will also ensure continued landfill provision for Non 
Hazardous and Stable Non Reactive Hazardous Waste in accordance with Core Strategy policies 
CS19 and CS21.

Transport, Access and Public Rights of Way
The proposal is for the importation of mineral wastes directly from the neighbouring Thornhaugh I 
site, reducing the need for unnecessary transportation of waste materials, and will also have no 
impact on the surrounding highway. The proposed temporary diversion of the internal Cook's Hole 
access road is covered by the application at Thornhaugh I (15/00230/MMFUL), and will necessitate 
a new crossing point on the diverted public right of way. The importation of material from the 
adjoining site and the safety of users of the Public Rights of Way can be secured by condition and 
the proposals are therefore in accordance with policies CS22, CS32 and 37 of the Core Strategy.

Amenity; noise, dust and lighting
It is noted that the proposed working hours are shorter than those currently approved at Cook's 
Hole, and other than two noise related complaints (one associated with the use of multiple 
generators and one associated with quarry working at the perimeter of the site close to ground 
level), site operations have not had an unacceptable amenity impact. The proposals for the 

5

25



importation of fill materials are therefore assessed in light of the amenity impacts associated with 
the approved quarry workings.

The existing quarry operations at Cook's Hole have been rigorously assessed and the nature of the 
operations considered to present more potential disturbance to surrounding uses than the current 
proposals. The existing noise limits for Cook's Hole are acceptable and the proposals do not 
indicate that there would be exceedance of these limits. Effective operation and maintenance of 
plant and machinery, in conjunction with the use of silencers and appropriate reversing alarms in 
addition to noise limits can therefore be controlled by condition to protect surrounding uses.

The proposals have the potential to generate fugitive dust (i.e. dust that can be visible and 
deposited off site). The currently approved mitigation measures for the Thornhaugh I site have 
been presented, and are considered acceptable, to be applicable to the proposed operations at 
Cook's Hole, and can be controlled by condition. Odour is not an issue associated with the 
proposals for the deposition of mineral wastes.

The proposals do not include any lighting. However it is recognised that there is the potential for 
lighting to be required on site. Inappropriate lighting can negatively impact on local amenity and 
highway safety and it is therefore proposed to control lighting by condition to ensure the suitability 
of any required lighting.

The proposals are considered to be in accordance with policy CS34 with respect to protecting 
surrounding uses.

Restoration / landscaping / aftercare
The proposals for completion of restoration and landscaping were to align with the duration of the 
quarry works at Cook's Hole (i.e. 21 February 2042). The works at Thornhaugh I are proposed to 
be completed by 31 December 2035; it is not considered appropriate to extend the infill works at 
Cook's Hole beyond the date of proposed operations at Thornhaugh I in light of the fact that the 
materials for infilling will only come from Thornhaugh I, and the requirement for phased restoration 
(and therefore landscaping) of Cook's Hole.

The visual impact of the proposals have been considered to be of a low magnitude for the duration 
of the works in light of the advance planting required along the A47 frontage to Cook's Hole. The 
longer term impact of creating a greater area of Cook's Hole to original contours is deemed 
beneficial, and will see the previously approved concept landscape scheme implemented, albeit at 
original contours rather than within the currently approved low level scheme (a low level scheme is 
one whereby there is no infilling, resulting in a reduction in ground contours from the original 
levels).

A detailed landscape and aftercare scheme relevant to the proposal site is required, and can be 
controlled by condition. The proposals are therefore in accordance with Core Strategy policies 
CS25, CS33, CS34 and CS 35.

Ecology
The currently approved mineral operations at Cook’s Hole are subject of an Ecological 
Management Plan (EMP). The EMP has been assessed and is considered to be fit for purpose in 
respect of this proposal, and can therefore be controlled by condition. The proposed landscaping 
and after use represents an appropriate balance between agriculture and biodiversity 
enhancement, and the proposals are therefore in accordance with policy CS25.

Ground and Surface water
The impacts on ground and surface water have been previously assessed in respect of the 
quarrying operations at Cook's Hole. There are no flood risk concerns and the Environment 
Agency have previously advised that the submitted surface water scheme is appropriate and can 
be controlled by condition.

6

26



Heritage
The proposals are not considered to have a detrimental impact on the setting of the Cook's Hole 
grade II listed farmhouse located centrally within the wider Cook's Hole site and to the southwest of 
the proposal area. The proposals are therefore in accordance with policy CS36.

Environmental Assessment
The Environment Agency advise that an Environmental Permit may be required dependent on the 
quantities and types of material to be used for infilling. The site is allocated for inert landfill, and 
from a planning perspective the deposition of inert materials and mineral wastes is acceptable in 
this location. In assessing this application, regard has been had to the submitted environmental 
assessment/information.  The environmental information is adequate as it stands to make a 
positive recommendation taking into account the proposed mitigation measures. 

6 Conclusions

The NPPF states that there is a presumption in favour of sustainable development - in terms of 
decision making this means approving development proposals that accord with the development 
plan without delay. The principle of development is clearly in accordance with policy SSP W2 of the 
Cambridgeshire and Peterborough Minerals and Waste Site Specific Proposals DPD which 
allocates the site for inert landfill, and contributes to the provision of inert landfill capacity as 
required by Core Strategy policy CS20.

The proposals also enables the provision of Stable Non-Reactive Hazardous Waste (SNRHW) and 
non-hazardous wastes at the neighbouring Thornhaugh I landfill, contributing to the aims of Core 
Strategy policies CS19 and CS21. The proposals also comply with Core Strategy policies CS14 
and CS15 in respect of the need and location of waste management facilities.

An Environmental Statement accompanies the application which is comprehensive and meets the 
requirements of the Town and Country Planning (Environmental Impact Assessment) Regulations 
2011. Detailed topic areas have been assessed/considered:-

With regards transport, access and Public Rights of Way the proposal is in compliance with 
policies CS32 and CS37 of the Core Strategy.

Noise, dust and lighting have been assessed and the proposal is in compliance with policy CS34 of 
the Core Strategy.

Landscape, visual impacts and ecology have been assessed and the proposal is in compliance 
with policies CS25, CS33, CS34 and CS35 of the Core Strategy.

Flood risk, ground and surface water issues have been considered and are in compliance with 
policies CS22 and CS39 of the Core Strategy.

Other matters have been assessed including cultural heritage and climate change, and are 
considered acceptable and in compliance with polices CS32 and CS36 of the Core Strategy.

The cumulative impact of this development with that of the neighbouring site at Thornhaugh I has 
also been taken into account.

The comments of consultees have been taken into account and suitable conditions will be attached 
to mitigate any of the issues raised. The comments of neighbours have been taken into account, 
but given that the site is allocated for waste development and in all other respects the proposal is 
acceptable, there is no reason not to approve the application in line with Section 38(6) of the 
Planning and Compensation Act.

7

27



7 Recommendation

The Director of Growth and Regeneration recommends that Planning Permission is GRANTED 
subject to the following conditions:

 

C 1 The development hereby permitted shall be begun before the expiration of three years from 
the date of this permission.

Reason: In accordance with Section 91 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 (as 
amended).

 

C 2 The development hereby approved (excluding the aftercare required by Condition 13) shall 
be completed no later than 31st December 2034.

Reason: To ensure a timely restoration in accordance with policy CS25 of the 
Cambridgeshire and Peterborough Minerals and Waste Core Strategy.

 

C 3 The development hereby permitted shall be carried out in complete accordance with the 
submitted and approved documents and plans:

Environmental Statement dated February 2015
Site Locations ref. TCH1 dated 12/14
Application Boundary ref. CHQ1 dated 12/14
Phasing ref. CHQ2 rev. D dated 12/14
Sections ref. CHQ4 dated 12/14
Cook's Hole Access Road Diversion ref. TCH6 dated 12/14

Reason: To clarify what is hereby approved.
 

C 4 No development/operations (including the servicing maintenance or testing of plant), 
authorised or required by this permission shall be carried out on the site except between 
the following times:
              0700 - 1700 hours         Mondays to Fridays
              0700 - 1300 hours         Saturdays  
There shall be no development/operations on Sundays, Bank Holidays or national holidays.
Between 0700 and 0800 on Saturday, operations shall be limited to loading vehicles from 
stockpiles, and associated environmental control and administrative activities.

Reason:  In order to safeguard the amenity of nearby residents in accordance with policy 
CS34 of the Cambridgeshire and Peterborough Minerals and Waste Core Strategy.

 

C 5 Except for temporary operations, the rating level of noise emitted from the site shall not 
exceed the limit specified below when measured at each location listed.  Measurements 
taken to verify compliance shall have regard to the effects of extraneous noise and shall be 
corrected for such effects.

Location                               (Mondays to Fridays)                 (Saturdays)
Home Farm House 55 dB LAeq,1h                      55 dB LAeq,1h 
Leedsgate Farm 50 dB LAeq,1h                      50 dB LAeq,1h 
Nightingale Farm 50 dB LAeq,1h                      46 dB LAeq,1h 

8

28



Sibberton Lodge 51 dB LAeq,1h                      51 dB LAeq,1h
Oaks Wood Cottage 55 dB LAeq,1h                      55 dB LAeq,1h 
Toll Cottage 55 dB LAeq,1h                      55 dB LAeq,1h 

For temporary operations such as site preparation, soil replacement, and screen bund 
removal, the free field noise level due to operations at the nearest point to each dwelling 
shall not exceed  70 dB LAeq,1hour(free field). Temporary operations shall not take place 
for more than eight weeks in any calendar year.  In the event of a reasonable complaint as 
determined by the Local Planning Authority, the developer shall appoint a suitably qualified 
noise consultant to undertake noise monitoring in accordance with a scheme that shall be 
agreed beforehand with the Local Planning Authority.  The scheme shall set out the 
timetable and methodology for undertaking the monitoring and producing a noise report.  
This report shall be provided to the Local Planning Authority.

Reason: In order to safeguard the amenity of nearby residents in accordance with policy 
CS34 of the Cambridgeshire and Peterborough Minerals and Waste Core Strategy (July 
2011).

 

C 6 All plant, machinery and vehicles operated within the site shall be maintained in accordance 
with the manufacturer's specification and shall be fitted with and use effective silencers in 
accordance with the manufacturer's recommendations and shall be operated so as to 
minimise noise emissions.  The manufacturer’s specifications shall be provided to the 
Minerals Planning Authority within 5 days of being so requested.

Reason: To ensure that operations are carried out in a manner which will safeguard the 
amenity of the area and minimise disturbance to adjacent land users in accordance with 
Cambridgeshire and Peterborough Minerals and Waste Core Strategy policy CS34.

 

C 7 Prior to the commencement of development details of reversing alarms to be fitted to all 
mobile plant shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Mineral Planning 
Authority. The approved reversing alarms shall be utilised on all mobile plant throughout the 
period of the development.

Reason: To ensure that operations are carried out in a manner which will safeguard the 
amenity of the area and minimise disturbance to adjacent land users in accordance with 
Cambridgeshire and Peterborough Minerals and Waste Core Strategy policy CS34.

 

C 8 Any lighting erected on site shall be in accordance with a lighting scheme that shall have 
been submitted to and approved by the Local Planning Authority.  Any lighting (external to 
the buildings) erected within the site shall not exceed the obtrusive light limitations for sky 
glow, light into windows, source intensity and building luminance specified for 
environmental zone 2 in the Institution of Lighting Engineers document "Guidance Notes for 
the Reduction of Light Pollution (Revised) (2005). In the event of reasonable complaint as 
determined by the Mineral Planning Authority, the quarry operator shall instruct a suitably 
competent professional to monitor and report in writing to the Local Planning Authority on 
the matters raised in the complaint in accordance with a schedule to be agreed by the 
Mineral Planning Authority.  Should the report demonstrate that the lighting does not 
comply with the above mentioned Guidance Notes; the offending light source shall be 
rectified by the applicant/developer within 7 days of receipt of notice from the Local 
Planning Authority to do so.

9

29



Reason:  In order to minimise light spillage from the site in the interests of the natural 
environment and to reduce light pollution to the night sky in accordance with policies CS21 
of the adopted Peterborough Core Strategy and policies CS34 and CS35 of the 
Cambridgeshire and Peterborough Minerals and Waste Core Strategy (July 2011).

 

C 9 Dust generated by the development hereby approved shall be controlled in accordance with 
the scheme at Annexe 3 of the Environmental Statement dated February 2015.

Reason: In order to safeguard the amenity of nearby residents and users of the public 
footpath network in accordance with policy CS34 of the Cambridgeshire and Peterborough 
Minerals and Waste Core Strategy (July 2011).

 

C10 No vehicular access to the Public Highway shall be used in connection with the 
development hereby approved other than:
the existing track linking Cook’s Hole Farm to the A47, and 
the link to the entrance serving Thornhaugh I Quarry.

The existing track linking Cook’s Hole Farm to the A47 shall be used in connection with 
agricultural, after-care and/or after-use purposes only.  

Reason: In the interests of highway safety in accordance with policy 32 of the 
Cambridgeshire and Peterborough Minerals and Waste Core Strategy (July 2011).

 

C11 The development hereby approved shall be carried out in complete accordance with the;

Scheme for the management of surface water and groundwater dated July 2011,
Extract NCB report,
Appendix F: Hydrogeology and Hydrology dated September 2010,
Figure F3.2

Reason:  In order to maintain the present hydrological conditions in order to preserve the 
quality of water, flow of water and the natural environment that depends on such hydrology 
in accordance with policy CS 21 of the adopted Peterborough Core Strategy (Feb 2011) 
and policies 35 and 39 of the Cambridgeshire and Peterborough Minerals and Waste Core 
Strategy (July 2011).

 

C12 The development hereby approved shall be carried out in complete accordance with the 
Ecological Management Plan Revision 3 (Dated 13 November 2012), and the additional 
mitigation measures as set out in Appendix E of the Environmental statement dated 
February 2015

Reason: In order to assure appropriate protection and conservation of protected species 
and provide appropriate landscape restoration and biodiversity enhancement in accordance 
with policies CS 10 and CS 21 of the adopted Peterborough Core Strategy (Feb 2011), 
policies 25, 33, 35 and 38 of the Cambridgeshire and Peterborough Minerals and Waste 
Core Strategy (July 2011).

 

C13 Prior to commencement of development a detailed landscape and aftercare scheme based 
on the Proposed Restoration Masterplan, Figure TCH7 dated 12/14 shall be submitted to 

10

30



and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. Thereafter, the development shall 
be carried out in complete accordance with the approved scheme.

The period of aftercare for the site or any part of it shall begin and thereafter be carried out 
in complete in accordance with the Landscaping and Aftercare Scheme on the date of 
written certification by the Mineral Planning Authority that the site or, as the case may be, 
the specified part of it, has been satisfactorily restored.

Reason: In the interests of enhancement to biodiversity and satisfactory restoration of the 
site in accordance with policy CS 21 of the adopted Peterborough Core Strategy and 
policies 25, 35 and 38 of the Cambridgeshire and Peterborough Minerals and Waste Core 
Strategy (July 2011).

 

C14 The development hereby approved shall be carried out in complete accordance with the 
scheme for the crossing of the Public Right of Way as depicted on Figure TCH6 dated 
12/14.

Reason:  In the interests of the safety of the users of the Public Rights of Way that cross 
and border the site in accordance with policy CS 37 of the Cambridgeshire and 
Peterborough Minerals and Waste Core Strategy.

 

C15 The only materials to be accepted on site are mineral wastes and inert wastes imported 
directly from Thornhaugh I.

Reason: To ensure there is no associated increase in traffic which has not been assessed, 
and in accordance with Cambridgeshire and Peterborough Minerals and Waste Core 
Strategy policy CS32.

 

C16 Any trees, shrubs or hedges forming part of the approved landscaping scheme that die, are 
removed or become diseased within five years of the implementation of the landscaping 
scheme shall be replaced during the next available planting season by the developers, or 
their successors in title with an equivalent size, number and species to those being 
replaced. Any replacement trees, shrubs or hedgerows dying within five years of planting 
shall themselves be replaced with an equivalent size, number and species. 

Reason: In the interests of appropriate site restoration and visual amenity in accordance 
with Cambridgeshire and Peterborough Minerals and Waste Core Strategy policy CS25.

 
 

11

31



This page is intentionally left blank

32



33



This page is intentionally left blank

34



Planning and EP Committee 28 July 2015                                                                    Item 3

Application Ref: 15/00230/MMFUL 

Proposal: Continuation of landfilling in phases 1 and 2; consequential amendments 
to the phasing scheme; relocation of site roads and infrastructure 
including the landfill gas flare; minor amendments to the final restoration 
contours; continued periodic use of crushing and processing plant and the 
deferment of the dates for the cessation of landfilling and final restoration 
by 6 years

Site: Thornhaugh Landfill Site, Leicester Road, Thornhaugh, Peterborough
Applicant: Augean PLC

Agent: Aecom

Referred by: Director of Growth and Regeneration
Reason: EIA development
Site visit: 08.04.2015

Case officer: Mr A O Jones
Telephone No. 01733 454440
E-Mail: alan.jones@peterborough.gov.uk

Recommendation: GRANT subject to relevant conditions  

1 Description of the site and surroundings and Summary of the proposal

Site and Surroundings

Thornhaugh I Landfill Site is located about 2 kilometres west of the A1 at Wansford immediately to 
the south of the A47 Leicester Road.  The village of Thornhaugh lies approximately 1km to the 
north east beyond the A47.  The proposal site occupies an area of some 19.4 hectares within the 
eastern extent of the current Thornhaugh I site which extends to some 37.4 hectares in total.  The 
site currently benefits from permission for use as a landfill site accepting stable non-reactive 
hazardous waste (SNRHW), asbestos, gypsum and other high sulphate bearing wastes and non-
hazardous commercial and industrial wastes.  The current permission requires landfilling to be 
complete by 31 December 2028.  The site contains a county wildlife site to the west where it 
adjoins Bedford Purlieus Site of Special Scientific Interest.  The site did contain a population of 
Great Crested Newts which have been translocated to the County Wildlife Site CWS and are 
managed by Augean, the applicant.  The site is accessed by a single point of access off the A47, 
which also provides access to the neighbouring Cook's Hole quarry.  Phases 1 and 2 are areas of 
historical landfilling, and have permission for overfilling to achieve suitable restoration contours. 
Phases 3, 5 and 6 have been landfilled according to modern containment methods, and phases 4 
and 7 have been subject to quarrying operations.

Proposal

The application seeks permission for the excavation of phases 1 and 2, which have previously 
been filled, to allow for the engineering of modern containment methods for the wastes therein; 
thus presenting an engineering solution to the difficulties of overfilling the phases to achieve the 
approved restoration contours. Waste material from these phases will be deposited within the site 
in landfill cells engineered to modern standards; to ensure the viability of the scheme and create 
sufficient voidspace for engineering requirements inert materials will be recycled, and mineral 
wastes exported to the neighbouring Cook’s Hole site (subject of application 15/00229/MMFUL). 
The proposed re-engineering of phases 1 and 2 will result in amendments to the phasing scheme, 

1

35



though the site will continue to be worked 'from front to back' away from the A47. The restoration 
contours in the northeast corner of the site will be slightly raised, and the access road (and 
associated facilities, weighbridge, wheel wash etc.) to Cook's Hole quarry will be temporarily re-
aligned. The proposals also seek to continue the use of crushing and processing plant on site, and 
the long term retention of the existing gas flare. The proposals also include deferment of the 
landfilling and restoration completion dates by 6 years, until December 31 2034 and December 31 
2035 respectively.

2 Planning History

Reference Proposal Decision Date
11/01993/WCMM Variation of condition C1 of planning 

permission 10/01659/WCMM to allow 
continued siting and operation of temporary 
gas flare until 30/12/2016

Permitted 26/01/2012

10/01659/WCMM Variation of condition C1 of planning 
permission 09/01458/WCMM - Siting and 
operation of a temporary gas flare and 
associated equipment - to extend date of 
commencement to 30 December 2011

Permitted 15/02/2011

09/01458/WCMM Variation of condition 1 of planning 
permission 07/01466/MMFUL to allow for 
the retention of a temporary gas flare and 
associated equipment until 30.12.2010

Permitted 03/02/2010

08/01260/WCMM Variation of condition 1 of planning 
permission 07/01466/MMFUL to allow for 
the retention of the operation of a 
temporary gas flare and associated 
equipment

Permitted 23/12/2008

08/00391/MMFUL Installation and operation of a micro turbine 
landfill gas power generator, permanent 
flare and associated equipment

Permitted 30/05/2008

07/01466/MMFUL Siting and operation of a temporary gas 
flare and associated equipment

Permitted 19/10/2007

06/01069/MMFUL Processing of secondary aggregate 
materials recovered from Phase 7 within 
Thornhaugh Quarry for use off-site; 
processing of secondary aggregates from 
suitable waste streams brought to the site 
for disposal for use off-site, for a temporary 
period ending 15 November 2011

Permitted 11/10/2006

06/00145/MMFUL Siting of temporary gas flare and 
associated equipment

Permitted 08/06/2006

05/00685/WCMM Variation of condition 7 of planning 
permission P070/97 to enable mineral 
extraction over a larger area within the 
currently approved boundaries of the 
Quarry

Permitted 21/04/2006

97/00006/MMFUL Application for determination of new 
conditions for extraction of limestone and 
restoration to agricultural use by landfill

Permitted 25/04/1997

P0610/80 Backfilling and restoration to agriculture of 
quarry

Permitted 01/08/1980

P0304/77 Backfilling of the quarry prior to restoration 
by importing inert materials, top soil, subsoil 
and builders rubble from contractors sites

Permitted 06/05/1977

2

36



2T7767 Extraction of limestone Permitted 03/05/1963
T7247 Extraction of Limestone Refused 26/11/1962
12/00463/MMFUL Continued operation and restoration (by 

landfill) of Thornhaugh Landfill Site until 31 
December 2029, including restoration by 
landfill of Phase 4B and 4C, temporary 
storage of materials on part of Cook's Hole 
Quarry, revised restoration (nature 
conservation) and landscaping schemes, 
and recycling of soils for site restoration 
and for export off site

Permitted 09/11/2012

3 Planning Policy

Decisions must be taken in accordance with the development plan policies below, unless material 
considerations indicate otherwise.

Cambridgeshire & Peterborough Mineral and Waste Core Strategy DPD (2011)

MW02 - Strategic Vision and Objectives for Sustainable Waste Management Development 
Growth will be supported by a network of waste management facilities which will deliver 
sustainable waste management.  The facilities will be 'new generation' which will achieve higher 
levels of waste recovery and recycling in line with relevant targets.  They will also be of high quality 
design and operation, contributing towards addressing climate change and minimising impacts on 
communities in Cambridgeshire and Peterborough.  There will be a network of standalone facilities 
but also co-located facilities in modern waste management 'eco-parks'. The network will manage a 
wide range of wastes from the plan area, contributing to self sufficiency but also accommodating 
the apportioned waste residues from London or authorities in the East of England.  Any long 
distance movement of waste should be through sustainable transport means - such facilities will be 
safeguarded via Transport Zones.  A flexible approach regarding different types of suitable waste 
technology on different sites will be taken and Waste Consultation Areas and Waste Water 
Treatment Works Safeguarding Areas will be designated to safeguard waste management sites 
from incompatible development.  A proactive approach to sustainable construction and recycling 
will be taken and strategic developments will need to facilitate temporary waste facilities to 
maximise the reuse, recovery and recycling of inert and sustainable construction waste throughout 
the development period.  Where inert waste cannot be recycled it will be used in a positive manner 
to restore sites.  The natural and built historic environment will continue to be protected with an 
increased emphasis on operational practices which contribute towards climate change and 
minimise the impact of such development on local communities. (Policy CS2 sets out a list of 
strategic objectives to support this vision; those of relevance will be discussed in the body of the 
report).

MW14 - The Scale of Waste Management Provision 
Sets out the amounts of waste provision and timescales for the various types of waste 
management facility to be provided for by the Waste Planning Authority by 2026.

MW15 - The Location of Future Waste Management Facilities 
A network of waste management facilities will be developed across Cambridgeshire and 
Peterborough.  The spatial distribution of the network will be guided by various economic and 
environmental factors (the relevant details of which will be discussed in the main body of the 
report).

MW19 - The Location of Hazardous Waste Facilities - Resource Recovery and Landfill 
Where there is a demonstrated need for additional stable non reactive hazardous waste landfill 
capacity (to that allocated at Addenbrookes Hospital) provision will be made within existing landfill 
sites.  Where there is a demonstrated need for additional hazardous waste sites proposals will be 
considered in the context of the development plan.

3

37



MW20 - Inert Landfill 
Strategic allocation is made at Block Fen/Langwood Fen Area of Search.

Sites to deliver the remaining 3.69 million cubic metres capacity will be made at mineral extraction 
sites requiring restoration and identified in the Site Specific Proposals Plan.

MW21 - Non-hazardous Landfill 
Planning permission for additional non-hazardous landfill will not be granted unless one or more of 
the listed criteria is demonstrated.

MW22 - Climate Change 
Minerals and waste proposals will need to take account of climate change over the lifetime of the 
development, setting out how this will be achieved.  Proposals will need to adopt emissions 
reduction measures and will need to set out how they will be resilient to climate change.  
Restoration schemes which contribute to climate change adaption will be encouraged.

MW23 - Sustainable Transport of Minerals and Waste 
Sustainable transport of minerals and waste will be encouraged and new and enhanced facilities to 
enable this will be encouraged.  Transport Zones and Transport Safeguarding Areas will be 
defined and designated in the Site Specific Proposals Plan.  There will be a presumption against 
development which could prejudice a protected area for transport of minerals and/or waste.

MW24 - Design of Sustainable Minerals and Waste Management Facilities 
All proposals for minerals and waste management development must achieve a high standard in 
design and environmental mitigation.  Waste Management proposals must be consistent with 
guidance set out in The Location and Design of Waste Management Facilities SPD.

MW25 - Restoration and Aftercare of Mineral and Waste Management Sites 
Minerals workings and waste management sites will be restored to a beneficial after use with 
aftercare arrangements.  Restoration proposals will be considered on a site by site basis but must 
meet the criteria set out in the policy.

MW29 - The Need for Waste Management Development and the Movement of Waste 
Proposals for new or extended waste management development will be permitted where they meet 
a demonstrated need within Cambridgeshire and Peterborough. Applicants will be required to enter 
into binding restrictions on catchment area, tonnages and/or types of waste. Permission may be 
granted for development involving importation of waste from outside the Plan area where it is 
demonstrated it is sustainable.

MW32 - Traffic and Highways 
Minerals and Waste development will only be permitted where it meets the criteria set out in this 
policy.

MW33 - Protection of Landscape Character 
Minerals and Waste development will only be permitted where it can be assimilated into the local 
landscape character in accordance with the Cambridgeshire Landscape Guidelines, local 
Landscape Character Assessments and related SPDs.

MW34 - Protecting Surrounding Uses 
Mineral and waste management development will only be permitted where it can be demonstrated 
(with mitigation where necessary) there is no significant harm to the environment, human health or 
safety, existing or proposed neighbouring land uses, visual intrusion or loss of residential/other 
amenity.

MW35 - Biodiversity and Geodiversity 
Mineral and waste management development will only be permitted where there will likely be no 

4

38



significant adverse effect on local nature conservation or geological interest.  Where it is 
demonstrated there are overriding benefits to the development compensation and/or mitigation 
measures must be put in place.  Proposals for new habitat creation must have regard to the 
Peterborough Biodiversity Action Plan and supporting Habitat and Species Action Plans.

MW37 - Public Rights of Way 
Minerals and waste development will only be permitted where permanent or temporary diversions 
of public rights of way are adversely affected if appropriate alternatives are provided.  Proposals 
should, where practicable, provide for the enhancement of public rights of way.

MW38 - Sustainable Use of Soils 
Mineral and Waste development which affects the best and most versatile agricultural land will only 
be permitted where it meets the criteria set out in this policy.

MW39 - Water Resources and Water Pollution Prevention 
Mineral and waste management development will only be permitted where it is demonstrated there 
is no significant adverse impact or risk to;

a. Quantity or quality of groundwater/water resources
b. Quantity or quality of water enjoyed by current abstractors unless alternative provision is made
c. Flow of groundwater in or near the site

Adequate water pollution control measures will need to be incorporated.

MW46 - Mining of Landfill Waste 
Mining or excavation of landfill waste will only be considered in exceptional circumstances where it 
is demonstrated that it clearly meets the criteria set out in this policy and that the waste can be 
handled and removed if necessary without posing additional risk to human health or the 
environment.

4 Consultations/Representations

PCC Pollution Team (28.04.15)
The noise limits associated with the 12/00463/MMFUL permission are acceptable for this 
application, as are the existing restrictions on operation hours and vehicle reversing alarms. 
Suitable dust and odour control measures are outlined and should be controlled by condition. 
Lighting should be controlled by condition. It is highlighted that the permitting regime is concerned 
with preventing pollution and the planning system controls the development and use of land in the 
public interest - this should be a consideration in light of the rationale for the application.

PCC Transport & Engineering Services (13.03.15)
Clarification required as to whether the proposed trips are in addition to, or replacing, the existing 
vehicle trips (the proposal will result in a reduction in trips in comparison with what has been 
previously approved).

Archaeological Officer (09.03.15)
No objections. No archaeological implications.

Landscape Architect (Amey) (07.03.15)
The additional (4m) contours proposed at the north east of the site are considered to add bulk to 
an inappropriate shape and are not supported in principle, and have not been clearly justified - 
however the LVIA is correct that the impacts of this will be very limited, and the proposed changes 
are insufficient to justify an objection. Blackthorn should be included in the planting mix on plan 
TLS6.

PCC Conservation Officer (11.03.15)
No objections. The resultant landfilling at Cook's Hole would not provide an unsatisfactory setting 

5

39



for the grade 2 listed Cook's Hole Farmhouse.

PCC Tree Officer (12.03.15)
No objections. The planting details on plan TSL6 (the Phased Restoration Scheme), and the 
Aftercare scheme at Volume 1 Annex 5 are acceptable. A condition should be applied to ensure 
planting replacements where required.

PCC Wildlife Officer (02.03.15)
No objections. The impacts on Little Ringed Plover (protected species) have been identified and 
adequately addressed, and the approved Ecological Management Plan is appropriate. The 
proposed minor amendments to the restoration contours do not detract from the proposed 
biodiversity enhancements.

English Heritage (05.03.15)
No comments. The application should be determined in accordance with national and local policy 
guidance.

Natural England - Consultation Service (11.03.15)
No objections. No adverse impact on Bedford Purlieus SSSI, or protected species within 
Thornhaugh I (Great Crested Newts have been successfully translocated under licence). The 
proposed nature conservation end use has the potential for significant biodiversity gains in the long 
term.

Environment Agency (20.03.15)
No objections subject to the mitigation measures outlined in the FRA being secured by condition.

Ramblers (Central Office) (26.02.15)
No comments or objections.

National Planning Casework Unit (02.03.15)
No comments.

Local Residents/Interested Parties 

Initial consultations: 36
Total number of responses: 1
Total number of objections: 1
Total number in support: 0

Wansford PC - 09/04/2015
Wansford Parish Council are impressed by the technical quality of the submission. The main issue 
for Wansford is noise from the workings at Cook's Hole and Thornhaugh II, particularly from 
hydraulic breakers - noise is at an acceptable level and within agreed criteria levels.

Re. dated - 16/03/2015
A time extension for operations is unacceptable, as it probably would not have been accepted as 
part of the original proposals. Noise and pollution, health and amenity concerns.

5 Assessment of the planning issues

Policies quoted below are from the Cambridgeshire and Peterborough Minerals and Waste Core 
Strategy DPD unless otherwise stated.

The main considerations are:

1. The principle of development
The principle of development is clearly in accordance with policy SSP W4 of the Cambridgeshire 

6

40



and Peterborough Minerals and Waste Site Specific DPD (Site Specific DPD) which allocates the 
site for SNRHW and complementary non-hazardous land fill; the proposals ensure the long term 
availability of the facility.

The principle of development is assessed primarily against policy CS46 Mining of Landfill Waste. 
This activity can only be considered favourably in a number of exceptional circumstances; in this 
instance where it is demonstrated clearly that without mining or excavation or waste the site is 
posing an unacceptable risk to human health or safety or to the environment. The previous 
permission allowed for the over-filling of waste in phases 1 and 2, subject to a suitable scheme 
being demonstrably suitable to the Environment Agency. Whilst it would appear technically feasible 
to undertake overfilling, the excavation of old waste allows for the phases to be engineered to 
modern containment standards, securing the long term containment of wastes and removing the 
pollution risk. The excavated waste will be re-deposited within the site within contained, engineered 
cells.

The proposed mining of landfill waste provides a safe method of continuing provision of landfill for 
stable non-reactive hazardous waste (SNRHW) and non-hazardous waste in accordance with 
polices CS2, CS14, CS19, CS21 and CS29, which are concerned with the principles of waste 
management, the scale of waste management provision, the location of hazardous waste facilities 
and delivery of SNRHW sites, the need for complementary landfill and proper landfill engineering 
and the movement and importation of waste. In principle the development accords with all these 
policies; some of which require detailed issues to be taken into account. These issues are 
considered below.

2. Transport and Public Rights of Way
Policies CS15, CS32 and CS37 of the MW Core Strategy are relevant together with some of the 
implementation issues attached to policy SSP WS4 of the Site Specific DPD.  The applicant has 
submitted a Transport Assessment (TA) as part of the ES.  The application proposes to use the 
existing Thornhaugh I vehicular access which has also been permitted as the vehicular access to 
the adjacent Cook's Hole site.  In terms of HGV movements the assessment sets out the following 
worst case scenario (when clay imports from East Northants Resource Management Facility at 
King's Cliffe) will be at their peak (i.e. 2018):

Waste imports = 21 in and 21 out per day = 42 movements
Clay imports = 23 in and 23 out per day = 46 movements
Soil imports_ 2 in and 2 out per day _ 4 movements
Cook's Hole traffic = 70 in and 70 out per day =140 movements
Export of recycled CDE waste = 2 in and 2 out per day = 4 movements

TOTAL = 118 HGVs visiting the site = 236 lorry movements

The above represents the worst case daily lorry movements for all HGV movements required for all 
waste movement associated with Thornhaugh I (the proposed site) and Cook's Hole extraction, 
and represents a reduction of 46 HGV movements per day in comparison to the currently approved 
scheme.

The submitted TA concludes that the current vehicular access to Thornhaugh I is suitable to take 
this amount of traffic (plus the nominal car movements associated with staff) and that the A47 has 
and will have capacity in the future years to accommodate this traffic.  As can be seen the amount 
of HGV traffic generated by the inert recycling operation is a relatively small part of the overall 
proposed HGV movement to and from the site.  The TA has been assessed by the Highway 
Authority (PCC) who raise no objections; it has been clarified that the proposed clay imports will 
replace the trips associated with the previous permission which will be relevant only to completed 
phases 3, 5 and 6, and the temporary stockpile within the Cook's Hole part of the site.

The question of whether a second vehicular access to Cook's Hole should be opened onto the A47 
was considered when the recent application to review conditions attached to the minerals 

7

41



permission at Cook's Hole was determined.  It was considered that there were no significant 
highway or amenity reasons to open up a second access and this remains the case.  It is 
considered that the application complies with the above policies and that in particular those criteria 
attached to policy SSP WS4 relating to access and traffic increase have been demonstrated to be 
acceptable.  The issue of noise generated by traffic is considered to be low.

Public Rights of Way
The proposal will not affect the current situation on the ground regarding footpaths within the site 
with the exception of Thornhaugh footpath 2 which crosses Cook's Hole and runs through the 
temporary stockpile area.  A temporary footpath diversion order has already been approved and 
the footpath diversion is already in place.  Additional suitable diversions are already in place to 
enable public access from the A47 across to the Old Oundle Road which runs along the edge of 
Bedford Purlieus and the western edge of Thornhaugh I and Cook's Hole. The proposed temporary 
diversion of the access road to Cook's Hole requires a suitable crossing point which can be 
controlled by condition. The restoration scheme proposes that the original routes of public 
footpaths will be reinstated together with new footpaths to link around the perimeter of Thornhaugh 
I, as per the currently approved scheme. The proposal is in accordance with policy CS37 of the 
MW Core Strategy.

3. Noise and Vibration - residential amenity
The relevant policy is CS34 of the Core Strategy. In addition the Technical Guidance to the NPPF 
gives advice about acceptable noise limits and the approach to dealing with noise at mineral sites.  
This guidance could also be applied in this instance.  

The applicant has submitted a noise assessment based on noise monitoring undertaken at the 
nearest noise sensitive locations (residential properties).  These comprise Home Farm House, 
Leedsgate Farm, Nightingale Farm, Sibberton Lodge, Owl Corner Cottage and Oaks Wood 
Cottage. In addition to the previously consented activities at Thornhaugh I and Cook's Hole, the 
noise assessment takes account of the excavation of waste from phases 1 and 2, the relocation of 
the gas flare and additional (internal) transport of material to Cook's Hole.  Taking the measured 
background levels into account the applicant has suggested that maximum noise level standards 
be set for each of these properties. The operational activities remain below noise level limits 
already agreed at the nearest noise sensitive properties under the extant planning permission for 
Thornhaugh I.  The proposed working hours at the site are the same as at present i.e. 0700 - 1800 
Mondays to Fridays and 0700 to 1300 on Saturdays, no working on Sundays or Bank Holidays.  It 
is also noted that phases 3 and 6 are restored and phase 5 is completed and these areas are 
located between the nearest residential properties and those areas of the site to be worked.

The Pollution Control Officer has raised no objection to the proposal on grounds of noise but has 
advised that the existing restrictions on noise limits, operating hours and vehicle reversing alarms 
are be attached to any permission granted. The proposals are therefore in accordance with policy 
CS34.

4. Air Quality
The relevant policies are CS22, CS34 and CS46 of the Core Strategy.  The main impacts 
associated with landfill sites are odour and dust, particularly in the case of landfill mining.  
Receptors include nearby residential properties and the natural environment, in this case 
particularly Bedford Purlieus SSSI and the County Wildlife Site within the site boundary.    

The applicant proposes to continue with the current on site dust and odour mitigation, and outlines 
additional mitigation measures specific to the excavation of waste.  Dust measures include but are 
not limited to sheeting lorries, keeping soil handling to a minimum, limiting heights of CDE material 
awaiting processing or of finished products to 3 metres or less and sealing soil storage mounds 
(planting them) and using water sprays where necessary.  Odour reduction measures include 
minimising the active tipping area as far as possible, covering waste as soon as possible, capping 
completed areas as soon as possible and banning very odorous waste from the site.  Additional 
measures in relation to the excavation of waste include the cessation of operations if necessary to 

8

42



resolve the issue. With regard to the control of dust, air quality and odour issues there is overlap 
between the enforcement and monitoring functions of the Local Planning Authority and the 
Environment Agency.  The site is also subject to an Odour Management Plan required to comply 
with Environmental Permit conditions. As there is a potential gap in the monitoring that will be 
undertaken by the EA, it is proposed to apply a condition which ensures the dust measures 
mentioned within the submission are implemented.  

The Pollution Control Officer highlights that the planning system should focus on whether the 
development itself is an acceptable use of the land, and work on the assumption that the relevant 
pollution control regime will be properly applied and enforced. As such, the proposals are in 
accordance with policies CS34 and CS46.

With regard to climate change, the proposal does not quantify how much carbon dioxide will be 
produced or saved through efficient measures adopted at the site.  Given the nature of the 
development this is difficult to quantify and there are limitations for creating reductions as most of 
the carbon created will come from the HGV movements at the site and the operation of plant and 
machinery.  The applicant has considered the use of landfill gas to generate renewable power but 
largely due to the nature of the waste being tipped a gas engine scheme is not viable.  The location 
of the site for disposing of SNRHW was considered through the Core Strategy and Site Specific 
DPD processes and was considered acceptable.  

The restoration of the site to a mainly nature conservation use will help to enhance biodiversity and 
tree planting, although several years away will help to offset carbon emissions.  In terms of policy 
CS22 the proposal is considered to be acceptable.

5. Landscape and Visual Effects
A Landscape and Visual Impact Assessment (LVIA) has been submitted as part of the application.  
This assessment has been undertaken in accordance with industry guidelines and best practice, 
assessing the landscape characteristics of the area and the potential visual impact of the proposal 
from various viewpoints located around the site.  Impacts are assessed both during and post the 
site operations, when the site is restored to nature conservation. 
 
The relevant policies CS25, CS33 and CS34 of the Core Strategy.  These policies require that the 
landscape character of the area be taken into account, that development is assimilated into its 
surroundings and where there is an impact provide suitable mitigation. There will be some impact 
during the operational phases of the development; this is inevitable with a landfill site. This is 
mainly limited to views from public vantage points, including public footpaths.  It is not considered 
that there will be any significant visual impact with regards to residential amenity as the site is 
buffered by the restored areas of the site from the nearest residential properties.

The previously approved restoration scheme included a "domed" restoration of the site; this profile 
was acceptable. The proposal includes a marginal raising of the final contours to the northeast of 
the site, although it is noted that there is no increase to the previously approved maximum 
contours. Whilst this is not supported in principle by the Landscape Architect, neither does it 
represent sufficient grounds for an objection to be sustained. The proposed restoration scheme is 
otherwise unchanged from that previously approved; it would create an overall domed profile to the 
site; provide for widespread planting across the site to create a restoration scheme to a biodiversity 
after use; include improved public access via new footpaths.  

It is considered that the final restoration scheme will enhance the appearance of the area.  The 
final restoration contours are not of greater height than previously approved, other than the 
marginal increase at the northwest of the site.  The Council's Tree Officer has raised no objections 
subject to replacement planting being required by condition. 

The proposal is in accordance with the above policies subject to the imposition of conditions 
requiring restoration to be completed in accordance with the submitted scheme and the 
requirement for a detailed landscape scheme to be submitted and implemented once restoration is 

9

43



complete.

6. Impact on the Natural Environment
With regard to designated sites, Thornhaugh I is adjacent to Bedford Purlieus Site of Special 
Scientific Interest (SSSI) and there are other SSSIs within the locality.  The site contains a County 
Wildlife Site (CWS) located to the southwest corner which serves as a habitat for Great Crested 
Newt (GCN).  Policies CS25 and CS35 of the MW Core Strategy are relevant.  The Council has a 
statutory duty which flows from the EU Habitats and Birds Directives to take protection of certain 
mammals, birds and flora into account together with their habitats.  The statutory consultee on 
such matters is Natural England (NE).  The CWS will be retained as part of the application and 
managed by the applicant.

The ES contains chapters on ecological assessment which must be read in conjunction with other 
relevant issues such as hydrology.  The submission concludes that the site is not important for 
protected species with the exception of the Little Ringed Plover which is a Schedule 1 (highest 
protection) breeding bird on the site.  There is also potential for red kite activity.  Great Crested 
Newts (and other newts) are present on site within the CWS. A new pond is proposed (within 
Phase 4 'the Bradshaw Land') as part of the restoration scheme and in general the site is to be 
restored to nature conservation. The previously approved Ecological Management Plan will still be 
applicable and the effects on Little Ringed Plover are adequately addressed.

Natural England, the Wildlife Trust and the Council's ecologist have all supported the restoration of 
the site back to nature conservation. Natural England note that the GCN have been successfully 
translocated to the CWS and that the GCN population is not expected to be at risk from operational 
impacts of the proposed scheme.

The proposal represents an ideal opportunity to improve the biodiversity of the area, especially as 
it is adjacent to Bedford Purlieus and will make a contribution towards achieving the Biodiversity 
Action Plan (BAP) targets as required by Core Strategy policy CS35.  The mitigation and 
management of GCNs, Little Ringed Plover and habitats as identified in principle is acceptable and 
will be secured by conditions requiring an Environmental Management Plan.

7. Groundwater, surface water and drainage 
The relevant policies are CS21, CS22 and CS39 of the MW Core Strategy.  As part of the ES, the 
applicant has submitted an assessment of the regional significance of groundwater, a flood risk 
assessment and a Surface Water Management Plan.  A Hydrogeological Risk Assessment (HRA) 
has been prepared in accordance with Environment Agency policy and guidance, and 
demonstrates that the site is suitable for the disposal of non-hazardous waste without resulting in 
an unacceptable impact on water resources, furthermore it is demonstrably preferable for phases 1 
and 2 to be excavated and refilled using a modern containment landfill engineered solution rather 
than to over tip the phases as previously approved.

The site lies within Flood Zone 1 which has a low risk of flooding from fluvial sources or from 
groundwater. The existing perimeter drainage ditches at the site will be revised but surface water 
run off will still be directed to the existing attenuation lagoon located in the north east corner of the 
site. Rainfall during the fill operations will not run off because the waste is permeable - it will be 
collected and dealt with in the leachate treatment systems located at the bottom of the cells which 
are monitored by the EA.  No surface water will run into the GCN ponds except for a 1 in 50 year 
flood event.  Contaminated water will not be able to enter the CWS or the new newt ponds as 
proposed.  Rainfall will not enter capped cells (as the clay and cover will be impermeable) but will 
run off and be directed to the drainage ditches.  The EA has not raised objections regarding flood 
risk, and has requested that the mitigation measures outlined in the Surface Water Management 
Plan are controlled by condition. It is considered that the application is in compliance with the 
above policies subject to adherence to the submitted schemes being conditioned as part of any 
permission granted. 

8. Cumulative impact

10

44



The Town and Country Planning (Environmental Impact Assessment Regulations) 2011 require 
that applicants consider the cumulative impact of the various aspects of their proposal in 
combination with one another and in combination with other existing or known projects within the 
vicinity.  The applicant has considered such impacts within each chapter of the Environmental 
Statement (ES).  

As mentioned above, the cumulative impact of traffic travelling to the site in combination with that 
approved for the mineral workings at Cook's Hole has been undertaken and found to be 
satisfactory.  

The ES has identified no cumulative impacts in terms of other topic areas that would result in 
unacceptable impacts on the surrounding area.  Of note, there is an extant permission to use part 
of the Cook's Hole site to temporarily store soils removed from phase 7, and a separate application 
to use mineral wastes from Thornhaugh I to raise the restored contours of the northern section of 
Cook's Hole closer to original ground level. If there are any overlaps between operations on either 
site, the developer will need to ensure that this either complies with the conditions imposed or will 
need to make an application for variations in conditions as needs be.  

It is considered that there are no cumulative impacts which warrant the refusal of the application. 

9. Other Issues 
Cultural Heritage (historic environment)
The ES identifies that there are listed buildings within the vicinity of the site, namely Home Farm 
House and outbuildings (Grade II listed) - 75 metres to the north of the A47; Cook's Hole Farm 
(Grade II listed) located to the centre of Cook's Hole; and Sibberton Lodge and outbuildings (Grade 
II listed) located approximately 1km to the east of the site.  There are four Scheduled Monuments - 
two at Wansford and two at Sutton Heath, the nearest of which is Wansford Bridge located 1.8km 
to the south east of the site.

The proposed development is well screened from Home Farm House and Sibberton Lodge, both 
lying on the other side of the A47.  Cook's Hole Farm is set to the centre of Cook's Hole site which 
has planning permission for mineral extraction.  It is considered that the impact upon the historic 
environment is therefore very limited/negligible and that the proposal complies with policy CS36 of 
the MW Core Strategy.

Contaminated Land
Land filling inevitably has the potential to cause contamination of land.  Modern land fill sites are 
heavily regulated and matters relating to pollution control are required to be dealt with under the 
permitting scheme for which the responsible authority is the Environment Agency.  Issues relating 
to the potential for pollutants to escape from the site either through the ground, water or the air will 
be controlled and monitored under the permit that will be required if planning permission is granted. 
There is no need and indeed Government advice contained within the NPPF advises Local 
Planning Authorities not to duplicate separate regulations and that the ability of other agencies to 
control such issues must be taken as read.  

6 Conclusions

The NPPF states that there is a presumption in favour of sustainable development - in terms of 
decision taking this means approving development proposals that accord with the development 
plan without delay.  The principle of development is clearly in accordance with policy SSP W4 of 
the Cambridgeshire and Peterborough Minerals and Waste Site Specific DPD (Site Specific DPD) 
which allocates the site for SNRHW and complementary non-hazardous land fill.  The proposal 
also seeks to provide an appropriate long term solution to the potential pollution risks of over 
tipping phases 1 and 2 through their excavation and re-engineering into a modern contained landfill 
design and is in accordance with policy CS46.

The proposal also includes recycling of inert waste (from within the site and imported) for use on 

11

45



the site or for sale off site.  The site is not allocated for inert waste recycling but the proposal 
complies with policies CS14 and CS15 of the Cambridgeshire and Peterborough Minerals and 
Waste Core Strategy DPD (the Core Strategy) with regards to the need and location of waste 
management facilities.  The additional component parts of the application, namely the retention of 
the gas flare and time extension to the completion of landfilling operations are considered 
acceptable in light of the requirements to secure the long term pollution prevention measures at the 
site as represented by the re-engineering of phases 1 and 2.

An Environmental Statement accompanies the application which is considered comprehensive and 
meets the requirements set out in the Town and Country Planning (Environmental Impact 
Assessment) Regulations 2011.  Detailed topic areas have been assessed/considered:- 

With regard to transport and public rights of way the proposal is in compliance with policies CS15, 
CS32 and CS37 of the Core Strategy and the implementation issues attached to policy WS4 of the 
Site Specific DPD.  

Noise and vibration has been assessed and the proposal is in compliance with policies CS32 and 
CS 34 of the Core Strategy.  

Air Quality and climate change issues are in compliance with policies CS22 and CS34 of the Core 
Strategy. 

The landscape and visual impacts of the proposal are in compliance with policies CS20, CS25, 
CS33 and CS 34 of the Core Strategy,  

The site contains a population of Great Crested Newts protected under European law, habitat for 
Little Ringed Plovers and a County Wildlife site.  These matters have been carefully considered (no 
objections raised by Natural England) and are in compliance with policies CS25 and CS35 of the 
Core Strategy. 

Issues related to groundwater, surface water and drainage are considered acceptable (the 
Environment Agency raises no objections subject to conditions) and are in compliance with policies 
CS21, CS22 and CS39 of the Core Strategy.  

Other matters have been assessed including cultural heritage, contaminated land, socio economic 
impacts, risk of accidents and airport safeguarding and are considered acceptable and in 
compliance with development plan policy.  

The cumulative impact of this development with that of the neighbouring site Cook's Hole has also 
been taken into account.  

Comments of consultees have been taken into account and suitable conditions will be attached 
which address any issues raised.  The comments of neighbours have been taken into account, but 
given that the site is allocated for waste development and in all other respects the proposal is 
acceptable, there is no reason not to approve the application in line with Section 38(6) of the 
Planning and Compensation Act.

7 Recommendation

The Director of Growth and Regeneration recommends that Planning Permission is GRANTED 
subject to the following conditions:

C 1 The development hereby permitted shall be begun before the expiration of three years from 
the date of this permission.

12

46



Reason: In accordance with Section 91 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 (as 
amended).

 

C 2 The development hereby permitted shall be carried out in complete accordance with the 
submitted and approved documents and plans:

Environmental Statement dated February 2015
Site Locations ref. TCH1 dated 12/14
Application Boundary ref. TLS1 dated 12/14
Indicative Compound Details ref. TLS3 dated 12/14
Gas Flare Plant Layout ref. TLS4 dated 12/14
Pre-Settlement Contours ref. TLS5 dated 12/14
Phased Restoration Scheme ref. TLS6 received 12/02/2015
Cross Sections ref. TLS7 dated 12/14
Phasing Plans Stages 1- 15 ref. AU/TH/12-14/18372 through 18386 all dated 24/12/2014
Public Rights of Way ref. TCH4 dated 12/14
Cook's Hole Access Road Diversion ref. TCH6 dated 12/14

Reason: To clarify what is hereby approved.
 

C 3 Advance notification shall be provided to the Local Planning Authority advising of the date 
the development will commenced, within 28 days of commencement taking place.

Reason: Due to the extant permission and current operations on site, the date of 
commencement may not be readily apparent. It is in the proper planning interests of the 
area that the Local Planning Authority can both ensure that development is taking place in 
accordance with the permission hereby granted and to agree a proper monitoring regime 
for the site with the developer.

 

C 4 Development shall be carried out in accordance with the phasing plans;
Stage 1ref. AU/TH/12-14/18372 dated 24/12/2014
Stage 2 ref. AU/TH/12-14/18373 dated 24/12/2014
Stage 3 ref. AU/TH/12-14/18374 dated 24/12/2014
Stage 4 ref. AU/TH/12-14/18375 dated 24/12/2014
Stage 5 ref. AU/TH/12-14/18376 dated 24/12/2014
Stage 6 ref. AU/TH/12-14/18377 dated 24/12/2014
Stage 7 ref. AU/TH/12-14/18378 dated 24/12/2014
Stage 8 ref. AU/TH/12-14/18379 dated 24/12/2014
Stage 9 ref. AU/TH/12-14/18380 dated 24/12/2014
Stage 10 ref. AU/TH/12-14/18381 dated 24/12/2014
Stage 11 ref. AU/TH/12-14/18382 dated 24/12/2014
Stage 12 ref. AU/TH/12-14/18383 dated 24/12/2014
Stage 13 ref. AU/TH/12-14/18384 dated 24/12/2014
Stage 14 ref. AU/TH/12-14/18385 dated 24/12/2014
Stage 15 ref. AU/TH/12-14/18386 dated 24/12/2014
Each phase shall be restored within one year of the landfill operations within that phase 
being completed.

The landfill of the site shall be completed by 31 December 2034 and restoration of the site 
shall be completed no later than 31 December 2035.

Reason: To ensure that the site is restored in a timely manner and to reduce the visual 
impact of the landfill operations as development progresses in accordance with 
Cambridgeshire and Peterborough Minerals and waste Core Strategy policy CS25.

13

47



 

C 5 The development hereby approved shall be carried out in complete accordance with the 
Landscaping Scheme as set out on the Phased Restoration Scheme drawing ref. TLS6, 
with each phase to be landscaped within 12 months of restoration being completed.

Reason: To ensure that visual appearance of the site and the proposed biodiversity 
enhancements are created as early as possible in accordance with Cambridgeshire and 
Peterborough Minerals and Waste Core Strategy policies CS25 and CS33.

 

C 6 The development hereby approved shall be carried out in complete accordance with the 
details of the Ecological Management Plan dated April 2013 included at Annex 7 of the 
Environmental Statement.

Reason: To ensure that the natural environment is protected, managed and any loss 
mitigated against during the operational phases of the site in accordance with 
Cambridgeshire and Peterborough Minerals and Waste Core Strategy policies CS34 and 
CS35.

 

C 7 The development hereby approved shall be carried out incomplete accordance with the 
Lighting Scheme dated April 2013 as set out in Annexe 4 of the Environmental Statement.

Reason: In order to protect the amenity of nearby residents and to reduce light pollution in a 
predominantly rural environment in accordance with Cambridgeshire and Peterborough 
Minerals and Waste Core Strategy policy CS34.

 

C 8 The development hereby approved shall be carried out in complete accordance with the 
mitigation measures outlined in Section 7 of the Environmental Statement dated February 
2015 and the Dust and Odour Control Scheme dated April 2013 as set out in Annexe 3 of 
the Environmental Statement.

Reason:  In the interests of protecting nearby residential properties and users of public 
rights of way from dust and odour in accordance with Cambridgeshire and Peterborough 
Minerals and Waste Core Strategy policy CS34.

 

C 9 The development hereby approved shall be carried out in complete accordance with the 
Flood Risk Assessment (FRA) (MJCA, ref AU/TH/JRC/2826/01 FRA, dated December 
2014) and the following mitigation measure detailed within it:
- Implementing and maintaining the surface water drainage system as per Thornhaugh 
Surface water Management Plan (Egniol Ltd, January 2006).
The mitigation measure shall be fully implemented prior to development and subsequently 
in accordance with the timing / phasing arrangements embodied within the scheme.

Reason: To prevent flooding by ensuring the satisfactory storage of/disposal of surface 
water from the site.

 
C10 Unless required for continued environmental monitoring purposes, all buildings, plant and 

machinery and hard surfacing ("the site infrastructure") shall be permanently removed from 
the site within 6 months of the final landscaping taking place. Should any site infrastructure 
be required to be retained for environmental monitoring purposes beyond this date, a 
plan/scheme shall first be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning 

14

48



Authority which identifies the retained infrastructure and the length of time it is to remain on 
site. The site infrastructure shall thereafter be retained and removed from the site in 
accordance with the approved plan/scheme.

Reason: In the interest of achieving a proper restoration of the site to nature conservation  
and in the interest of the long term visual appearance of the site in accordance with 
Cambridgeshire and Peterborough Minerals and Waste Core Strategy policies CS25, CS33 
and CS34.

C11 The development hereby approved shall be carried out in complete accordance with the 
Aftercare/Ecological Management Plan dated February 2014 in Annex 5 of the 
Environmental Statement.

The approved aftercare/ecological management plan shall be implemented in full up to a 
period of 10 years following completion of the approved landscaping scheme to the last 
phase of the development.  Should the Local Planning Authority request details of any 
monitoring or reports undertaken as part of the approved scheme, they shall be provided 
within 7 days of a written request having been received by the applicant/developer.

Reason:  To ensure that the site is brought back in a beneficial use, in this case nature 
conservation, and to ensure that the proposed landscaping and biodiversity enhancements 
are properly managed and have the maximum opportunity to become established in 
accordance with Cambridgeshire and Peterborough Minerals and Waste Core Strategy 
policies CS25, CS33 and CS35.

 

C12 Any trees, shrubs or hedges forming part of the approved landscaping scheme that die, are 
removed or become diseased within five years of the implementation of the landscaping 
scheme shall be replaced during the next available planting season by the developers, or 
their successors in title with an equivalent size, number and species to those being 
replaced. Any replacement trees, shrubs or hedgerows dying within five years of planting 
shall themselves be replaced with an equivalent size, number and species. 

Reason: In the interests of appropriate site restoration and visual amenity in accordance 
with Cambridgeshire and Peterborough Minerals and Waste Core Strategy policy CS25.

 

C13 The site shall be accessed by vehicles by the single point of access off the A47 only, as 
shown on approved drawing TLS1

Reason: In the interests of highway safety in accordance with Cambridgeshire and 
Peterborough Minerals and Waste Core Strategy policy CS32.

 

C14 Wheel cleaning facilities shall be retained on site in a location adjacent to the hard surfaced 
access into the site. Should the wheel cleaning facility break down, temporary wheel 
cleaning measures shall be deployed until the permanent wheel cleaning facility is 
operable. The wheel cleaning facility shall remain in use on site until the final landscaping 
has been completed. 

Reason: In the interest of highway safety and dust minimisation in accordance with 
Cambridgeshire and Peterborough Minerals and Waste Core Strategy policies CS32 and 
CS34.

15

49



 

C15 Prior to the commencement of each phase of the operation or restoration, adequate space 
shall be provided within the site for the parking, turning, loading and unloading of all 
vehicles associated with that phase of the operation, restoration or recycling activities and 
this space shall be kept available for such purposes for the duration of that phase of the 
landfill operation, restoration or recycling activity.

Reason: In the interest of highway safety and free flow of traffic on the A47 in accordance 
with Cambridgeshire and Peterborough Minerals and Waste Core Strategy policy CS32.

 

C16 Except for temporary operations the rating level of noise emitted from the site shall not 
exceed the specified noise criteria levels (measured as LAeq, 1 Hour (free field) during 
working hours as set out below. 

Location                           Site Noise Limits
Home Farm House 55   
Leedsgate Farm 50   
Nightingale Farm (Mon-Friday) 50   
Nightingale Farm (Saturday) 46   
Sibberton Lodge 51   
Oaks Wood Cottage 55   
Toll Cottage 55

At the locations listed above, the noise emitted from the site shall not exceed 42dB LAeq, 
5mins (free field) at any other time.

The noise levels shall be determined at the nearest noise sensitive properties as listed 
above. Measurements taken to verify compliance shall have regard to the effects of 
extraneous noise and shall be corrected for such effects. 

The development hereby approved shall be carried out in complete accordance with the 
Noise Monitoring Scheme dated April 2013 as set out at Annexe 6 of the Environmental 
Statement.

Within two months of the commencement of development a noise monitoring scheme shall 
be submitted to and agreed in writing by the Local Planning Authority. Noise monitoring 
shall thereafter be undertaken in complete accordance with the approved scheme.

Reason: In the interests of the amenity of the nearest residential occupiers in accordance 
with Cambridgeshire and Peterborough Minerals and Waste Core Strategy policy CS34.

 

C17 For temporary operations such as site preparation, soil stripping and replacement and 
screen bund formation and removal, the free field noise level due to operations determined 
at the nearest noise sensitive dwellings (as listed in condition 16) shall not exceed 70dB 
LAeq, 1 hour (free field). Temporary operations shall not take place for more than eight 
weeks in any calendar year.

Reason: In the interests of the amenity of the nearest residential occupiers in accordance 
with the Cambridgeshire and Peterborough Minerals and Waste Core Strategy policy CS34.

 

C18 No reversing alarms shall be used except "quieter option" alarms, such as adjustable or 
broadband "white noise" systems.

16

50



Reason: In the interests of the amenity of the nearest residential occupiers in accordance 
with Cambridgeshire and Peterborough Minerals and Waste Core Strategy policy CS34.

 

C19 No operations, including the working of any plant or machinery, transport of excavated 
materials, delivery of infill materials and restoration shall be undertaken outside the hours 
of;
0700 to 1800 on Mondays to Fridays
0700 to 1300 on Saturdays. 
No operations other than environmental monitoring shall be undertaken outside these 
hours. 

Reason: In the interests of the amenity of the nearest residential occupiers in accordance 
with Cambridgeshire and Peterborough Minerals and Waste Core Strategy policy CS34.

 

C20 Only inert construction and demolition waste types shall be processed through the recycling 
operation.

Reason: Because the scheme for recycling that has been submitted is limited to the 
consideration of recycling inert waste only.

 

C21 The recycling, processing and stockpiling of materials awaiting processing and finished 
materials for sale will be confined to the area shaded on the approved drawing SES 2.3 but 
notwithstanding this no stockpiles (both received and processed material) shall be stored 
below the water table or in areas susceptible to flooding. The stockpiles shall not exceed 
the pre-settlement levels shown on Figure TLS5 by more than 3 metres and each stockpile 
shall not exceed an overall height of 5 metres. 

Reason: In the interests of minimising the visual appearance of the stockpiles and  
minimising the risk of flooding and pollution in accordance with Cambridgeshire and 
Peterborough Minerals and Waste Core Strategy policies CS34 and CS39.

 

C22 The footpaths shall be reinstated and provided in complete accordance with the details 
shown on drawing TLS6 within 6 months of the final phase of the development being 
landscaped and shall be retained as such thereafter.

Reason: In order to maintain and enhance public rights of way provision on the site in  
accordance with Cambridgeshire and Peterborough Minerals and Waste Core Strategy 
policy CS37.

 

C23 Unless required for continued environmental monitoring purposes, all buildings, plant and 
machinery and hard surfacing ("the site infrastructure") shall be permanently removed from 
the site within 6 months of the final landscaping taking place. Should any site infrastructure 
be required to be retained for environmental monitoring purposes beyond this date, a 
plan/scheme shall first be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning 
Authority which identifies the retained infrastructure and the length of time it is to remain on 
site. The site infrastructure shall thereafter be retained and removed from the site in 
accordance with the approved plan/scheme.

17

51



Reason: In the interest of achieving a proper restoration of the site to nature conservation  
and in the interest of the long term visual appearance of the site in accordance with 
Cambridgeshire and Peterborough Minerals and Waste Core Strategy policies CS25, CS33 
and CS34.

 
 

18

52



53



This page is intentionally left blank

54



Planning and EP Committee 28 July 2015                                                                   Item 4

Application Ref: 15/00653/OUT 

Proposal: 6 x one-bedroom flats with associated parking and amenity space - 
Revised application

Site: 1 Grove Street, Woodston, Peterborough, PE2 9AG
Applicant: Clayton And Clayton

Agent: Peter Slinger Architects

Referred by: Cllr Paula Thacker
Reason: The scheme is acceptable in terms of no. of units, neighbouring amenity 

and car/cycle parking provision
Site visit: 02.04.2015

Case officer: Mrs J MacLennan
Telephone No. 01733 454438
E-Mail: janet.maclennan@peterborough.gov.uk

Recommendation:  REFUSE  

1 Description of the site and surroundings and Summary of the proposal

Site and surroundings
The site is approximately 0.05ha and is located on the eastern side of Grove Street.  The site 
contains a vacant building which was formerly occupied as a workshop for Summit Drawing Office 
Supplies Ltd.  Prior to this the site was part of the former corset factory which was also situated on 
land to the north now occupied by Symmington Close.  The building is positioned on the rear part of 
the site and set back from the road by 23m and contains a two storey flat roof building in part and a 
single storey pitched roof building behind.  There is a large parking area to the front of the site.  To 
the east of the site is ‘Fletton Tower’ the land of which extends, in part, along the southern boundary, 
beyond this is the property and garden of, and land associated to 71 Orchard Street. 

Proposal
The application seeks outline planning permission for the demolition of the existing buildings and the 
erection of 6 no. one bedroom flats.  The application seeks the approval for the principle of 
development with all matters of appearance, access, landscaping, layout and scale reserved to a 
later stage.

2 Planning History

Reference Proposal Decision Date
15/00305/OUT Proposal of 7 two-bedroom flats with 

associated parking and amenity space
Withdrawn 17/04/2015

3 Planning Policy

Decisions must be taken in accordance with the development plan policies below, unless material 
considerations indicate otherwise.

Planning (Listed Building and Conservation Areas) Act 1990

Section 66 - General duty as respects listed buildings in exercise of planning functions 

1

55



The Local Planning Authority has a statutory duty to have special regard to the desirability of 
preserving the building or its setting, or any features of special architectural or historic interest 
which it possesses.

National Planning Policy Framework (2012)

Section 11 - Contamination 
The site should be suitable for its intended use taking account of ground conditions, land stability 
and pollution arising from previous uses and any proposals for mitigation. After remediation, as a 
minimum, land should not be capable of being determined as contaminated land under Part IIA of 
the Environmental Protection Act 1990.

Section 12 - Development Affecting Non-Designated Heritage Assets 
A balanced judgement will be required having regard to the scale of any harm and the significance 
of the heritage asset.  Where the assets is demonstrably of equivalent significance to a Scheduled 
Monuments it should be subject to the policies for designated heritage assets.

Section 12 - Conservation of Heritage Assets 
Account should be taken of the desirability of sustaining/enhancing heritage assets; the positive 
contribution that they can make to sustainable communities including economic viability; and the 
desirability of new development making a positive contribution to local character and 
distinctiveness.  When considering the impact of a new development great weight should be given 
to the asset’s conservation.  

Planning permission should be refused for development which would lead to substantial harm to or 
total loss of significance unless this is necessary to achieve public benefits that outweigh the 
harm/loss.  In such cases all reasonable steps should be taken to ensure the new development will 
proceed after the harm/ loss has occurred.

Peterborough Core Strategy DPD (2011)

CS01 - Settlement Hierarchy and the Countryside 
The location/ scale of new development should accord with the settlement hierarchy. Development 
in the countryside will be permitted only where key criteria are met.

CS02 - Spatial Strategy for the Location of Residential Development 
Provision will be made for an additional 25 500 dwellings from April 2009 to March 2026 in strategic 
areas/allocations.

CS10 - Environment Capital 
Development should make a clear contribution towards the Council’s aspiration to become 
Environment Capital of the UK.

CS14 - Transport 
Promotes a reduction in the need to travel, sustainable transport, the Council’s UK Environment 
Capital aspirations and development which would improve the quality of environments for residents.

CS16 - Urban Design and the Public Realm 
Design should be of high quality, appropriate to the site and area, improve the public realm, address 
vulnerability to crime, be accessible to all users and not result in any unacceptable impact upon the 
amenities of neighbouring residents.

CS17 - The Historic Environment 
Development should protect, conserve and enhance the historic environment including non 
scheduled nationally important features and buildings of local importance.

CS22 - Flood Risk 

2

56



Development in Flood Zones 2 and 3 will only be permitted if specific criteria are met. Sustainable 
drainage systems should be used where appropriate.

Peterborough Planning Policies DPD (2012)

PP02 - Design Quality 
Permission will only be granted for development which makes a positive contribution to the built and 
natural environment; does not have a detrimental effect on the character of the area; is sufficiently 
robust to withstand/adapt to climate change; and is designed for longevity.

PP03 - Impacts of New Development 
Permission will not be granted for development which would result in an unacceptable loss of privacy, 
public and/or private green space or natural daylight; be overbearing or cause noise or other 
disturbance, odour or other pollution; fail to minimise opportunities for crime and disorder.

PP04 - Amenity Provision in New Residential Development 
Proposals for new residential development should be designed and located to ensure that they 
provide for the needs of the future residents.

PP12 - The Transport Implications of Development 
Permission will only be granted if appropriate provision has been made for safe access by all user 
groups and there would not be any unacceptable impact on the transportation network including 
highway safety.

PP13 - Parking Standards 
Permission will only be granted if appropriate parking provision for all modes of transport is made 
in accordance with standards.

4 Consultations/Representations

Archaeological Officer – No objections - The site has a moderate potential to contain all-period 
remains and, in particular, evidence for Anglo-Saxon domestic and funerary activities.  It is 
anticipated that some degree of disturbance would have been caused when the site was used as a 
commercial workshop. In addition, although the maps show no gravel pits within the site, small-scale 
extraction could have been carried out during the post-medieval period, as it is often the case in this 
area. Nonetheless, archaeological remains may survive in undisturbed pockets of land.  On the basis 
of the available evidence, it is recommended that an evaluation by trial trenching is secured by 
condition.

PCC Transport & Engineering Services - No objection - The parking numbers and access 
arrangements for this application are acceptable.  The parking spaces are slightly shorter than the 
desirable minimum 2.4 x 5m.  Recommends conditions regarding visibility splays, dimensions for 
parking spaces, retention of parking and turning areas and construction management plan.

PCC Pollution Team – No objections - Due to previous land use which is shown on our records as 
factory/works it is recommended that conditions are appended requiring an assessment of the nature 
and extent of contamination and appropriate mitigation.

Waste Management – No objections - The revised plan is acceptable and now includes a bin 
collection point at the front of the site.

Environment Agency - No objections subject to the appending of relevant contamination conditions.

Local Residents/Interested Parties 

3

57



Initial consultations: 9
Total number of responses: 0
Total number of objections: 0
Total number in support: 0

No neighbour representations have been received.

5 Assessment of the planning issues

a) Background
The application is a re-submission of a former scheme for the erection of 7 no. one-bed flats which 
was withdrawn (15/00305/OUT).  The former scheme was not supported by officers of the Local 
Planning Authority as the proposal had failed to demonstrate that the site could accommodate the 
scale of development without compromising the amenity of neighbouring occupiers in Symmington 
Close, to the north of the site.  The applicant was advised to reduce the number of flats proposed.

b) The Principle of development
The application site is located within the urban area boundary and within 0.8km of the city centre.  
The surrounding character is predominantly residential comprising a mixture of dwellings and flatted 
accommodation.  The principle of residential development on this site is therefore acceptable and 
accords with policies CS1 and CS2 of the Adopted Peterborough Core Strategy DPD, subject to the 
proposal according with other relevant planning policies and material planning considerations.

c) Neighbouring Amenity
To the north of the application is a small development built in the late 1990s (Symmington Close).  
The main planning consideration at this stage is the effect of the development on the amenities of 
the occupiers of neighbouring properties in Symmington Close and particularly, the rear of numbers 
10-15 Symmington Close.  These dwellings have rear gardens of approximately 8m in depth and 
which abut the application site.  The indicative plans show a layout comprising two blocks; one 
located to the front of the site containing 2 no. one-bed flats and one located 42m to the rear of the 
site containing 4 no. one bed flats, two at ground floor and two at first floor. 

The plans, as originally submitted, indicated a rear block with a maximum height of 8.2m and an 
eave height adjacent to the northern boundary of 5m. It is accepted that there is an existing building 
to the rear of the site which to some degree does have an impact on the occupiers of the 
neighbouring properties in Symmington Close.  The impact of the existing building on these 
properties would have been assessed as part of the approval for the development of Symmington 
Close.  It would be assumed that this impact was considered to be acceptable. However the 
development proposed would be approximately 4 metres higher and therefore would result in an 
unacceptable level of overshadowing and would be overbearing on the occupiers of these properties. 
 

The applicant was advised to position the rear block further from the north and south boundaries and 
to reduce the scale of development to one and a half storey, deleting one of the flats within the roof 
space.  Thus the impact on the amenity of the neighbouring occupiers would be reduced.

An amended drawing was subsequently submitted which has reduced the eave height of the rear 
block adjacent to the northern boundary to 3.6m.  This is still considered to be high when compared 
with the height of a garden fence at 2m.  The overall height of the roof would be retained at 8.2m.

It is noted that the proposed plans are indicative and a design and layout is reserved to a later stage 
however, the plans submitted show no access to the rear of the flats.  It is considered by moving the 
building further from the boundaries it would allow for a practical means of access to the rear and at 
the same time reduce the impact of the building on the neighbouring occupiers.

Although all matters are reserved to a later stage the Local Planning Authority has to be satisfied 

4

58



that the level of accommodation i.e. 6 no. one bed flats, can be accommodated within the site.  The 
indicative plans have failed to demonstrate this without compromising the level of amenity currently 
afforded to neighbouring occupiers.  The proposal is therefore contrary to policy PP2 of the Adopted 
Peterborough Planning Policies DPD and policy CS16 of the Adopted Peterborough Core Strategy 
DPD.

The Local Planning Authority is unable to suggest to the applicant how 6 no. one bed flats could be 
accommodated within the site.  However, as set out above, it has been suggested that the width of 
the rear block be reduced giving more space from the boundary and the height be reduced to one 
and a half storey with one flat in the roof space.  This would significantly reduce the impact on the 
amenity of the occupiers of Symmington Close and would result in a more subservient building 
located to the rear of the site.

d) Design and Amenity
The appearance of the scheme is a reserved matter however it is considered that the front block 
could be positioned closer to the highway.

In addition, the design of the front elevation of the front block would need to be improved in order to 
assimilate with the surrounding properties along Grove Street.

In terms of the rear block the revised indicative plan showing a lower eaves height adjacent to the 
northern boundary and a higher eave height adjacent to the southern boundary results in an 
unbalanced appearance of the building incorporating a gable on one side and a dormer on the other. 
 Whilst the design of the scheme is not a matter to be determined at this stage the indicative plans 
as submitted would result in a contrived development which would not respect the surrounding 
character.

e) Highway Implications
The indicative layout plan show 6 no. parking spaces, including 2 no. disabled parking bay, to serve 
the flats and 2 no. visitor spaces.  It is accepted that the appropriate parking provision would accord 
with the parking standards under policy PP13 of the Adopted Peterborough Planning Policies DPD.

In addition a shared access with 2m x 2m visibility splays would be available off Grove Street.   The 
revised drawing shows the provision of a refuse bin collection area near to the front of the site which 
is acceptable.

Although access to the site is a reserved matter the indicative plans have demonstrated that a 
satisfactory access can be provided.

The proposal would not unduly impact upon the adjacent highway and therefore the proposal 
accords with policies PP12 and PP13 of the Adopted Peterborough Planning Policies DPD. 

f) Impact on the setting of the Listed Building (Fletton Tower)
To the east the site abuts the curtilage of Fletton Tower which is a Grade II Listed Building.  The 
Conservation Officer has considered the proposal and is of the view that development as proposed 
within this site would not affect the setting of the listed building in accordance with policy CS17 of 
the Adopted Peterborough Core Strategy DPD and Section 12 of the National Planning Policy 
Framework.

g) Contamination
The application is supported with a Contamination Assessment providing a summary of the previous 
uses of the site.  However there is little information on the most recent use of the site as a workshop. 
 The potential risk posed to controlled waters from contaminants associated with the most recent 
use cannot be assessed and therefore in accordance with section 11 of the NPPF, it is appropriate 
for conditions to be appended requiring an assessment and mitigation, if required.

5

59



h) Archaeology
The proposed development site is located within an area of known archaeological importance and 
investigations carried out in 2003 at the Walnuts, off Palmerston Road to the west, revealed several 
phases of activity dating from the Neolithic period onwards.  More recently, an Anglo-Saxon burial 
was excavated at New Road/Palmerston Road Allotments by Peterborough City Council 
Archaeology Service in 2007, following the recovery of human remains from a disused allotment 
plot.  In accordance with policy CS17 of the Adopted Peterborough Core Strategy DPD the 
Archaeological Officer has recommended that an evaluation by trial trenching is secured by 
condition.

6 Conclusions

The proposal is unacceptable having been assessed in light of all material considerations, including 
weighing against relevant policies of the development plan and for the specific reasons given below.

7 Recommendation

The Director of Growth and Regeneration recommends that Outline Planning Permission is 
REFUSED

The indicative plans submitted have failed to demonstrate that the site can accommodate the layout 
and scale of development without compromising the amenity of the occupiers of the neighbouring 
dwelling at numbers 10-15 Symmington Close in terms of overbearing impact and overshadowing to 
the rear amenity space of these properties.  The proposal is therefore contrary to policy CS16 of the 
Adopted Peterborough Core Strategy DPD, PP3 of the Adopted Peterborough Planning Policies 
DPD.

 

6

60



61



This page is intentionally left blank

62



Planning and EP Committee                                                                                             Item 5

Application Ref: 15/00662/R3FUL 

Proposal: Change of use from caretakers dwelling to building for the use of before 
and after school care centre and holiday play scheme centre. Single 
storey side extension

Site: Caretakers House, 9 The Pentlands, Gunthorpe, Peterborough
Applicant: Peterborough City Council

Reason: The Head of Planning Services has requested the application be heard by 
the Planning and EP Committee

Site visit: 27.05.2015

Case officer: Mr M A Thomson
Telephone No. 01733 453478
E-Mail: matt.thomson@peterborough.gov.uk

Recommendation:  REFUSE  

1 Description of the site and surroundings and Summary of the proposal

Site Description
The Application site comprises a detached two storey property (with a garage outbuilding to the 
side), which has historically been occupied by the school caretaker for Gunthorpe Primary School. 
The property is located within the grounds of the School and has dedicated parking for two 
vehicles. The property is accessed from The Pentlands, which also serves the staff car park. To 
the immediate north and east are residential properties. Whilst the application site is situated within 
a backland location, it is in a visually prominent position with passing vehicle and pedestrian traffic 
accessing the school.  

Proposal
The Applicant seeks consent to change the use of the former caretakers house to a before and 
after school care centre, and holiday play scheme centre. A large single storey side extension is 
also proposed. To facilitate development, an existing single storey rear extension and car port 
would be demolished. 

The extension would have a floor area of 5.8m x 10.35m and stand at 2.5m to the eaves and 3.7m 
to the ridge. The proposal would be constructed out of matching materials.

The proposed centre would accommodate up to a maximum of 44 children aged between 4yrs - 
17yrs and operate Monday to Friday between the following hours;

Term time - 07:30 - 09:00 and 15:00 - 18:00 

Holiday periods - 07:30 - 18:00 

2 Planning History

No relevant planning history

1

63



3 Planning Policy

Decisions must be taken in accordance with the development plan policies below, unless material 
considerations indicate otherwise.
National Planning Policy Framework (2012)

Section 8 - Social, Cultural and Recreational Facilities 
Developments should plan for the provision and use of shared space, community services and 
other local services; guard against the unnecessary loss of valued services/facilities; allow 
established shops, facilities and services to develop/modernise; and ensure an integrated 
approach to the location of housing, economic uses and communities facilities and services.

Peterborough Core Strategy DPD (2011)

CS16 - Urban Design and the Public Realm 
Design should be of high quality, appropriate to the site and area, improve the public realm, 
address vulnerability to crime, be accessible to all users and not result in any unacceptable impact 
upon the amenities of neighbouring residents.

Peterborough Planning Policies DPD (2012)

PP02 - Design Quality 
Permission will only be granted for development which makes a positive contribution to the built 
and natural environment; does not have a detrimental effect on the character of the area; is 
sufficiently robust to withstand/adapt to climate change; and is designed for longevity.

PP03 - Impacts of New Development 
Permission will not be granted for development which would result in an unacceptable loss of 
privacy, public and/or private green space or natural daylight; be overbearing or cause noise or 
other disturbance, odour or other pollution; fail to minimise opportunities for crime and disorder.

PP12 - The Transport Implications of Development 
Permission will only be granted if appropriate provision has been made for safe access by all user 
groups and there would not be any unacceptable impact on the transportation network including 
highway safety.

PP13 - Parking Standards 
Permission will only be granted if appropriate parking provision for all modes of transport is made 
in accordance with standards.

4 Consultations/Representations

PCC Transport & Engineering Services (10.06.15)
Comments - The Local Highways Authority have requested a Transport Statement setting out how 
it is anticipated that the facility would operate.

PCC Property Services 
No comments received

Local Residents/Interested Parties 

7 letters of representation and a letter from Cllr Knowles have been received raising the following 
concerns;

- Increase in traffic;
- Lack of parking;
- Increased levels of noise adjacent to residential properties;

2

64



- Loss of amenity to residential properties; 
- Hours of use;
- Visual Appearance (extension);
- Litter;
- Poor consultation (site notice and letters);
- Lack of information on the application; 
- Security;
- The building should be used sold on as a dwelling; and
- An Environmental Impact Assessment should be submitted. 

5 Assessment of the planning issues

Design and Layout
Policies CS16 and PP2 seek to ensure any development would not have an adverse impact on the 
character of the area. 

The existing carport and single storey rear element are of no historic or architectural interest and 
their loss is accepted. 

The proposed extension would be single storey and utilise a mono pitched roof design. It would 
nearly double the size of the building. It would be set behind the principal elevation and would have 
a similar width to the original building. Due to the shallow roof pitch the proposal would result in a 
very large roofscape. Whilst the original building is set away from the road it is in a visually 
prominent position and it is considered that the width and design of the extension would look 
disproportionately large to the original building and would therefore have a harmful impact on the 
character and appearance of the original building and area. As such the proposal does not accord 
with Policies CS16 of the Peterborough Core Strategy DPD (2011) and PP2 of the Peterborough 
Policies DPD (2012). 

Neighbour Amenity
Policy PP3 seeks to ensure that any development would not result in an unacceptable overbearing 
impact, loss of privacy, light or amenity. 

The proposal once completed would cater for up to 44 children between the ages of 4 yrs to 17 yrs. 
The building would operate Monday to Friday between the hours of; 

- Term time - 07:30 - 09:00 and 15:00 - 18:00; and 
- Holiday periods - 07:30 - 18:00 

Letters of representation have raised concern with the intensification of use of the site, as well as a 
loss of privacy and issues of noise and disruption generated by the children using the facility and 
the coming and going of vehicles. 

The building has historically been used as a caretakers home and is situated within the grounds of 
the school. Whilst adjacent residents experience a peak in activity during the drop off and pick up 
periods, these are limited to set times of the day and only during term time. 

The change of use and expansion of the building to cater for up to 44 children and 3 members of 
staff would be a material intensification of the application site. The facility would be independent 
from Gunthorpe Primary School therefore could attract children from outside the immediate area 
and could result in additional vehicle movements outside of these core school pick up and drop off 
periods. This impact would be exacerbated given that the premises would operate outside of term 
time. As such the intensification of use of the building, changing from a single dwelling to a building 
that would cater for a large number of children not connected with Gunthorpe Primary school, 
would have an unacceptably adverse impact on the general enjoyment and amenity of adjacent 
occupiers.

3

65



The extension would reduce the amount of space around the existing building, leaving two small 
parcels of land available for outdoor play. The supporting information has advised that the school 
may permit the premises to use the school playing fields, however the playing fields are located 
over 100m from the building and given that only three members of staff would be employed it 
would be likely that children would play immediately to the rear gardens of existing properties on 
Gunthorpe Road and the neighbouring dwelling at the Pentlands. Given the proximity of the site to 
adjoining neighbours, the number of children and the hours of operation this would have a harmful 
impact on the amenity of the adjoining neighbours. As such the development does not accord with 
Policy CS16 of the Peterborough Core Strategy DPD (2011) or PP3 of the Peterborough Policies 
DPD (2012). 

A letter of representation has raised concern that the proposal would result in a loss of privacy 
generated by the change of use to the first floor to office and an art/music room. It is believed that 
these windows currently serve as principal windows serving bedrooms therefore there is already 
an element of overlooking between properties, however the proposed use could result in an 
intensification of these upstairs rooms. Whilst there is a distance of 21 metres between the rear 
wall of the application site and neighbour to rear, which is generally considered an acceptable 
separation distance with respect to overlooking, given the levels of intensification and the hours 
that the facility would operate, this is considered to have an adverse impact on the amenity of 
neighbours to rear and does not accord with Policy CS16 of the Peterborough Core Strategy DPD 
(2011) or PP3 of the Peterborough Policies DPD (2012).

Access and Parking
Policy PP12 and PP13 seek to ensure that the development would be provided with satisfactory 
off-street parking and would not constitute a highway safety hazard. 

The Local Highways Authority have requested a Transport Statement be submitted as trips could 
be generated not in association with Gunthorpe Primary School. However, it is understood that the 
development would seek to share the existing school parking spaces on site, which would be 
available outside of core hours, and it was observed on site that the school car park has in the 
region of 30 spaces and three spaces would be created for members of staff. As such the 
additional vehicle movements generated by the site across the proposed hours of operation are not 
considered to exacerbate the current peak drop off and pick up periods, and on-site parking could 
be provided outside of these hours and during holiday periods. 

Other Matters
Letters of representation have raised a number of concerns, which include;

Litter – Whilst there is a risk that littering may increase, it is not considered so significant that 
planning permission could reasonably be refused.  

Consultation - It is understood that one property did not receive the neighbour consultation letter 
that was issued by the Local Planning Authority. 

Lack of Information - On receipt of the application there was information outstanding relating to the 
number of children which would use the facility, the proposed hours of use and days of operation, 
where drop off and pick up would occur and what the first floor of the building would be used for; 
however further to Case Officer requests this information has been submitted and sent out for 
neighbour reconsultation (Expired 07.07.15)

Security - Given the nature of development it is not considered that the proposal would constitute a 
security issue, to either the application site itself or neighbouring properties. 

Reuse as a dwelling – Alternative uses for the building cannot be considered as the Council has to 
determine the application that has been submitted.  

Environmental Impact Assessment (EIA) - The development proposed does not fall within 

4

66



Schedule 1 or 2 of the Environmental Impact Assessment Regulations (2011) and accordingly an 
EIA is not required. 

6 Conclusions

The proposal would result in an unduly large and visually incongruous extension that would have 
an unacceptably adverse impact on the character and appearance of the host building and area. 

The building would change from a single dwelling to a building that would cater for a large number 
of children not connected with Gunthorpe Primary school, and would operate outside of core 
school hours. It would result in harmful levels of noise and disruption over and above the existing 
situation exacerbated through the coming and going of traffic. This unacceptable impact would be 
exacerbated as children would likely play immediately outside the building, thereby having a 
harmful impact on the amenity of adjoining neighbours. 

Whilst the proposed development would bring back into use an empty building and facilitate a 
valuable community facility, this is not considered to outweigh the above concerns and accordingly 
the proposal is contrary to Policies CS16 of the Peterborough Core Strategy DPD (2011) and PP2 
and PP3 of the Peterborough Policies DPD (2012). 

7 Recommendation

The case officer recommends that Planning Permission (Regulation 3) is REFUSED
 
R 1 The proposal would result in a large and incongruous extension that would have an 

unacceptably adverse impact on the character and appearance of the host building and 
area, and is contrary to Policy CS16 of the Peterborough Core Strategy DPD (2011) and 
PP2 of the Peterborough Policies DPD (2012).

 
R 2 The intensified use of the building which would change from a single dwelling to a building 

that would cater for a large number of children not connected with Gunthorpe Primary 
school, and would operate outside of core school hours, would result in harmful levels of 
noise, traffic and disruption over and above the existing situation. Furthermore, children 
would likely play immediately outside the building, thereby having a harmful impact on the 
amenity of the adjoining neighbours and is contrary to Policy CS16 of the Peterborough 
Core Strategy DPD (2011) and PP3 of the Peterborough Policies DPD (2012).

5

67



This page is intentionally left blank

68



69



This page is intentionally left blank

70



Planning and EP Committee 28 July 2015                                                                          Item 6

Application Ref: 15/00671/HHFUL 

Proposal: Two storey and single storey rear extensions and new 2m high boundary 
wall - revised

Site: 80 Ledbury Road, Netherton, Peterborough, PE3 9PJ
Applicant: Mr Shokat Ali

Agent: Mr N P Branston  mrics
Branston Assoc.

Referred by:
Reason:
Site visit: 02.07.2015

Case officer: Mr D Jolley
Telephone No. 01733 453414
E-Mail: david.jolley@peterborough.gov.uk

Recommendation:  REFUSE  

1 Description of the site and surroundings and Summary of the proposal

Site Description
The application site is a two storey property located on a corner plot. The street scene is 
comprised of large detached and link detached properties with a school to the west and Netherton 
local centre to north-east. The property benefits from two off-street parking spaces to front. 
Previously approved extensions under application number 14/00895/HHFUL have been 
constructed.

Proposal
Permission is sought for a two storey flat roof rear extension measuring 5.75 metres deep by 10 
metres wide at ground floor and 3.7 metres deep by 6.9 metres wide at first floor. The flat roof will 
be 5.4 metres above ground level.

History
The site received planning permission in 2009 (09/00156/FUL) for the erection of a single storey 
front extension, first floor extension above garage to the eastern side, two storey side extension to 
the western side and single storey rear extension. The development that took place was not in 
accordance with the approved plans which also contained a number of discrepancies. As a result, 
subsequent applications were submitted to regularise the situation.

Under the 2009 consent the width of the western two storey side extension was approved at 4.8 
metres wide. Application number 13/01691/HHFUL approved an increase in the width of the 
western extension to 5.2m. In addition, at first floor permission was given for an additional 1.8m 
from the original rear wall to facilitate a usable disabled bathroom. The previous approved 
application did not extend beyond the rear wall at first floor. However the 2013 approval did not 
include the large single storey rear extension shown on the 2009 plans.

Application 14/00895/HHFUL granted permission for the two storey side extension adjacent to the 
neighbour’s garage on the eastern side to be constructed approximately 1.0 metre further forward 
than the approved scheme under application number 09/00156/FUL and 13/01691/HHFUL. This 
application also permitted the two storey side extension to the west side of the property, creating a 
gable end as opposed to the two dormer window arrangement approved under 13/01691/HHFUL.

1

71



A garage/outbuilding has also been partially erected in the rear garden with a tarmac vehicular 
access. This aspect does not form part of this application. 

2 Planning History

Reference Proposal Decision Date
15/00376/HHFUL First floor and ground floor additional 

extensions and new 2.00m high boundary 
wall

Withdrawn 07/05/2015

3 Planning Policy

Decisions must be taken in accordance with the development plan policies below, unless material 
considerations indicate otherwise.

Peterborough Core Strategy DPD (2011)

CS16 - Urban Design and the Public Realm 
Design should be of high quality, appropriate to the site and area, improve the public realm, 
address vulnerability to crime, be accessible to all users and not result in any unacceptable impact 
upon the amenities of neighbouring residents.

Peterborough Planning Policies DPD (2012)

PP02 - Design Quality 
Permission will only be granted for development which makes a positive contribution to the built 
and natural environment; does not have a detrimental effect on the character of the area; is 
sufficiently robust to withstand/adapt to climate change; and is designed for longevity.

PP03 - Impacts of New Development 
Permission will not be granted for development which would result in an unacceptable loss of 
privacy, public and/or private green space or natural daylight; be overbearing or cause noise or 
other disturbance, odour or other pollution; fail to minimise opportunities for crime and disorder.

4 Consultations/Representations

PCC Enforcement Team 
No comments received

Local Residents/Interested Parties 

Initial consultations: 31
Total number of responses: 6
Total number of objections: 6
Total number in support: 0

The site is already overdeveloped and unsightly. The front of the building has mounds of waste 
material that cannot be removed unless an environmental problem occurs. 

It would appear that there are works to the existing two storey west extension forming a balcony. 

The drawings are inconsistent. On the application 15/00376 HHFUL the western two storey 
extension was shown as existing with the ground floor projecting further back and a roof over the 
single storey kitchen. Drawing 14.114/1A appears to show a ground floor extension of the west 
wing with a pitched roof forward of the first floor on elevation but on plan are in the same plane. 

2

72



The boundary wall is built in excess of the ownership and on land owned either by the 
Peterborough City Council or the highway authority, this should be verified with the land Registry 
as the client clearly will not agree. 

Please note that on the web site that 14.114/4B is not shown as listed, it is 3B and therefore this 
should be shown to enable a full assessment to be made without detriment to all parties. The agent 
should be required to show the new walls on the proposed ground and first floor. Regarding the 
prior application for the single storey extension clearly the foundations for the extension will be on 
the land owned by the resident to the east and notice should have been served and there is a 
Party Wall issue. If there is no extension of the first floor it should not be necessary to extend the 
ground floor, in addition this extension reduces the rear garden an area less than the 50% 
recommended.

This property is no longer in keeping with the area.

From the information provided it would appear that the proposed new lounge still has a span of 
5.5m and a width of approximately 9.5m an area of 52.25sq.m. Having already two lounge areas 
indicated on the drawing and a kitchen dining area that is 12,7m long this appears not justifiable.

At first floor the new extension to the bedroom is still 3.5m deep. Thus there will be a pitched roof 
that is 2m deep over the lounge. At first floor the roof shown is still a flat roof that is incongruous. 
Drawing 4B is missing on the web site and this must be surmised. 

It is extremely difficult to construct this extension with the requirement for a set of double steel 
beams to span the 9.5m and beams that would be about 450mm. deep without intermediate 
support. With intermediate support the beams would be 305mm. deep. 

How many people will be accommodated bedroom 5 and bedroom 6 given that existing walls are 
returned to subdivide the rooms? 

The existing extension to the west of the property shows a bedroom with rear south wall 
immediately above the ground floor, as noted this is not as the original application on the rear 
elevation of existing. The existing rear window to bedroom 4 is still deeper than the former 
approval and subject to comment by the enforcement officer. The Juliet balcony shown is totally 
out of character with the surrounding property and will cause overlooking of rear gardens to Audley 
Gate.

Provision of bedrooms this size would be capable of forming living/bedroom areas in shared 
accommodation or even that of old person's accommodation. I note that the applicant wishes to 
live in the property as a single dwelling but conditions should already be in force to prevent change 
to this form of accommodation that can only be prevented by condition. 

The building is so large that the garden surely is too small for the number of persons capable of 
being accommodated in the house, currently estimated as ten if only the bedrooms are used to 
accommodate persons. 

It is hard to believe that the applicant, apparently a solicitor, will occupy this house as claimed 
given the existing timescale and the piecemeal way in which the development has proceeded and 
animosity created with the local residents. 

As the existing fence has been damaged I can see no reason why the boundary wall cannot be 
approved providing it is on the correct line of ownership 225mm. thick brickwork with a concrete 
coping stone or brick on edge coping and double tile creasing below. The wall however should be 
constructed on the line of the legal boundary not where the client believes it to be. 

The proposed is basically over development, piecemeal out of character and should be refused.

3

73



It is now a huge 3 storey monolith, taking up the full plot width (16 metres as verified by the Land 
Registry) The new rear extension is exactly the same size as the one demolished under your 
instructions for contravention of planning? It will have a 60 sq mtr flat roof visible from Audley Gate 
which will be 3 mtrs high and not blend with any part of the property and exceed the 50% rule on 
extensions.

The garden wall does not require permission but is not marked correctly on the original site 
boundary (red line) being more than 3 metres on highways land.

Double gates front and back with a parapet wall over (slipped onto one of the plans) points to a 
future double length garage and drive, which among other contraventions would be too near the 
road junction and all built on highway land not on curtilage of no 80.

Details of Development application wrong;
(g) building within 2mtrs of boundary.
(h) Extensions now exceed the 50% rule, as every extension as passed by your department has 
been built larger than approved. 

The original plot size has been enlarged onto highways land (i have the evidence) even further 
than the 600mm negotiated in 2010 with Highways by Peter Garnham to ''avoid conflict'', his words 
not mine. Highways are now asking again for the fence to be moved back to the agreed/approved 
position.

Finally after a dozen applications on this property over six years it's time to call a halt. Planning 
violations enforcements are not shown on the planning portal WHY? I suggest you put a planning 
embargo on this property using the 50% rule, so that all the Netherton residents can get back to a 
less stressful existence by not wondering what was going to be built next.

Firstly I would like to state that the building of this property is not in line with the initial plans 
submitted to you. The property itself is already over developed. It already contains six double 
bedrooms and will generate further traffic which would serve the property. This property already 
has two separate entrances. One entrance which leads to the house via Ledbury and another 
entrance which leads to the garage/outbuilding/ bungalow which has been built at the back of the 
house in what once was the garden. There is now no garden or greenery to support both 
properties. 

The full application follows the same theme as that previously refused I believe that this property is 
already over developed particularly in this prominent site irrespective of the building project 
management. The house already contains six double bedrooms and will generate a considerable 
on traffic serving the house. 

Furthermore, as you are aware I wrote to you with regards to the damage that has taken place to 
my garage due to the applicant not adhering to his initial plans submitted to you. The plans showed 
a gap between the proposed extension and my garage but when the extension was built it was 
joined to my garage. The roof on my garage now holds water which it had not done so before, the 
water leaks through the garage roof, through the ceiling and down the walls, which I might add 
holds the electricity fuse box and switch, not only that the water is damaging goods and precious 
belongings that we have stored in the garage for safe keeping, but due to this extension being 
wrongly built I am loosing personal belongings but have a very wet and damp garage.

We have had several visits from planning officials. Mr D Jolley, planning officer inspected the 
property and took some photographs of the problem. He could clearly see the issues we face. Mr 
Sam Thorpe from Building Control also visited, he inspected the property and promised me that he 
would not sign anything off for the extension until this issue has been sorted out, again the issue 
has not been sorted out and it seems work can go ahead with the Mr Ali's plans.

4

74



I find it intolerable that this type of property has been given permission to be built to the extent it 
has been. This property has gone from a 3 bed-roomed house to a 7 bed-roomed house and it now 
has a potential bungalow in the back garden - when planning permission was originally sought it 
was to be a garage. In no way is this a garage. On another planning application it changed from a 
garage to an outbuilding. This site is clearly overdeveloped.

I would ask that this is reviewed as an urgent matter as not only is this causing me and my family 
anxiety, but it is also causing damage to my property due to the plans not being followed 
accurately. Surely this is against the law?

In regard to planning application 15/00376/HHFUL, I wholeheartedly object on the grounds of 
overdevelopment of the site and would ask that previous work is looked into first before any further 
planning permission is considered which may also affect my property once again.

5 Assessment of the planning issues

The main considerations are

 Boundary issues and application information
 The impact of the proposal on the character of the area
 The impact of the proposal on the amenity of the occupiers of neighbouring dwelling
 Highways impacts

Boundary issues and application information
At the time of writing the LPA are of the opinion that the submitted red line is inaccurate because 
the application included land not in the ownership of the applicant (i.e. part of the highway verge), 
the applicant should have served notice on the land owner. This was not done originally but has 
now been addressed.

There was a slight discrepancy with the as existing elevation drawings. The as existing floor plans 
plan does not match the as existing elevations, the as existing elevations show a small section 
monopitch roof which is not present on site. The agent has now submitted accurate plans in this 
respect. Notwithstanding this the error is not considered to materially affect the consideration or 
determination of the application.

The impact of the proposal on the character of the area
The dwelling has been extensively extended to the sides and front and a large garden building has 
been erected. The site already appears as over developed when compared to the surrounding 
dwellings of Ledbury Road. The extension, although partly obscured by the large two storey side 
extension will be visible from Audley Gate to the south. It is considered that from this location the 
dwelling will appear unacceptable bulky, especially when viewed against the attached neighbour. 

The size of remaining garden is not characteristic of other dwellings on Ledbury Road and as such 
any further additions to the property must be considered to be overdevelopment.

The proposed flat roof to the two storey extension is not compatible with the character of the host 
dwelling. Whilst the apartment block adjacent has a flat roof, this is no justification for incorporating 
such a large area of flat roof at the application site, which should reflect the character of the 
dwelling and its similar neighbours. As such the flat roof will appear as incongruous and it is likely 
that this element would be an unwelcome focal point in wider views as the site is approached from 
the south.

The proposal would also result in an encroachment into the highway verge adjacent to the 
application site. This verge forms an important space between the highway and the large side 
extension already constructed. Given the large scale of the dwelling it is important to retain this 
verge in its entirety in order to prevent the dwelling from dominating wider views.

5

75



The impact of the proposal on the amenity of the occupiers of neighbouring dwelling
The application site is connected to its neighbour 78 Ledbury Road. Previously this was a garage 
to garage connection but the garage of the application site has been replaced by a two storey 
extension. The neighbour has an extension to the rear of his garage and the proposed ground floor 
extension would project beyond the neighbour’s extension by approximately 2.0 metres. The 
ground floor extension will have a mono pitch roof connection to the two storey element of the 
proposal, this roof is 2.4 metres above ground level at the eaves and 3.2 metres at the apex. This 
extent of development is unlikely to result in unacceptable overshadowing or be overbearing to the 
occupiers of 78 Ledbury Road.

The 1st floor rear extension is set in approximately 2.9 metres from the shared boundary and 
projects 3.5 metres beyond the rear wall of the dwelling. The neighbour will experience a small 
amount of additional overshadowing in the late evening but this is not severe enough to warrant 
the refusal of the application. The extension will not be overbearing to the occupiers of the 
attached dwelling.

There is a dispute between the neighbour and the applicant with regard to damage caused by the 
implementation of a previously approved extension.  The dispute is a private law matter and is not 
relevant to this application and is not a material consideration in the determination of the 
application.

All other neighbours are sufficiently far from the application site as to not be affected by this 
proposal.

As the site is residential in nature there is no reason to believe that the additional living space 
would result in unacceptable harm to nearby neighbour’s amenity through noise disturbance.

Highways impacts
The proposal extends two bedrooms but does not increase the number of bedrooms approved 
under application 14/00895/HHFUL and there is sufficient parking provision for the dwelling.

Other matters
An objector has highlighted that one of the plans submitted by the applicant was not uploaded to 
the council’s public access pages. This has now been undertaken and neighbours reconsulted for 
a full 21 days.

An objection has been received stating that development now exceeds 50% of the site area and 
such permission should be refused. The 50% ‘rule’ is only a relevant consideration in determining if 
planning permission is required for a development.

Objectors raise concerns about the scale of the outbuilding. The size of outbuilding is within 
permitted development allowances and as such does not require planning permission.

Finally objectors have raised concerns regarding what the dwelling and outbuilding could be used 
for in the future. This cannot be a consideration in determination of the application. The application 
must be determined in accordance with the information submitted.

6 Conclusions

The proposal is unacceptable having been assessed in light of all material considerations, 
including weighing against relevant policies of the development plan and for the specific reasons 
given below.

6

76



7 Recommendation

The Director of Growth and Regeneration recommends that Planning Permission is REFUSED

 
R 1 The proposed two storey rear extension, by way of its size and flat roofed design 

constitutes overdevelopment of the plot and is a bulky and incongruous addition to the 
dwelling that unacceptably harms the character of the area. This is contrary to policies PP2 
of the Peterborough Planning Policies (DPD) 2012 and policy CS16 of the Peterborough 
Core Strategy (DPD) 2011.

R2 The proposal by way of encroachment into the adjacent highway verge, would result in the 
loss of an important landscape buffer between the public realm and the application site, this 
would be detrimental to the character of the area. This is contrary to policies PP2 of the 
Peterborough Planning Policies (DPD) 2012 and policy CS16 of the Peterborough Core 
Strategy (DPD) 2011.

7

77



This page is intentionally left blank

78



79



This page is intentionally left blank

80



Planning and EP Committee                                                                                                 Item 7

Application Ref: 15/00692/FUL 

Proposal: Construction of new community primary school including the retention of 
the Midland Road facade of the Memorial Hall building, and all associated 
landscaping, car parking and boundaries

Site: Memorial Wing, Peterborough District Hospital, Thorpe Road, 
Peterborough

Applicant: Kier Construction Limited

Agent: Frank Shaw Associates

Referred By Director of Growth and Regeneration
Reason: Major Application of Local Interest

Site visit: 22.06.2015
Case officer: Miss V Hurrell
Telephone No. 01733 453480
E-Mail: victoria.hurrell@peterborough.gov.uk

Recommendation: GRANT subject to relevant conditions  

1 Description of the site and surroundings and Summary of the proposal

The Site and Surroundings
The application site is some 0.84 ha in size and forms part of the former Peterborough District 
Hospital. It is bounded to the east by Midland Road, to the south by Thorpe Road and to the west 
and north by adjacent parts of the hospital site. Beyond the hospital site to the west is Sessions 
House which is a Listed Building. Access into the site is from Midland Road. 

There are a number of trees within the site, primarily around the edge of it, adjacent to Thorpe 
Road and Midland Road. These trees are protected by a Tree Preservation Order. Tree protection 
fencing is in place.

Within the site is the retained administrative core of the Memorial Hospital which is designated as a 
Building of Local Importance (under policy PP17 of the adopted Site Allocations DPD). This 
element has been made water tight following removal of the original ‘wings’ or pavilion elements of 
the building. Remediation work has also been carried out. The site is generally level and is covered 
by crushed brick.

The application site has now been handed over to the Children’s Services under the terms of the 
legal agreement associated with the outline planning permission for the redevelopment of the 
hospital site.

The Proposal
This application seeks full planning permission for the construction of a new three form entry 
primary school which will have capacity for 630 pupils. The school will replace the existing West 
Town Primary School which currently has 300 pupil places. 

Under this application it is proposed to demolish the remaining administrative core of the Memorial 
Hospital with the exception of the main façade and portico and to rebuild this element which will 
then be used for offices, a staff room, art room and technology room. Within the newly constructed 
Memorial Building space has been designed into the reception area to display the memorial 
plaques which were previously in the building and are currently in storage.

1

81



Coming off the rear of the building will be a new link element containing the school hall and to the 
rear of the site a new three storey block which will contain the main teaching space. 

Thirty three car parking spaces are proposed at the front of the building along with cycle parking 
and a new pedestrian entrance. Pedestrian entrances have also been designed in at the rear of the 
site for use as and when the remaining hospital site is developed. A new sensory garden and area 
of hard play are also proposed. Three trees are intended for removal, the others will be retained.

New fencing will be installed around the edge of the site in the form of railings to Thorpe Road and 
the initial section of Midland Road to the vehicle access, a dwarf wall and railings in front of the 
Memorial Building and weldmesh to the remaining site.

Outline planning permission was granted last year, under application reference 14/00536/OUT, for 
the redevelopment of the hospital site for up to 350 houses and a new three form of entry primary 
school. Under this application it was proposed to retain the administrative core of the Memorial 
Hospital and to refurbish this. As indicated above it is now proposed to retain just the façade and 
portico of the original building, with the remainder being reconstructed. This application has 
therefore been submitted as a full rather than reserved matters application.

2 Planning History

14/00606/PRIOR Prior Approval for the Demolition of the Existing Memorial Hospital (Excluding the 
administrative core). Approved 21 July 2014.

14/00536/OUT Demolition of existing buildings, remediation and earthworks, removal of trees and 
redevelopment to provide residential development of up to 350 residential units (Use Class C3) of 
up to 3 storeys with a total gross external area of up to 33,820sqm, including the retention and 
residential use of The Gables and 60-62 Thorpe Road, means of access, formal and informal open 
space, a new Community Primary School including the retention and use of part of the Memorial 
Wing building, associated landscaping, footpaths, secondary access roads and drainage works, 
with access from Thorpe Road, Midland Road and Aldermans Drive At the former site of
Peterborough District Hospital, Thorpe Road, Peterborough. Conditional consent granted 31 
October 2014.

Subsequent to the granting of the outline application there have been a number of discharge of 
condition applications. These are not relevant to the determination of the current application and so 
are not reported here.

3 Planning Policy

Decisions must be taken in accordance with the development plan policies below, unless material 
considerations indicate otherwise.

Planning (Listed Building and Conservation Areas) Act 1990

Section 66 - General duty as respects listed buildings in exercise of planning functions 
The Local Planning Authority has a statutory duty to have special regard to the desirability of 
preserving the building or its setting, or any features of special architectural or historic interest 
which it possesses.

National Planning Policy Framework (2012)

Section 4 - Assessment of Transport Implications 
Development which generates a significant amount of traffic should be supported by a Transport 
Statement/Transport Assessment.  It should be located to minimise the need to travel/to maximise 
the opportunities for sustainable travel and be supported by a Travel Plan. Large scale 

2

82



developments should include a mix of uses. A safe and suitable access should be provided and 
the transport network improved to mitigate the impact of the development.

Section 7 - Good Design 
Development should add to the overall quality of the area; establish a strong sense of place; 
optimise the site potential; create and sustain an appropriate mix of uses; support local facilities 
and transport networks; respond to local character and history while not discouraging appropriate 
innovation; create safe and accessible environments which are visually attractive as a result of 
good architecture and appropriate landscaping. Planning permission should be refused for 
development of poor design.

Section 8 - School Development 
Great weight should be given to the need to create, expand or alter schools.

Section 10 - Development and Flood Risk 
New development should be planned to avoid increased vulnerability to the impacts of climate 
change. Inappropriate development in areas of flood risk should be avoided by directing it away 
from areas at higher risk. Where development is necessary it shall be made safe without 
increasing flood risk elsewhere. Applications should be supported as appropriate by a site-specific 
Flood Risk Assessment, a Sequential Test and, if required, the Exception Test.

Section 11 - Biodiversity 
Development resulting in significant harm to biodiversity or in the loss of/deterioration of 
irreplaceable habitats should be refused if the impact cannot be adequately mitigated, or 
compensated.  Proposals to conserve or enhance biodiversity should be permitted and 
opportunities to incorporate biodiversity into new development encouraged.  

Development within or outside a Site of Special Scientific Interest or other specified sites should 
not normally be permitted  where an adverse effect on the site's notified special interest features is 
likely. An exception should only be made where the benefits clearly outweigh the impacts. 

The presumption in favour of sustainable development does not apply where development 
requiring Appropriate Assessment under the Birds or Habitats Directives is being considered or 
determined.

Section 11 - Contamination 
The site should be suitable for its intended use taking account of ground conditions, land stability 
and pollution arising from previous uses and any proposals for mitigation. After remediation, as a 
minimum, land should not be capable of being determined as contaminated land under Part IIA of 
the Environmental Protection Act 1990.

Section 11 - Noise 
New development giving rise to unacceptable adverse noise impacts should be resisted; 
development should mitigate and reduce to a minimum other adverse impacts on health and 
quality of life arising. Development often creates some noise and existing businesses wanting to 
expand should not be unreasonably restricted because of changes in nearby land uses.

Section 12 - Development Affecting Non-Designated Heritage Assets 
A balanced judgement will be required having regard to the scale of any harm and the significance 
of the heritage asset.  Where the assets is demonstrably of equivalent significance to a Scheduled 
Monuments it should be subject to the policies for designated heritage assets.

Section 12 - Conservation of Heritage Assets 
Account should be taken of the desirability of sustaining/enhancing heritage assets; the positive 
contribution that they can make to sustainable communities including economic viability; and the 
desirability of new development making a positive contribution to local character and 
distinctiveness.  When considering the impact of a new development great weight should be given 

3

83



to the asset’s conservation.  

Planning permission should be refused for development which would lead to substantial harm to or 
total loss of significance unless this is necessary to achieve public benefits that outweigh the 
harm/loss.  In such cases all reasonable steps should be taken to ensure the new development will 
proceed after the harm/ loss has occurred.

Peterborough Core Strategy DPD (2011)

CS10 - Environment Capital 
Development should make a clear contribution towards the Council’s aspiration to become 
Environment Capital of the UK.

CS12- Infrastructure 
Permission will only be granted where there is, or will be via mitigation measures, sufficient 
infrastructure capacity to support the impacts of the development.

CS14 - Transport 
Promotes a reduction in the need to travel, sustainable transport, the Council’s UK Environment 
Capital aspirations and development which would improve the quality of environments for 
residents.

CS16 - Urban Design and the Public Realm 
Design should be of high quality, appropriate to the site and area, improve the public realm, 
address vulnerability to crime, be accessible to all users and not result in any unacceptable impact 
upon the amenities of neighbouring residents.

CS17 - The Historic Environment 
Development should protect, conserve and enhance the historic environment including non-
scheduled nationally important features and buildings of local importance.

CS21 - Biodiversity and Geological Conservation 
Development should conserve and enhance biodiversity/ geological interests unless no alternative 
sites are available and there are demonstrable reasons for the development.

CS22 - Flood Risk 
Development in Flood Zones 2 and 3 will only be permitted if specific criteria are met. Sustainable 
drainage systems should be used where appropriate.

Peterborough Planning Policies DPD (2012)

PP01 - Presumption in Favour of Sustainable Development 
Applications which accord with policies in the Local Plan and other Development Plan Documents 
will be approved unless material considerations indicate otherwise.  Where there are no relevant 
policies, the Council will grant permission unless material considerations indicate otherwise.

PP02 - Design Quality 
Permission will only be granted for development which makes a positive contribution to the built 
and natural environment; does not have a detrimental effect on the character of the area; is 
sufficiently robust to withstand/adapt to climate change; and is designed for longevity.

PP03 - Impacts of New Development 
Permission will not be granted for development which would result in an unacceptable loss of 
privacy, public and/or private green space or natural daylight; be overbearing or cause noise or 
other disturbance, odour or other pollution; fail to minimise opportunities for crime and disorder.

PP12 - The Transport Implications of Development 

4

84



Permission will only be granted if appropriate provision has been made for safe access by all user 
groups and there would not be any unacceptable impact on the transportation network including 
highway safety.

PP13 - Parking Standards 
Permission will only be granted if appropriate parking provision for all modes of transport is made 
in accordance with standards.

PP16 - The Landscaping and Biodiversity Implications of Development 
Permission will only be granted for development which makes provision for the retention of trees 
and natural features which contribute significantly to the local landscape or biodiversity.

PP17 - Heritage Assets 
Development which would affect a heritage asset will be required to preserve and enhance the 
significance of the asset or its setting.  Development which would have detrimental impact will be 
refused unless there are overriding public benefits.

PP20 - Development on Land affected by Contamination 
Development must take into account the potential environmental impacts arising from the 
development itself and any former use of the site.  If it cannot be established that the site can be 
safely developed with no significant future impacts on users or ground/surface waters, permission 
will be refused.

Peterborough City Centre DPD (2014)
PCC01 - Presumption in Favour of Sustainable Development 
Development should contribute to the City's Environment Capital ambition and take steps to 
address key principles of sustainable development.

PCC04A - Railway Station Policy Area (a) General principles 
The Council will support high quality mixed-use developments which create an attractive and 
legible gateway into the rest of the City Centre.  All development must ensure that on-site drainage 
and surface water flood risk is addressed.

Other Relevant Documents

The Peterborough District Hospital Site Supplementary Planning Document Adopted June 
2010
This document was prepared by King Sturge on behalf of the Peterborough and Stamford Hospital 
Trust and sets out the planning policy context, the site constraints and the broad development 
opportunities/principles for the site. It promotes a mixed use development including residential 
development (350-550 dwellings), retail provision, community facilities (within the core of the 
Memorial Wing), good design and environmental standards (code 4 of sustainable homes).

4 Consultations/Representations

PCC Tree Officer (09.07.2015)
No objections to the amended/updated information. This provides sufficient detail for me to be 
satisfied that if followed on site the trees will be adequately protected during the construction 
phase. Recommend a condition that the development be carried out in accordance with this detail 
subject to a pre-commencement meeting and also a condition requiring the submission of further 
details of the proposed fencing.

PCC Conservation Officer (09.06.15)
No objections. The Memorial Hospital is a building of significant local interest and included on the 
Council's list of 'Buildings of Local Importance'. The retention of the building and a beneficial reuse 
has been a key part of the redevelopment proposals for the hospital site. The development of a 
school to serve the new residential community by retaining the building with a new building is 

5

85



supported. The core building which has high architectural value from its materials, detailing and 
symmetrical form and appearance was always envisaged to form the key feature of the new school 
complex. For this reason it was agreed that the north and south wings could be demolished as they 
were of lower historical significance and to accommodate new purpose built school 
accommodation.

Towards the end of the development of the scheme it was revised to demolish and rebuild the core 
element. The accompanying structural survey indicates that the building is sound so from a 
heritage consideration there is no justification for substantial demolition. The justification put 
forward for a partial demolition and facade retention arises from a view taken on the building 
regulations. 

However, in retaining the facade there is opportunity to create a visually better building than the 
current one and one that remains faithful to the existing detailing. The proposed flank walls were 
proposed to be rendered as the best way to treat their plastered finish and openings. There is a 
significant visual benefit in re-building the gables in brick to match the frontage. Whilst the loss of 
original fabric is disappointing and consequentially there will be some loss of social history with 
faithful reconstruction and brick gables the building will appear as the original and not a 
reconstruction. 

Conditions should be imposed requiring the submission and approval of more detailed information 
in respect of various aspects of the works before these commence to ensure faithful replication.

Nene Valley Nature Improvement Area (NIA) 
No comments received

PCC Pollution Team (16.06.15)
No objections. The remediation and validation reports relating to contamination have been 
commented upon previously. 

With regard to noise it is noted that the noise levels require either significant acoustically 
attenuated natural ventilation or a mechanical ventilation design in order to provide the occupants 
of the proposed building a satisfactory environment. The noise report states that mechanical 
ventilation has been adopted as the preferred approach. It is noted that the external play areas to 
the south of the proposed school (towards Thorpe Road) will experience noise levels that exceed 
the nominal generally-accepted guideline of 55 dBA. No mitigation is proposed in the acoustic 
report citing a planners' preference for railings at the site perimeter. Expected activity noise levels 
from the school external play areas, are considered acceptable with respect to the nearest existing 
and proposed residential properties. A condition in respect of plant noise is recommended.

Odour from cooking fumes will need to be suitably ventilated. A condition to this effect is 
recommended.

Lighting levels should accord with the guidance from the Institution of Lighting Engineers.
Environment Agency (04.06.15)
No objections. Recommend a condition requiring the reporting and remediation of any 
unsuspected contamination and also in respect of the provision of a scheme of foul drainage.

PCC Transport & Engineering Services (07.07.15)
No objections subject to conditions. Some of the agreed measures for the overall site are 
applicable to this application specifically the imposed access into the school site, a traffic 
management feature and slight alterations to the junction of Midland Road and Thorpe Road, 
parking bays/traffic management features along the length of Midland Road, a crossing point on 
Midland Road to allow safe access to the future playing fields. The amended Travel Plan and 
Parking Management Plan are considered to be acceptable.

Archaeological Officer (02.06.15)

6

86



No objections. An evaluation by trial trenching was carried out at the beginning of the year. No 
archaeology was revealed. As such there is no requirement for any further archaeological 
assessment as part of this application.

Lead Local Drainage Authority (08.07.15)
No objections in light of the amended/updated drainage information which has been submitted. A 
compliance condition is recommended.

Police Architectural Liaison Officer 
No objections from a community safety perspective following a meeting with the Applicant. No 
specific conditions are required. 

PCC Property Services 
No comments received

Sport England (22.06.15)
No objections.  Consultation is non-statutory in nature as the proposal does not affect existing 
playing fields or land last used as existing playing fields. However, the DCLG Planning Practice 
Guidance for Open Space, Sports and Recreation Facilities (March 2014) states that Sport 
England should be consulted on a wide range of non-statutory applications. The proposed site is 
fairly constrained in size and does not offer opportunities to provide formal playing fields due to the 
size constraints. However, there is an opportunity to provide improved facilities for indoor/outdoor 
games/PE lessons in the new indoor hall and proposed multi use games areas. In order to 
maximise the benefits to sport it is considered that the technical specification of the games area 
should comply with Sport England's guidance. Given the improvement in the sport/PE offer 
available at the new school Sport England does not wish to object to this application as it broadly 
meets the planning objective of ensuring that new facilities are provided which are fit for purpose to 
meet current and future needs.

PCC Travel Choice 
No objections although have some comments on the Travel Plan which should be addressed.

Anglian Water Services Ltd (22.06.15)
No objections. The foul drainage from this development is in the catchment of Flag Fen Water 
Recycling Centre which currently does not have capacity to treat the flows from the site. Anglian 
Water are obligated to accept the foul flows from development with the benefit of planning consent  
and would, therefore, take the necessary steps to ensure that there is sufficient treatment capacity 
should planning permission be granted. The foul sewers network currently has capacity. If the 
developer wishes to connect to this they will need to make an application under Section 106 of the 
Water Industry Act 1991.  The surface water strategy/flood risk assessment submitted with the 
application relevant to Anglian Water is acceptable based upon a maximum discharge rate of 61 
l/s. Request that the agreed strategy is reflected in the planning approval. Recommend a condition 
specifying that no hard standing areas shall be constructed until the works have been carried out in 
accordance with the surface water strategy.

PCC Wildlife Officer (03.06.15)
No objections. The amended landscaping proposals are considered to be acceptable as are the 
proposals for bird and bat boxes. Compliance conditions are recommended.

Local Residents/Interested Parties 

Initial consultations: 934
Total number of responses: 12
Total number of objections: 10
Total number in support: 1

Note- A limited reconsultation is being carried out with residents in respect of the proposed off site 

7

87



highway works. Any further comments received will be set out to members in the update report.

Eight general neighbour letters have been received (one resident has responded twice). A specific 
objection has also been received from a local resident on heritage grounds, as have letters from 
Hunt and Coombs Solicitors and the owners of Register Officer. Finally a representation has been 
received from the Civic Society. The matters raised by these representations are set out below:-

General Representations:-
- Support the application as it will benefit the local community
- There are many primary schools in the area. The site can serve the public by constructing 

gardens, playground areas for children, cinema or theatre. Otherwise, houses can be built.
- Generally supportive of the application but have concerns about traffic and parking. Thorpe 

Road is one of the busiest roads, especially at peak times. As residents of Thorpe Lea Road a 
right turn onto Crescent Bridge can be particularly hazardous at such times. The proposal will 
result in increased traffic especially in the morning rush hour with pupils being dropped off. 
Traffic for the hospital site was spread over a wider period. We want to ensure that traffic flows 
and drop off points have been clearly thought through and catered for and that those bringing 
children to school will be obliged to strictly adhere to parking regulations. 

- Would challenge the statement in the Transport Assessment that the Midland Road/Thorpe 
Road junction functions acceptably and that no alterations are required to it. Vehicles regularly 
turn right from Midland Road onto Thorpe Road and also some turn right into Midland Road. 
Illegal movements are commonplace and this needs to be addressed given the planning 
permission sought. A major redesign of this junction is required.

- Have concerns about the entrance to the River Lane access with Thorpe Road. This is quite a 
busy entrance with some public parking areas that are meter controlled. When vehicle turn left 
visibility is poor and hampered by parked cars. Maybe removing two of the parking spaces could 
improve viability to prevent children potentially being hit. This junction is also hampered by 
illegal turns into Midland Road.

- As a resident of Thorpe Lea Road vehicles existing from Thorpe Lea Road onto Thorpe Road is 
of particular concern. At peak times it is already very difficult to make this manoeuvre. The 
provisions of a traffic light controlled crossing is clearly an aid to pedestrians but unless traffic 
lights are installed for motor vehicles it is difficult to see how this situation can be ameliorated.

- Object to the application has it will reduce the value of my property and lead to a degradation of 
the area. Vandalism, crime and anti-social behaviour will undoubtedly increase if the project 
goes ahead.

Objection on Heritage Grounds
- Object to the proposal to demolish all of the administrative core of the Memorial Hospital with 

the exception of the front façade. This is contrary to national planning policy and international 
best practice and would set a highly dubious precedent for the rest of Peterborough’s historic 
environment. 

- The Memorial Hospital was constructed in the aftermath of the Great War as the city’s first 
purpose built hospital and as a memorial for those who lost their lives in battle is of local 
historical significance. It is also a place where Peterborough’s residents have for decades 
passed through its doors. The loss of all of the one surviving building but its front façade 
removes the vast majority of its historic fabric, including the original entrance rooms that are of 
major social and historical importance. 

- Facadism is a policy that has long been obsolete in the UK as it leads to the loss of historic 
fabric and creates a ‘theme park’ approach to heritage management. That this is being 
suggested during the centenary of the First World War suggests that the applicants have no 
interest in local history, local memories and local people. 

- Paragraph 135 of the National Planning Policy Framework should be applied to this application. 
Case law indicates that the proposal should be treated as the demolition of a locally listed 
building. The scale of harm is therefore total loss and the significance of the heritage asset high. 
PP17 requires that the applicant’s provide a clear justification for the works especially if these 
would harm the asset or its setting so that the harm can be weighed against the public benefits. 
This has not happened here.

8

88



- The applicant’s justification is that the building does not meet the latest building regulation 
standards. Most buildings in the city do not. The structural survey indicates that the building is 
sound and any risk of collapse unlikely. This is a weak and unjustifiable excuse for the loss of 
an historic building.

- An alternative approach should be taken and the building strengthen with an internal metal 
frame. This would guarantee its performance to modern standards. 

- The argument about the treatment of the scarring on the retained building is facetious. The cost 
and trouble of rebuilding the majority of the Memorial Hospital would easily cover the careful 
repair of the most damaged parts of the building whilst retaining the physical evidence of the 
growth of the hospital and its expansion of services. Whilst render would appear out of place, 
other methods are available including the careful restoration of the original external brickwork 
hidden under plastering. 

- We would not stand for the demolition of the Cathedral and its replacement with a replica no 
matter how structurally sound its replacement might be. This is because we accept that the 
value of the building does not lie solely in its appearance or form but also within its age of 
construction and memories/values.

Peterborough Civic Society
Has commended as follows:-
1. Given the poor quality of the exposed flank walls of the Memorial Hospital building we consider 
that the scheme to rebuild behind the retained front façade has the potential to give a better end 
result.  However, the quality of details to be replicated, the brick bond (Flemish or other traditional 
form), how the chimneys will be built, etc., need to be carefully controlled and should require 
submission of precise architectural details and agreement by the Conservation Officer prior to 
development commencing. (For instance, the chimneys as shown on the drawings are exceedingly 
plain. They must be reconstructed accurately to replicate the existing ones.) It is important that this 
building looks as if it were original and the fact that it is largely a rebuild should not be immediately 
obvious.

2. Whilst the 3 storey teaching block could be argued to be utilitarian in character, it has the 
potential to work well as a modern counterpoint to the existing Hospital building. However the 
south elevation to Thorpe Road is poor and not well articulated. We strongly urge that the 
Applicant should be asked to review the treatment of this highly visible end of the building.

3. The principle of a 2 storey link block containing the school hall serves, appropriately, to maintain 
the dominance of the Memorial Hospital building.

4. We support the use of the Memorial Hospital for teaching space on the first floor, this will help it 
be properly integrated into the school.

5. We are disappointed that the setting of the retained historic façade has not been improved by 
the removal of the car parking spaces in front and their replacement with landscaping, far more 
fitting for what is in effect a war memorial.

6. Finally there will be many people in Peterborough who are expecting the entire building to be 
retained. Once demolition starts we urge that explanatory signs are displayed on the site to provide 
a measure of reassurance that the entire building is not to be demolished.

Hunt and Coombs Solicitors/Owners of the Register Office have made the following 
representations:-
Of the view that there are a number of significant issues arising as a consequence of the 
development which would have a serious detrimental impact on neighbouring properties and 
business for which inadequate consideration has been given. Concerns can be categorised as 
follows:-

1. Arrangement for the dropping off and collection of children. 
Businesses like ours have start times for staff arriving from 8am with the main staff arriving at 

9

89



8.45am. The school opening times are therefore going to be at a peak time for use when staff 
(approximately 80 personnel at Hunt and Coombs) arrive. There are many examples of plans for 
other schools where consideration has been given to parking and drop off areas for parents to use 
at these key times of day. There are currently no bays of any kind provided for the dropping off of 
children. This is a serious omission and will cause chaos on Thorpe Road. Consideration should 
be given to removing staff parking and allowing this area to be used for drop off and pick up.

Note that the parking bay on the north side of Thorpe Road is to be removed. As such there will be 
an absence of any drop off spaces for parents to use on Thorpe Road. 

Finally, under the plans there is only a single file of traffic allowed for moving into Peterborough 
along Thorpe Road and there is therefore no opportunity for passing or a greater flow of traffic 
moving into town.

2. Traffic Volumes of Thorpe Road
There are three or four months a year when the bridge of Thorpe Road is blocked with traffic, 
extending up Thorpe Road beyond Thorpe Lea Road. This is a considerable problem to local 
businesses and the addition of further vehicles at peak times will make it impossible for local 
businesses to get their staff to work on time and for Hunt and Coombs staff to get to Court first 
thing. The highway plans for Thorpe Road appear to create greater restrictions to the flow of traffic 
by narrowing the road, together with higher traffic volumes creating grid lock. Parents are likely to 
stop on Thorpe Road whilst children are deposited on the pavement to make their own short way 
to the school (rather than turning into Midland Road).

They are also concerned about some traffic which has travelled westwards over Thorpe Bridge 
which then ,presumably illegally, turns right into Midland Road. In their view once the school is 
open, numbers of cars doing this difficult turn will increase as car drivers wish to deliver their 
school children to the setting down area. It is suggested that the City Council should either: (a) 
make it impossible for this manoeuvre to take place by minor works or (b) alter the Midland Road 
entrance and install a right turning lane so that this can take place more safely. Any argument that 
this is a police matter to enforce is invalidated by their unwillingness and inability to stop the 
culprits at present – they have far more pressing matters requiring their attention. 

3. Access 
Hunt and Coombs have advised that their business has two entrances one off Thorpe Road (where 
the majority of staff and visitors park) and the other off Thorpe Lea Road. They currently use the 
chevron area to turn right into the car park without restricting the flow of traffic into Peterborough. 
This access is already at a dangerous level and there have been several near misses. They do not 
consider it appropriate to narrow the road or indeed to remove any of the central chevron for 
turning purposes. They have suggested that it would be more appropriate to reinforce the 
protection of the central area by widening the road to enable safe movement of traffic and space 
for vehicles to turn right into their front entrance. 

Hunt and Coombs are also concerned about the potential of unauthorised parking in their car park 
as a result of parents looking for space to drop off and pick up children. 

4. Pedestrian Crossing Arrangements
Both Hunt and Coombs and the Owners of the Register Office have commented that they have 
grave doubts about the appropriateness of the location of the light controlled junction which in their 

10

90



view will create serious highway disadvantages. It will lead to the stacking of traffic approaching 
from Crescent Bridge thereby obstructing safe ingress and egress from River Lane and the 
business access at 33 and 35 Thorpe Road. It will also lead to traffic backing up along Thorpe to 
the entrance to Sessions House. There would also be confusion for drivers wishing to turn into or 
out of Thorpe Lea Road. 

They are of the view that there would be considerable merit in moving the crossing further 
westwards, making use of the existing crossing on Thorpe Road. This would create a connection 
between the pedestrian approach to the new playground and the footpath alongside the flats at 
Grovewood and into Kirklands Close. This would mean children would not encounter moving 
vehicles and could walk more directly to and from the open space. 

5 Assessment of the planning issues

The main considerations are:-

1. The Principle of Development
2. Highway Impacts and car parking
3. Impact upon the Heritage Asset
4. Other Layout Matters 
5. Landscape/Ecological Impacts
6. Other matters including drainage, contamination, archaeology, air quality and construction 
management

1. The Principle of Development
The former District Hospital site which the current application area falls within was identified for 
redevelopment under policy CC13 of the old Local Plan (pending the relocation of medical facilities 
to the new hospital site in Bretton). The redevelopment of the site as a principle has been carried 
forward under policy CC4 of the new City Centre DPD.

In 2010 a Supplemental Planning Guidance document was prepared setting out the types of 
development envisaged on the site. It did not require the provision of a school site but outlined that 
the need for one was not clear. 

By the time the outline application came forward last year it had become apparent that there is a 
shortfall of primary school places across the city, this area being no exception, with most primary 
schools either having been or in the process of expansion. Expansion of the existing West Town 
School (being the nearest school to the hospital site) was looked at but not considered to be 
feasible as it is on a very constrained site (more so than the current application site) with no room 
for expansion. In addition, its buildings are in a poor state of repair and do not provide modern 
teaching spaces given their age (early 19th century). Children’s Services advised that without the 
inclusion of a new school there would be a shortfall of primary school places in the area moving 
forward. This would have put at risk the redevelopment of the hospital site as there would have 
been unmet infrastructure requirements. The National Planning Policy Framework also places 
great weight upon meeting school place requirements.

It was therefore agreed with the new owners of the hospital site to include land for a new primary 
school site as part of the hospital redevelopment. The outline application, along with new houses, 
therefore included the provision of a three form of entry primary school on the corner of Midland 
Road and Thorpe Road. The provision of this land for the school formed a pivotal part of the 
Section 106 Agreement for the site as a whole. 

11

91



The outline planning application came before Planning and Environmental Protection Committee in 
July 2014 and Members resolved to grant planning permission recognising the need to ensure 
sufficient school places thereby establishing the principle of putting a school in the location/ site 
area which is the subject of this application. Following demolition and remediation work the school 
site was handed over to the Council earlier this year.

As indicated under section 1 above, this application has been submitted as a full application rather 
than reserved matters application because of issues relating to the retained administrative core of 
the Memorial Hospital which are discussed in detail under part 3 below. Notwithstanding this, the 
principle of development must be considered as established.

One of the objectors has commented that there are many primary schools in the area and that the 
site should therefore be used for some other purpose such as a garden or theatre or housing. The 
school is required for the reasons set out above, namely to meet school place demand in the area 
including that from the new development.

If planning permission is granted for the current detailed scheme Children’s Services have 
confirmed that it is intended to open the school for September 2016, which is a very tight 
timescale. Works would need to commence on site in September 2015. 

It is important to note, however, that it is not intended for the school to be full with 630 pupils upon 
its opening, especially given the intention that it will meet the school place needs of children 
moving into the newly developed hospital site. Children’s Services have confirmed that all of the 
existing children from West Town School, some 300, would move across as of 2016 equating to 
approximately 45 within each year group. The reception year intake would be increased to 90 
pupils. The pupil number will then be increased year on year until it reaches its capacity.

In light of the history of the site the principle of development must now be considered as 
established under the provisions of the National Planning Framework, policy CS12 of the adopted 
Core Strategy and the outline planning permission.

2. Highway Impacts 
Traffic Impacts
The traffic impacts of redeveloping the hospital site as a whole were assessed as part of the 
outline planning application. As this is a full application the original Transport Assessment (TA) has 
been resubmitted. 

The starting point for assessing the traffic impact of this development and that of the wider site, has 
to be the level of traffic associated with its former use as a hospital which was not insubstantial. 
The TA concludes that the overall level of traffic from the development would not be greater than 
that from the hospital use albeit that the flows are slightly different. The Local Highway Authority 
has confirmed that figures used in the Transport Assessment are appropriate and therefore that it 
agrees with the conclusions set out therein. 

Also included within the scheme are two elements of off site highway works which formed part of 
the outline application, namely the signalisation of the Thorpe Road/Thorpe Lea Road junction 
including a new pedestrian crossing to school and works to Midland Road. The pedestrian crossing 
point will enable safe access by pupils to the land at Thorpe Meadows where it is anticipated that 
the school will relocate its playing fields to. In the short term it will continue to use its existing fields 
off West Arcade.

The works to Midland Road comprise changes to the alignment of the junction with Thorpe Road to 
make this tighter and the creation of a new raised table to the south of the school access. Also 
included are the creation of a number of new car parking bays, similar to those which exist further 
along the road. The Local Highway Authority has indicated that these bays will be able to 
accommodate in the region of 20 vehicles.

12

92



The aim of the junction works is to prevent illegal manoeuvres into and out of Midland Road and to 
reduce vehicles speeds along it as part of an overall change in character along the road as it 
becomes more residential in character.

No on site pick up or drop off facility is proposed given the size of the site, limited room available 
and nature of its catchment (see further comments below).

Having considered the traffic impacts the Local Highway Authority has raised no objections. 
Members also considered that the general traffic impacts of the development and the site as a 
whole were acceptable in approving the outline planning permission which set the location and size 
of the school site.

The Local Highway Authority has recommended the imposition of a number of conditions including 
requirements for the off site highway works, the provision of parking (vehicle and cycle- see below) 
and visibility splays.

Highway Objections
A number of objections to the application have been received on highway grounds, notably from 
Hunt and Coombs Solicitors and the owners of the Register Officer who feel that insufficient 
consideration has been given to the impact upon existing businesses located close to the site.

Their first area of concern relates to the overall increase in traffic associated with the school and 
the scope for existing traffic congestion on Thorpe Road to be exacerbated, especially in the 
morning peak, which will impede staff getting into work. Linked to this they are concerned about 
proposals to remove the existing layby on Thorpe Road and the overall lack of parking provision for 
drop off and pick up.

These concerns are noted but as already set out the level of traffic is comparable with the hospital 
use. Also, looking at the catchment of the school the Local Highway Authority is of the view that 
Midland Road is more likely to be main route used by parents to access the school site than 
Thorpe Road.

As set out above the school will also not open with 630 pupils. There will be a gradual increase in 
pupil numbers hopefully in line with the build out of the hospital site. Children’s Services predict 
that in the next year some 89% of pupils will be within walking distance to the school. The existing 
school has a very high percentage of children who walk to it and there is no reason why this should 
fundamentally change given that the new school will be located only a couple of hundred metres 
south of the existing. Notwithstanding this, as set out above, works are also proposed to Midland 
Road including the provision of new on-site parking bays. Whilst not specifically designed for drop 
off and pick up these bays will be available for this purpose. 

The Local Highway Authority has looked at scope for additional drop off/pick up provision along 
Midland Road but is of the view that this is not practical as it would not wish to see the width of the 
road reduced further.

As indicated above, no on site drop off or pick up facility is proposed in light of the above and the 
fact that the site is small with limited play space for the children to use. It has been suggested that 
no staff parking should be provided and all of the parking area used for drop off and pick up. This is 
not considered to be an appropriate arrangement, especially given that a reduced parking 

13

93



provision for staff is already being accepted (see further comments below). There also has to be a 
balance as existing travel patterns are established and there is a concern that if it is made too easy 
for people to drop off/pick by car then the modal share of pupils travelling to the school will change 
significantly in favour of car borne trips which would obviously not be desirable. The layby on 
Thorpe Road has to be removed given the proposed signalisation of the junction as otherwise 
people would effectively be able to by-pass the lights (see further comments below).

Works to the Midland Road junction should help address the concerns which have been raised 
about illegal manoeuvres. When the outline planning permission for the hospital was considered a 
range of options were assessed including the possibility of signalising the junction. However, 
options are very limited given the River Lane junction opposite (which means signalisation won’t 
work). The proposals put forward are considered to be the most appropriate solution in light of the 
constraints. It has been suggested that a right turn filter lane should be provided into Midland 
Road. This has been considered by the Local Highway Authority but they have advised that in their 
view there would be no benefit from such arrangement. 

With regard to the signalisation of the Thorpe Road/Thorpe Lea Road junction although this is 
included as part of the off site highway works for the hospital site the Corporate Director of Growth 
and Regeneration has confirmed that he would seek to implement this scheme anyway (The Local 
Highway Authority can carry out highway works without needing to submit a planning application) 
in light of concerns which have been raised with him regarding the difficulties of accessing Thorpe 
Lea Road especially at peak times. The only element needed to make the current scheme 
acceptable is the inclusion of a pedestrian crossing. As the outline application progressed a basic 
junction design including a crossing to the eastern side of the junction, was drawn up. This was 
presented to members at Planning and Environmental Protection Committee and approved as part 
of the outline application under the S106 Agreement.

It has been suggested that either the existing pedestrian crossing on Thorpe Road should be used 
or that a new pedestrian crossing should be provided further west. There is an informal crossing a 
short distance away near the entrance to the City Care Centre but this would not be appropriate for 
children to use. There is a formal pedestrian crossing to the west side of Alderman’s Drive but this 
is considered to be too far away from the school and would be an unacceptable diversion given the 
age of a number of the children. The Local Highway Authority will take a view as to whether to 
retain this crossing once the Thorpe Lea Road junction is signalised. The Local Highway Authority 
has confirmed that it would not support the inclusion of an additional separate pedestrian crossing 
because of the potential impact on traffic flows. Incorporating the pedestrian crossing into the 
signalised junction is the most appropriate response.

In light of the concerns which have been raised, however, it is now proposed to put the pedestrian 
crossing to the west side of the new signalised junction (the original plans showed it on the eastern 
side)  further way from the access into numbers 35 and 33 Thorpe Road. In addition, it is proposed 
to add in a designated right turn lane to Hunt and Coombs access. Keep clear markings could also 
be considered. The existing chevron area outside of their office cannot be retained in its entirety 
with the signalisation but it is hoped that the amended plans go some way toward addressing the 
concerns which have been raised. The amended junction plans have undergone a basic Safety 
Audit which concludes that scheme could in principle be safely implemented. Relocation of the 
pedestrian crossing to the west side of the traffic lights should also help address the concerns 
which Hunt and Coombs have expressed regarding the miss-use of their car park. It should be 
noted, however, that this is not a material planning consideration which members can take into 
account when considering the application.

A limited public reconsulation is being carried out on the off site highway works plans and any 
further comments/representations will be set out to members in the Update Report.

Notwithstanding the objections which have been raised, having considered all of the above issues 

14

94



the proposal is considered to be acceptable in highway terms, especially given the approval of the 
outline application, in accordance with policy PP12 of the adopted Planning Policies DPD.

Travel Plan and Parking Management Plan
The application is also supported by a Travel Plan and Parking Management Plan which will help 
reduce car borne trips to the site and also help regulate the behaviour of parents dropping off and 
picking up. An amended Travel Plan has been submitted in light of further feedback from the 
Travel Choice Team on some of the detailed aspects. Both the Travel Choice Team and Local 
Highway Authority have confirmed that the amended plan is now acceptable. A compliance 
condition is, therefore, recommended.

Subject to the above the proposal is considered to comply with policy CS14 of the adopted Core 
Strategy.

Car Parking/ Loading Space
The application proposes 33 car parking spaces for staff. Under policy PP13 of the planning 
polices DPD one space per member of staff is allowed. The number of spaces proposed is below 
this standard. However, a lower provision is considered to be acceptable in this instance given the 
location of the school. It is accessible by a number of different means of transport and there are a 
number of car parks in the vicinity of the site which could be used by staff if required.

A tracking plan has been provided to show the on-site turning/loading space for service vehicles. 
The Local Highway Authority has confirmed that this is acceptable. Conditions requiring the 
provision of the car parking and the loading/turning space before the new school is opened are 
recommended.

Cycle Parking
The application proposes 42 cycle stands, 2 for visitors, 10 for staff and 30 for pupils. Whilst this is 
below the provision set out in policy PP13 of the adopted Planning Policies DPD which requires a 
provision of one stand per 8 members of staff and one stand per 6 pupils, it is considered to be 
reasonable given the existing modal share of pupils who cycle. A condition is, however, 
recommended requiring the provision of additional cycle or scooter parking in the event that 
additional demand is identified through the travel planning process.

The proposal is therefore considered to comply with policy PP13 of the adopted Planning Policies 
DPD.

3. Impact upon the Heritage Asset
Retention of the administrative core of the Memorial Hospital
The Memorial Hospital was constructed 1928-29 as a memorial to the men of the city and 
members of the 6th Northampton Regiment who died in the Great War and was funded by public 
subscription. Plaques in the entrance to the building commemorate those who gave money to 
construct the building. In the 1960s it was incorporated into the main Peterborough District Hospital 
site. 

Over the years a number of extensions, demolitions and internal alterations have taken place to 
the original building to function as part of the District Hospital. This work has changed the internal 
fabric and layout, including the removal of part of the main staircase and the installation of new 
partition walls. 

As indicated under Section 1 above, the Memorial Hospital is a ‘Building of Local Importance’ 
because of its historical significance within the city as a war memorial and presence in the street 
scene. As a Building of Local Importance it is classed as a ‘non designated heritage asset’ which 
means that it is not afforded the same legal protection as a listed building and planning permission 
is not required for any internal works to it. As a non designed heritage asset there is also no 
requirement to consult with Historic England (formally English Heritage).

15

95



As part of the redevelopment of the Peterborough District Hospital site as a whole, Officers were of 
the view that this was an important local heritage asset which should be retained and incorporated 
into the new development. Using the building as part of the new school site was considered to be a 
good way of achieving this objective. At the outline planning stage it was proposed to demolish the 
pavilion ‘wings’ of the Memorial Hospital and to retain its core. The core building is the former 
administration block which consisted at ground floor of an entrance hall with memorial plaques, 
offices, and board room and at first floor doctor’s rooms and a flat for the matron.  

Retention of the whole building was considered but not found to be feasible given the need to 
create modern teaching spaces. It was also not considered necessary from a heritage perspective, 
as alterations and changes undertaken when it was an operational hospital building, had left the 
wings with very little resemblance to their original design. The core of the building was the main 
focal point and area of interest. Members agreed with this approach and resolved to grant outline 
planning permission on this basis. 

The pavilion ‘wings’ of the building have now been demolished and the retained administrative core 
building made watertight. With the demolition of the wings the full extent of the alterations to the 
original core building have become apparent. 

As detailed design proposals for the scheme have been progressed the applicant has identified 
that the existing roof has come to the end of its natural life and will need to be replaced. As part of 
this work the original chimneys which are substantial weight bearing structures will need to be 
removed and replaced. Given the use of cement mortar it is not expected that the bricks can be 
saved and re-used (the bricks from the demolished elements could not be retained for this reason).

Internal works were also identified within the core building (as indicated these do not need planning 
permission) to create new teaching spaces removing a number of original internal walls, albeit that 
it was advised that these would be constrained because of the building’s design and would not 
therefore create the best teaching environment for the school.

During this detailed design process it was also identified that the scheme would be subject to a 
change of use under Regulation 5 of the Building Regulations (England and Wales) 2010 No 2214. 
Even though the building was in use as a hospital which the public visited on a daily basis, under 
the Building Regulations it was not classed as a public building whereas as a school it would be. 
Under Part A of the Buildings Regulations, particularly part 3A, where there is a change of use of a 
building the issue of ‘disproportionate collapse’ needs to be addressed. This means that the 
building needs to be constructed in such a way that if it was hit by a vehicle (or subject to other 
substantial incident / damage) the remaining building would not collapse.

Although the building is currently sound (as the structural report indicates) the applicant’s 
Structural Engineer is of the view that in the event of an accident which would remove a key 
element, such as a load bearing wall, this would lead to a catastrophic failure of the building, and a 
likely collapse. As such the Engineer’s report considers that the building is not fit for a school under 
its current design against the current regulations on disproportionate collapse no matter how 
unlikely the situation is to actually arise.

This lead to the consideration of a number of options. The first was for the Applicant and/or the City 
Council as Education Authority to accept liability (risk) in the event of an accident and collapse of 
the building. The second was to increase the stability of the building by retrofitting a new internal 
steel structure and the third was to demolish the remaining part of the core building, with the 
exception of the facade and to rebuild so that the building would meet modern building standards 
(resolving the issue of disproportionate collapse). .

Both the Applicant and the City Council as Education Authority took the view that they were not 
prepared to accept the liabilities and risk required which in turn called into doubt the delivery of the 
new school and future of the core building.

16

96



The second option, the insertion of a substantial steel frame, was considered but would involve the 
loss of much of the remaining historic fabric and changes to internal space and layout.  The costs 
involved with this approach would also be substantial (and greater than the cost of the third option).

It is, therefore, the third option, that of retention of the facade and rebuilding which has been put 
forward for consideration. Whilst resulting in the loss of the historic fabric of the building this option 
has the advantage of allowing good new teaching spaces to be designed, space for the original 
commemorative plagues to be incorporated within the new reception entrance hall and the sides of 
the building to be rebuilt using matching brick and brick bond.  The north, south and west walls of 
the retained core building are heavily scarred from alterations and there are visual benefits in a 
rebuild approach rather than the use of a render (as set out in the outline application).  

Applications which result in an impact upon non- designated heritage assets need to assessed 
under paragraph 135 of the National Planning Policy Framework which sets out that ‘the effect of 
an application on the significance of a non-designated heritage asset should be taken into account 
in determining the application. In weighing applications that affect directly or indirectly non 
designated heritage assets, a balanced judgement will be required having regard to the scale of 
any harm or loss and the significant of the heritage assets’.

Policy PP17 of the adopted Planning Policies DPD which is also a relevant consideration requires 
amongst other matters development proposals which affect any heritage asset to justify the works, 
especially if they harm the asset, so that the harm can be weighed against public benefits.

In this case it is acknowledged that the harm to the non-designated heritage asset would be 
significant, resulting in almost complete demolition of it and therefore loss of original building fabric 
and social history. The requirements under other legislation cannot be used to justify the approach 
proposed, neither can a decision on heritage impacts be made solely on cost grounds. However, 
the decision is a balanced judgement and in this instance it has to be weighed against a number of 
factors. 

As set out above the building has already undergone substantial alteration resulting the loss of 
historic fabric from its time as part of the District Hospital. Further internal alterations could be 
made to the building as its internal elements are not protected. This would result in the loss of 
further historic fabric either now or at a later date. Regardless of which approach is taken the 
original roof will need to be removed and replaced along with the original chimneys. 

The retained core building is heavily scarred from all the alterations made to it and there are 
benefits in a rebuild approach as this will create a much better finish than the original approach of 
using render to exposed walls (north and south). The building will be prominent in the street scene 
over a long distance and providing brick gables will provide a better finish visually. The 
reconstruction of the building can faithfully replicate the detail of the existing including matching 
brick, brick bond and cornice detail.

Lastly, the approach allows better teaching spaces to be created which will serve the children 
going forward. The new reception entrance hall will also include a prominent place for the original 
plaques to be displayed. These elements result in a scheme with substantial public benefit to the 
local community moving forward.  It is on these cumulative grounds that Officers have, on balance, 
come to the view that the current proposal can be supported under the provisions of paragraph 135 
of the National Planning Policy Framework and policy PP17 of the adopted Planning Policies PDP.

Heritage Objection
As reported under section 4 an objection to the scheme has been received on heritage grounds. 
The rationale of Officer’s in putting forward their recommendation has been set out above and so is 
not duplicated here. It is a question of balance in reaching a recommendation and Officers have 
given greater weight to the justification and rationale put forward including the benefits of the 
scheme than the objector who does not consider that these outweigh the harm. 

17

97



With regard to the comment on facadism being an obsolete policy resulting in a ‘theme park’ 
approach whilst it is acknowledged that this is a less common design approach it is still appropriate 
in certain circumstances.

With regard to the comment about the risk involved in retaining and protecting the façade during 
the demolition a condition will be imposed requiring the applicant to provide a method statement 
setting out how this will achieved but there is no reason with modern building technology to 
suppose that it cannot be done.

The comments regarding the Cathedral are noted but this is not considered to be a comparable 
example and the National Policy Framework is clear that different levels of protection should be 
given to a heritage asset reflecting its significance. The Cathedral is grade I listed and clearly a 
more important heritage asset. Any proposal relating to it would therefore need to meet more 
stringent tests including assessment under paragraph 133 of the National Planning Policy 
Framework.

In consideration of the above proposal it should also be noted that the Civic Society has not raised 
an objection to the proposed approach given the quality of the retained building (subject to the 
quality of the details of the replacement building) and has recognised the benefits in terms of the 
final appearance and finish of the building.

The Detailed Scheme 
As set out it is proposed to retain the façade of the building. The existing quoins on the right hand 
side front have been destroyed as a result in later additions. These will be recreated using a 
purpose made brick. 

The portico will be repaired, renewed and re-decorated. It has been agreed that a modern 
membrane will replace lead work to the roof as this element is not readily seen. A new door will be 
required, the final design of which will be agreed with Officers before it is installed. The door will 
need to be secure and so will be aluminium with a powder coated finish rather than wood. The 
current door is not original and projects forward of the original existing frame. The frame can be 
retained and the new door recessed to reveal the stone surround. 

The walls of the new building will be constructed using a close match brick which has been agreed 
on site with Officers. The existing drainage arrangement will be replicated.

As indicated above the existing roof will be removed and replaced with new pantiles, the finish of 
which will be agreed with Officers. The existing chimneys will also be replaced with light weight 
modern replicas the finish of which will be agreed. The plans originally showed a plain replacement 
design but this has now been amended so that they replicate the existing, reflecting comments 
from the Civic Society and Conservation Officer.

In terms of the design of the new school buildings, the intention has always been to incorporate the 
Memorial Building whilst ensuring that it retains its own identity and is not overpowered by the new 
build, especially given the need for this to be three storey. 

The detailed design proposes a new hall directly to the rear of the Memorial Building which 
effectively forms a link element to the new three storey teaching spaces to the rear of the site. The 
hall is lower in height than the Memorial Building and will sit below the eaves thereby giving it a 
subservient appearance. A linear design feature has also been incorporated. Visually this creates a 
break between the new and the old.

It was also agreed at an early stage of the design that it would not be appropriate for the new build 
elements to try and replicate the design of the Memorial Hospital as this would create a pastiche. 
The new build is quite modern in its appearance which is considered to be appropriate without 
overshadowing the Memorial Hospital. The new elements will have a brick base with render at a 
higher level. Colour has been introduced to break up the design of the new elements and is also 

18

98



fitting for the use of the building as a primary school.

Discussion has taken place with the applicant regarding the screening to the plant area on the 
north side of the building. Wooden fencing was originally proposed above a brick base which 
Officers considered looked out of place, especially given the design of the remaining building. The 
plans now propose a more industrial cladding which will be colour coated to match the windows. 
This element is now considered to be acceptable.

The Civic Society raised some concerns about the south elevation of the building which will front 
onto Thorpe Road. They commented that this was poor and not well articulated. Officers were of 
the view that this element would not be particularly visible given the set back from the road and the 
extent of trees around the edge of the site. Notwithstanding this, the applicant was asked to amend 
the plans to enlarge the windows and also introduced some colour. It is considered that these 
changes have enhanced the scheme. The updated plans have been sent to the Civic Society and 
any further comments received from it will be set out to members in the Update Report.

With regard to boundary treatment it is proposed to put in a railing to Thorpe Road and the initial 
Midland Road frontage. It will be placed on the existing wall and be 1.80 metres in height. This is 
considered to be a more appropriate boundary treatment for the locality than weldmesh fencing. 
The final alignment of the fencing will need to be adjusted to take into consideration the access 
requirements of UK Power Networks in relation to the substation. This can be addressed via a 
condition. New railings are proposed on the dwarf wall at the front of the site, 1.2 metres in height, 
at the request of the Conservation Officer. It is considered that their inclusion will enhance the 
appearance of the site. Weldmesh fencing (2.4 metres) is proposed around the remaining 
boundaries and within the site (set back from the Memorial Building to create a secure boundary 
line). There is no objection to this. 

One of the objectives of the scheme has always been to secure community use of the Memorial 
Building to enhance its use. A condition requiring the submission and approval of a scheme of 
community use is therefore recommended.

Comments from the Peterborough Civic Society
As set out under section 4 the Peterborough Civic Society has made a number of detailed 
comments on the scheme. Their point about the south elevation has been addressed above. 

The Civic Society has commented that it is disappointed the setting of the Memorial Building has 
not been improved by the removal of the car parking spaces from in front of it and replaced with 
landscaping. Whilst this comment is noted and would be the ideal approach, this has to be 
balanced with the other requirements of a functioning school, one of which is car parking. As 
already discussed under part 2 car parking and traffic is a concern which would be further 
exacerbated by such an approach. Furthermore, the existing building has had car parking in front 
of it for a number of years, so the current proposal does not change this arrangement.

The Civic Society has also commented that there will be a number of people expecting the whole 
building to be retained and as such it would be appropriate to put up some explanatory signs when 
works starts to explain what is happening. This is considered to be a sensible approach and whilst 
it is not something that could be conditioned (as it would not pass the tests required for conditions) 
the applicant will be asked to do this. An informative is therefore recommended.

Having considered all the above matters the proposed design of the new school is considered to 
be acceptable in accordance with policy PP2 of the adopted Planning Policies DPD and policy 
CS16 of the adopted Core Strategy.

Impact on Sessions House
The proposed new buildings will lie in close proximity to Sessions House which is a grade II Listed 
Building on Thorpe Road. It will be separated from the school site by a proposed new area of open 
space. Whilst the three storey element is not insubstantial it is considered that the proposal would 

19

99



not result in any harm to the setting of this listed building. Arguably its setting will be improved with 
the removal of the surrounding taller hospital buildings. 

The proposal is, therefore, considered to comply with paragraph 66 of the Planning (Listed 
Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 1990, policy CS17 of the adopted Core Strategy and the 
provisions of the National Planning Policy Framework.

4. Other Layout Matters

Sport England
Sport England has been consulted on the application albeit on a non statutory basis. It has raised 
no objection to the scheme noting that whilst it is a constrained site there will be an overall 
improvement in sport facilities with the new hall and games area.

Noise
The application is accompanied by a Noise Assessment. This concludes that noise levels at the 
school require either significant acoustically attenuated natural ventilation or a mechanical 
ventilation design in order to provide the occupants of the building a satisfactory environment. 
Mechanical ventilation has been adopted as the preferred approach, offering the lowest and most 
controllable mean internal noise levels and given the greatest protection against noise peaks from 
traffic etc. The Council’s Environmental Health Officer has raised no objection to this approach.

With regard to external noise levels these will be higher than the generally accepted guidance level 
of 55 dBA. No acoustic fencing is proposed to the edge of the site in this instance given the need 
to balance this with appearance in light of its prominent position on the corner of Thorpe Road. If 
the school were subsequently of the view that noise levels are too high for the external play areas 
they would have the option of installing acoustic fencing within the site. 

Given the location of the site it is not considered that the external play areas would have any 
unacceptable impact upon the amenity of the surrounding area and the Council’s Environmental 
Health Section has raised no concerns in this regard.

The application also includes some external plant. The acoustic report recommended plant noise 
emissions of 49dB LA90 T during the day (07.00-19.00), 45 dB LA90 T during the evening (19.00-
23.00) and 39 dB LA90 T during the night (23.00- 07.00). However, recent background noise levels 
taken from Midland Road indicate lower back ground noise levels in the locality. On a 
precautionary basis the Council’s Environmental Health Section have recommended lower noise 
levels of  45dB LA90 T during the day (07.00-19.00), 40 dB LA90 T during the evening (19.00-
23.00) and 35 dB LA90 T during the night (23.00- 07.00). The applicant has been advised of these 
and has confirmed that their scheme can meet these requirements. A condition to this effect is 
therefore recommended.

Odour
The Council’s Environmental Health Section has advised that all ventilation of steam and cooking 
fumes to the atmosphere should be suitably filtered to avoid nuisance from smells, grease or 
smoke. The applicant has submitted an odour assessments which indicates a low to medium risk 
impact. A condition requiring that details of the equipment be agreed before its installation is 
therefore recommended.

Security
A number of comments were originally made by the Police Architectural Liaison Officer on points of 
detail including the nature of the boundary treatment and specification of doors and windows.
He has discussed these points with the applicant and confirmed that he is now happy and will work 
with the applicant outside the planning process to agree specific specifications. He has not 
therefore requested the imposition of any planning conditions.

Sustainability

20

100



The Design and Access Statement summarises the measures proposed to meet the requirements 
of policy CS10 (Environment Capital) including a highly efficient gas boiler, improved U-values to 
minimise heat loss (calculations to demonstrate this have been provided), automatically controlled 
lighting, low flush toilets and water saving taps. A condition requiring the implementation of these 
measures is recommended.

Lighting
The application is supported by a detailed lighting scheme. A compliance condition is in respect of 
this is recommended.

Other Matters
One of the neighbour representations received has objected to the school on the grounds that it 
will result in a loss of property value and an increase in anti- social behaviour. The reasoning 
behind this concern is not given but it is not considered that additional antisocial behaviour is likely 
to result. As set out above the details of the scheme have been discussed with the Police 
Architectural Officer who has raised no objections. Loss of property value is not a material planning 
consideration and cannot therefore be taken into account.

5. Landscape/Ecological Impacts

As indicated under section 1 the application site contains a number of trees which are protected by 
a Tree Preservation Order. The application is supported by a detailed Arboricultural Impact 
Assessment and Tree Protection Drawings. These have been revised following a detailed site 
meeting with the Council’s Tree Officer.

The proposal would result in the loss of three individual trees within the site all of which are 
category C trees. Although covered by a Tree Preservation Order the Tree Officer has not raised 
any objection to the removal of these trees in light of their condition and the need for the layout of 
the site to work practically for the school. 33 individual trees along with a group of trees and a 
hedge would be retained. Pruning works will be needed to the hedge at the front and to other trees 
notably along the internal site access road in order facilities future access by emergency vehicles 
(a minimum clearance height is needed)  A summary of these works is set out on the Arboricultural 
Impact Assessment.

The detailed plans set out areas where ‘no dig’ techniques will be used such as to install the new 
hard play area to minimise the amount of disturbance within the root protection areas of the trees 
and the drainage has also been designed so that this does not go through root protection areas. 

With regard to the detailed landscape proposals it is intended to put artificial grass down in a 
number of areas including under trees within the centre of the site. This is partly because of the soil 
conditions (to ensure it is free from any contamination), because grass won’t grow under these 
trees and also to minimise the amount of works which have to be done within their root protection 
areas. The Council’s Tree Officer has raised no objection to this approach and considers the 
landscaping scheme to be acceptable. 

Given the sensitivity of the site a condition requiring that the development be carried out in 
accordance with the Arboricultural Impact Assessment and Tree Protection drawings is 
recommended. Any amendments required to these documents following reconsultation with the 
Tree Officer will be set out to members in the update report. As part of this condition it has also 
been agreed to hold a pre-commencement meeting on site which the Council’s Tree Officer will 
attend in order to make any final adjustments to the scheme. 

As set out a new boundary railing is proposed around the edge of the site. The introduction of 
fencing along the Thorpe Road/Midland Road frontage has the potential to adversely affect the 
retained trees so the works will need to be carried out with appropriate consideration. It has been 
agreed with the Tree Officer that a detailed scheme will be submitted before the works are carried 
out to ensure that an appropriate method of working is used and also so that fence post positions 

21

101



can be discussed/agreed. A condition to this effect is recommended.

Following the meeting on site with the Tree Officer an amended site set up plan has been 
submitted to avoid adverse impact upon the trees. The Tree Officer has confirmed that the 
amended plan is acceptable. 

The Council’s Wildlife Officer has not raised any objections to the scheme. He originally advised 
that one of the species specified as part of the landscaping scheme should be amended to a native 
species. This amendment has been made so the landscaping scheme is now considered to be 
acceptable.

The Wildlife Officer also requested a scheme for the provision of bird and bat boxes. This 
information has now been submitted and is considered to be acceptable. A compliance condition is 
therefore recommended.

Having considered the landscaping and ecological issues, subject to conditions, the proposal is 
considered to comply with policy PP16 of the adopted Planning Policies DPD.

6. Other Matters 

Air Quality
An air quality assessment was submitted with the original outline application and has been 
resubmitted with this application as it is a full application. This concludes that potential impact of 
traffic upon air quality is negligible and therefore that no specific mitigation measures are required. 
This conclusion is accepted by the Council’s Environmental Health Section. 

Archaeology
Archaeological assessment of the site was carried out earlier this year under the outline planning 
permission. No archaeology was uncovered. Given this, the Council’s Archaeologist has not 
requested that any further assessment work be carried out.

Contamination 
Under the provision of the outline planning permission site investigation works were carried out and 
the site remediated before it was transferred to the Council. Given this, the only condition which is 
recommended in respect of contamination is one in the event that any unsuspected contamination 
is located.

Drainage
Surface Water
The Council’s Drainage Team as the Lead Local Flood Authority made a number of comments on 
the drainage plans. Following these comments an amended scheme has been submitted. The 
plans then had to be further revised to remove a drainage run from the root protection areas of the 
retained trees. The Council’s Drainage Team have confirmed that the amended plans and 
calculations are acceptable to it. A compliance condition is, therefore, recommended. 

No objections to the surface water drainage strategy have been received from Anglian Water.

Waste Water
Anglian Water has commented that the waste water treatment works at Flag Fen does not have 
capacity to accommodate the flows arising from the development. This comment has been queried 
as capacity was available when the outline application was considered. Anglian Water has 
indicated that this is no longer the case. However, it is Anglian Water’s responsibility to ensure that 
sufficient capacity in the system is available to accommodate consented development and it will, 
therefore, have to take any necessary steps. It does not render the current application 
unacceptable in any way or mean that planning permission should not be granted. Neither has 
Anglian Water suggested that this be the case. 

22

102



Foul Drainage
Anglian Water has not requested any conditions relating to foul drainage as the proposal looks 
acceptable in principle. A detailed application will need to be made to it under Section 104 of the 
Water Industry Act. The Environmental Agency originally requested a condition relating to foul 
drainage. This requirement was queried with it given Anglian Water’s position. It has now amended 
its response to remove this requirement. As it will be handled under other legislation no foul 
drainage condition is recommended.

Construction Management 
The application is supported by a Construction Management Plan. The revised plan is considered 
to be acceptable. A condition requiring that the development be carried out in accordance with the 
approved details is recommended.

6 Conclusions

Subject to the imposition of the attached conditions, the proposal is acceptable having been 
assessed in light of all material considerations, including weighing against relevant policies of the 
development plan and specifically:

 The principle of locating a school on this site was established by the granting of outline 
planning permission. The development will help meet the existing demand for school places 
and also the demand which will be created when the hospital site is redeveloped. The 
proposal therefore accords with the National Planning Policy Framework and policy CS13 
of the adopted Core Strategy.

 Notwithstanding the concerns which have been raised the traffic impacts of the 
development are considered to be acceptable given the context of the previous use of the 
site as a hospital. The changes to the Midland Road junction will help prevent illegal 
manoeuvres into and out of the road and the inclusion of a pedestrian crossing as part of 
the signalisation of the Thorpe Road/ Thorpe Lea Road junction will ensure a safe route to 
the Thorpe Meadows where the school’s playing fields will be located in the future. On-site 
parking will be provided for staff, the level of which is considered to be acceptable. In 
addition, new parking bays will be created on Midland Road which can be used for drop off 
and pick up. As such the proposal is considered to accord with policy PP12 and PP13 of 
the adopted Planning Policies DPD. The development will also be subject to a Travel Plan 
and Parking Management Plan in accordance with policy CS14 of the adopted Core 
Strategy.

 Notwithstanding the objection received the impact of the development upon the non 
designated heritage asset is on balance considered to be acceptable given the benefits to 
the scheme which the proposal approach will bring. The design of the new build is also 
considered to achieve a satisfactory relationship with the locally listed building. The 
proposal is therefore considered to accord with paragraph 135 of the National Planning 
Policy Framework, policy CS16 of the adopted Core Strategy and polices PP2 and PP17 of 
the adopted Planning Policies DPD.

 Subject to noise attenuation measures an appropriate environment will be provided for the 
children. It is also not considered that there would be any adverse impact upon 
neighbouring residents. The proposal therefore accords with polices PP3 and PP4 of the 
adopted Planning Policies DPD.

 The application seeks to retain the key protected trees within the site and there would not 
be any adverse ecological issues. Subject to conditions the proposal is therefore 
considered to accord with policy PP16 of the adopted Planning Polices DPD.

 The site can be adequately drained and the detailed proposal will include measures to 
promote sustainability. The proposal therefore complies with policies CS10 and CS22 of the 
adopted Core Strategy.

7 Recommendation

The case officer recommends that Planning Permission is GRANTED subject to the following 

23

103



conditions:

C 1 The development hereby permitted shall be begun before the expiration of three years from 
the date of this permission. 

 Reason: In accordance with Section 91 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 (as 
amended).

C2 The development hereby approved by be carried out in accordance with the following 
approved plans and details:-
 Location Plan PL_0001
 Proposed Site Plan PL_0003 
 List of External Materials and Colour Rev A 
 Elevations Sheet 1 PL_2003 C
 Elevations Sheet 2 PL_2004 C
 Site Sections PL_0004 B
 Memorial Hall detailed elevations Sheet 1 PL_2001 B
 Memorial Hall detailed elevations Sheet 2 PL_2002 B
 Memorial Hall External Works Detail
 Memorial Hall Existing Floor Plans PL_1000
 Memorial Hall Ground Floor Plan PL-1010
 Memorial Hall First Floor Plan PL_1020
 Memorial Hall Second Floor Plan PL_1030
 Roof Plan PL_1040
 Existing Elevations PL 2000
 J4794 1.4.2.26 Rev A Kitchen Ventilation Roof Plant Details
 Arboricultural Method Statement and Outline Method Statement 

wwa/1329/doc/602/P02 July 2015
 Tree Removal and Retention Plan wwa_1329_LL_102 P01
 Tree Protection Plan wwa_1329_LL_108 P02
 Landscape Master Plan www_1329_LL_101 T05
 Planting Plan wwwa_1329_LP_301 P01
 Ecology and Wildlife Planting Plan wwa_1329_LL_110 P00
 Remediation Strategy Plan wwwa_1329_LL_112 P00
 Frontage Area Detail wwa_1329_LL_103 P00
 Early Years- Detailed Area wwa_1329_LL_104 P00
 Soft Landscape and Maintenance Programme wwa_1329_Doc_601 P00 May 2015
 Site Plan Prior to Demolition Works wwa_1329_LL_107 P01
 Levels Plan wwa_1329_LL_109 P02
 (CP1) 210 B Drainage Proposals
 Drainage Calculations (Revised)
 Section 5 of the Design and Access Statement re policy CS10
 BRUKL Output Document
 Travel Plan Updated including updated Parking Management Plan
 Construction Management Plan (excluding the original site set up plan)
 Construction Management Plan clarification document issued 16/06
 Site Set Up Plan (Revised)
 SK02 A Vehicle Tracking
 External lighting Lux Levels 1.4.2.25 Rev B
 Lighting specification and calculations
 Noise Assessment
 Travel Plan including Parking Management Plan July 2015
 10263/HL/026 Rev C Midland Road Traffic Calming
 Thorpe Lea Road/Thorpe Road junction options 1 and 2

24

104



Reason: To ensure that the development complies with that which has been applied for.

C 3 The external surfaces and finishes of the new build elements of the development shall be 
carried out in accordance with the approved list of External Materials and Colours Rev A.

Reason: In order to ensure a satisfactory external appearance in accordance with policy 
PP2 of the adopted Planning Policies DPD and policy CS16 of the adopted Core Strategy.

C4 Prior to the commencement of any works to the Memorial Hospital a detailed method 
statement setting out how the façade of the building will be retained and protected during 
demolition works will be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning 
Authority. The demolition works will thereafter be carried out in accordance with the 
approved details.

Reason: In order to ensure the retention and protection of the façade of the Memorial 
hospital in accordance with policy PP17 of the adopted Planning Policies DPD. This is a 
pre-commencement condition as the demolition works will need to take place before other 
works on site.

C5 Notwithstanding the submitted information, prior to the commencement of each aspect of 
work to the Memorial Hospital a detailed scheme setting out how these elements will be 
treated shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. 
These details shall be based upon the principles shown on drawing numbers PL_2001 Rev 
B and PL_2002 Rev A and set out in the document Memorial Hall External Works Detail 
Rev A :

 Sample panel showing the Flemish bond and mortar
 Samples of new roof tiles
 Samples of purpose made bricks for the quoins 
 Details of the proposed new chimney structures including a sample of the purpose 

made bricks
 Specification of works to the Portico and the final levels adjacent to it
 Treatment of existing windows
 Details of the new entrance door and its relationship to the stone surround and 

original glazed panel
 Details of rainwater goods.
 Details and final alignment of the design of the new boundary railings 

(accommodating access to UK Power Networks)

Reason: In order to ensure the retention and protection of the façade of the Memorial 
Hospital and to ensure satisfactory external appearance in accordance with policies PP2 
and PP17 of the adopted Planning Policies DPD and policy CS16 of the adopted Core 
Strategy. 

C 6 The development hereby approved shall be carried out in accordance with the approved 
Arboricultural Impact Assessment wwa/1329/doc/602/P01 and Tree Protection Drawings 
reference wwa_1329_LL_108 P01. Prior to the commencement of any development on site 
a pre-start meeting shall be held with the Local Planning Authority including the Tree Officer 
to review the proposals and make any final adjustments to them especially in respect of 
levels as maybe required to ensure the protection of retained trees. The details of any 
adjustments to the Arboricultural Impact Assessment or Tree Protection Drawings which 
may be required as a result of the meeting shall thereafter be submitted to and approved in 
writing by the Local Planning Authority before works commence on site. The development 
shall thereafter be carried out in accordance with the amended plans.

Reason: In order to ensure that the existing trees are protected in accordance with policy 
PP16 of the adopted Planning Policies DPD. This is a pre-commencement condition as 

25

105



final agreement is required before works start on site to ensure that the trees are protected 
and won’t be adversely impacted upon.

C7 Prior to the installation of the new boundary railings to Thorpe Road and Midland Road a 
detailed scheme setting out where supports will be located and how the works will be 
carried out in respect of the retained trees shall submitted to and approved in writing by the 
Local Planning Authority. The railings shall thereafter be installed in accordance with the 
approved scheme.

Reason: In order to ensure that the existing trees are protected in accordance with policy 
PP16 of the adopted Planning Policies DPD.

C8 The hard and soft landscaping scheme including the provision of bird and bat boxes shall 
be carried out in accordance with the Tree Protection Plan (wwa_1329_LL_108 P01), 
Landscape Master Plan (wwa_1329_LL_101 T05), Planting Plan (wwa_1329_LP_301 P01) 
and Ecology and Wildlife Plan (wwa_1329_LL_110 P00) before the new school is brought 
into use. Prior to its installation details of the finish treatment of the bin store shall be 
submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The development 
shall thereafter be carried out in accordance with the approved details. 

Any new trees, shrubs or hedges forming part of the approved landscaping scheme that 
die, are removed, become diseased or unfit for purpose [in the opinion of the Local 
Planning Authority) within five years of the implementation of the landscaping scheme shall 
be replaced during the next available planting season by the Developers, or their 
successors in title with an equivalent size, number and species being replaced. Any 
replacement trees, shrubs or hedgerows dying within five years of planting shall themselves 
be replaced with an equivalent size, number and species. 

 Reason: In order to ensure a satisfactory visual finish, the retention of protected trees and 
to secure replacement planting for the trees to be lost in accordance with policy CS16 of 
the adopted Core Strategy and policy PP16 of the adopted Planning Policies DPD.

C 9 The external lighting scheme shall be carried out in accordance with drawing number 
1.4.2.25 Rev V and associated lighting calculations/ lighting specifications before the new 
school is brought into use. 

Reason: In the interests of community safety and residential amenity in accordance with 
policy CS16 of the adopted Core Strategy and policy PP3 of the adopted Planning Policies 
DPD.

C10 The surface drainage works shall be carried out in accordance with the details shown on 
drawing number (CP1) 210 B and the associated drainage calculations (updated) before 
the new school is brought into use. 

Reason: In order to ensure that the site can be adequately drained in accordance with 
policy CS22 of the adopted Core Strategy.

C11 The new school shall not be brought into use until the new cycle parking has been provided 
in accordance with the locations and details shown on the Landscape Master Plan 
(wwa_1329_LL_101 T-05) Prior to the implementation of the cycle parking the finish colour 
of the cycle shelters will be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning 
Authority along with a plan identifying where additional cycle parking will be provided if 
demand arises or is identified through the Travel Planning process. The development shall 
thereafter be carried out in accordance with the approved details.

 Reason: In order to ensure sufficient cycle parking in accordance with policy CS14 of the 
adopted Core Strategy.

26

106



C12 The school shall operate in accordance with the approved Travel Plan dated July 2015 
including the Parking Management Plan and the review mechanisms set out therein. 

Reason: In the interests of encouraging travel by sustainable modes in accordance with 
Policy CS14 of the adopted Peterborough Core Strategy DPD. 

C13 Construction works including deliveries to the site and hours of working shall be in 
accordance with the approved Construction Management Plan, Clarification Document and 
Revised Site Set Up Plan.

 Reason: In the interests of highway safety, residential amenity and to protect the retained 
trees in accordance with policies PP3, PP12, PP13 and PP16 of the adopted Planning 
Policies DPD.

C14 If during development contamination not previously identified is found to be present at the 
site, then no further development shall be carried out within the affected area until a Method 
Statement detailing how this unsuspected contamination will be dealt with has been 
submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The development 
shall thereafter be carried out in accordance with the approved Method Statement. 

Reason: To ensure all contamination within the site is dealt with in accordance with the 
NPPF in particular paragraphs 120 and 121 and policy PP20 of the adopted Planning 
Policies DPD.

C15 The development hereby approved shall be carried out in accordance with the approved 
levels plan (wwa_1329_LL_109 P02) subject to any amendments to this which may be 
required as a result of C5 and C6 in respect of levels around the portico and in respect of 
the retained trees.

Reason: In the interests of visual amenity and in order to ensure the protection of a Building 
of Local Importance and retained trees in accordance with policy CS16 of the adopted Core 
Strategy and policies PP3, PP16 and PP17 of the adopted Planning Policies DPD.

C16 The development shall be carried out in accordance with the sustainability measures set 
out in section 5 of the Design and Access Statement and associated BRUKL calculations.

Reason: In order to ensure that the scheme complies with policy CS10 of the adopted Core 
Strategy.

C17 Prior to first occupation of the new school full details of all extraction/ventilation equipment 
shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority.  The details 
shall include the nature and location of all filtration equipment for cooking fumes (including 
the discharge height and proximity to the nearest sensitive residential receptor) and the 
efflux velocity of extraction equipment. Any equipment installed shall be in accordance with 
the approved details. 

Reason: In order to protect the amenities of neighbouring occupants, in accordance with 
Policy CS16 of the Peterborough Core Strategy DPD (2011) and Policy PP3 of the 
Peterborough Planning Policies DPD (2012).  

C18 The level of noise emitted from plant at the site shall not exceed 45 dBLAeq 1 hour 
between 07.00- 19.00 40dBLAeq 1 hour between 19.00- 23.00 and 35 dBLAeq 15 minutes 
at any other time. The noise levels should be determined at the nearest noise sensitive 
premises. The measurements and assessment should be made according to BS: 
4142:2014.

Reason: In the interests of residential amenity in accordance with policies PP3 and PP4 of 
the adopted Planning Policies DPD.

27

107



C19 Prior to the first opening of the new school a scheme of works to Midland Road including 
alterations to the junction, the introduction of a raised table and new parking bays based 
upon the principles shown on drawing number 10263/HL/026 Rev C shall be carried out.

Reason: In the interests of highway safety and convenience in accordance with policy PP12 
of the adopted Core Strategy.

C20 Prior to the first opening of the new school a scheme of works to signalise the Thorpe 
Road/Thorpe Lea Road junction including a new pedestrian crossing based upon the 
Principles shown on drawing options 1 or 2 shall be carried out.

Reason: In the interests of highway safety and convenience in accordance with policy PP12 
of the adopted Core Strategy. 

C21 Prior to the first use of the new school the proposed car parking and service vehicle 
turning/loading area shown on drawing number wwa_1329_LL_101 T05 shall be provided. 
These areas shall thereafter be retained for these purposes in perpetuity.

Reason: In order to ensure sufficient car parking/ turning and loading space is available in 
accordance with policies PP12 and PP13 of the adopted Planning Policies DPD.

C22 Notwithstanding the submitted information, the new/amended vehicle access shall be 
implemented prior to the first use of the new school. Vehicle to vehicle visibility splays of 
2.4 metres by 43 metres shall be provided from the site access and thereafter retained free 
from any obstructions over 600mm in height.

Reason: In the interests of highway safety in accordance with policy PP12 of the adopted 
Planning Policies DPD.

C23 When the new school is brought into use arrangements shall be in place in accordance with 
a scheme to be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority to 
facilitate community use of the rooms within the Memorial Building. The school should 
thereafter operate in accordance with the approved scheme.

Reason: In order to facilitate community use of this Local Listed Building in accordance with 
policy PP17 of the adopted Planning Policies DPD.

Informatives

1. It is recommended that information regarding the build and proposals for the Memorial 
Building be displayed when works commence in order to explain the project and what the 
building will look like given the likely public interest in the development and its status as a 
Building of Local Importance.

2. The development is likely to involve works within the public highway in order to provide 
services to the site.  Such works must be licenced under the New Roads and Street Works 
Act 1991.  It is essential that, prior to the commencement of such works, adequate time be 
allowed in the development programme for; the issue of the appropriate licence, approval of 
temporary traffic management and booking of road space.  Applications for NR & SWA 
licences should be made to Transport & Engineering - Street Works Co-Ordinator on 01733 
453578.

3. Highways Act 1980 - Section 184, Sub-sections (3)(4)(9)
This development involves the construction of a new or alteration of an existing vehicular 
crossing within a public highway.

These works MUST be carried out in accordance with details specified by Peterborough 
City Council.

28

108



Prior to commencing any works within the public highway, a Road Opening Permit must be 
obtained from the Council on payment of the appropriate fee.

Contact is to be made with the Transport & Engineering - Development Team on 01733 
453474 or email HighwaysDevelopmentTeam@peterborough.gov.uk who will supply the 
relevant application form, provide a preliminary indication of the fee payable and specify the 
construction details and drawing(s) required.

4. Numbering and Naming
Public Health Act 1925 S17-18
The development will result in the creation of new streets and dwellings and it will be 
necessary for the Council as street naming authority to allocate appropriate street names 
and property numbers. Before development is commenced you should contact the 
Technical Support Team Manager- Highways Infrastructure Group on 01733 453461 for 
details of the procedure to be followed and information required. Please note this is not a 
function covered by your planning application but is a statutory obligation of the Local 
Authority and is not changeable but must be dealt with as a separate matter.

5. Off Site Highway Works S278 Highway Works Arrangements
The development involves extensive works within the public highway. Such works must be 
the subject of an agreement under Section 278 of the Highways Act 1980. It is essential 
that prior to the commencement of the highway works adequate time is allowed in the 
development programme for approval by the council of the designer, main contractor and 
sub-contractors, technical vetting, safety audits, approval of temporary traffic management, 
booking of road space for off-site highway work and service works and the completion of a 
legal agreement. Application forms for S278 Agreements are available from Transport and 
Engineering- Development Team, on 01733 453421.

29

109



This page is intentionally left blank

110



111



This page is intentionally left blank

112



Planning and EP Committee 28 July 2015                                                               Item 8

Application Ref: 15/00740/FUL 

Proposal: Change of use of part of the ground floor to A1(retail) part- retrospective

Site: 126 Lincoln Road, Peterborough, PE1 2NT, 
Applicant: Mrs G SABIR

Agent: Mr Robert Gooding
GOOD-DESIGN-ING LTD

Referred by: Cllr Nadeem
Reason: The proposal is acceptable as it is small scale and would be for the personal 

use of the applicant
Site visit: 04.06.2015

Case officer: Mrs J MacLennan
Telephone No. 01733 454438
E-Mail: janet.maclennan@peterborough.gov.uk

Recommendation: REFUSE  

1 Description of the site and surroundings and Summary of the proposal

Site and surroundings
The application site is located on the western side of Lincoln Road and close to the junction with 
Lime Tree Avenue to the north and contains a two storey, 3 bedroom, semi-detached dwelling.  There 
is a blocked paved area to the front of the site; however parking is not authorised here as there is 
no dropped kerb serving the paved area.  There is one parking space and a garage to the rear of 
the property accessed via Lime Tree Avenue.  There are double yellow lines restricting on-street 
parking to the site frontage. The adjoining semi at no. 128 is occupied as a Guest House.  The 
surrounding character is predominantly residential although there are a number of small retail units 
nearby. 

Proposal
The application seeks planning consent for the partial change of use of the ground floor for retail use 
for the sale of material for making Saris.  The floor space would be 20m2.  The remainder of the 
property would retain the residential use.  The existing bay window within the front elevation would 
be replaced with a door to create an access independent of the main dwelling.   The proposal is part 
retrospective in that the use of the shop has started.   Prior to the use starting the applicant was 
given ‘pre-app’ advice in relation to two similar proposal and was advised that planning permission 
would be required.

2 Planning History

Reference Proposal Decision Date
09/01340/FUL Proposed ground floor rear extension Permitted 08/01/2010

3 Planning Policy

Decisions must be taken in accordance with the development plan policies below, unless material 
considerations indicate otherwise.

1

113



Peterborough Core Strategy DPD (2011)

CS14 - Transport 
Promotes a reduction in the need to travel, sustainable transport, the Council’s UK Environment 
Capital aspirations and development which would improve the quality of environments for residents.

CS15 - Retail 
Development should accord with the Retail Strategy which seeks to promote the City Centre and 
where appropriate the district and local centres. The loss of village shops will only be accepted 
subject to certain conditions being met.

CS16 - Urban Design and the Public Realm 
Design should be of high quality, appropriate to the site and area, improve the public realm, address 
vulnerability to crime, be accessible to all users and not result in any unacceptable impact upon the 
amenities of neighbouring residents.

Peterborough Planning Policies DPD (2012)

PP02 - Design Quality 
Permission will only be granted for development which makes a positive contribution to the built and 
natural environment; does not have a detrimental effect on the character of the area; is sufficiently 
robust to withstand/adapt to climate change; and is designed for longevity.

PP03 - Impacts of New Development 
Permission will not be granted for development which would result in an unacceptable loss of privacy, 
public and/or private green space or natural daylight; be overbearing or cause noise or other 
disturbance, odour or other pollution; fail to minimise opportunities for crime and disorder.

PP09 - Development for Retail and Leisure Uses 
A sequential approach will be applied to retail and leisure development. Retail development outside 
Primary Shopping Areas or leisure development outside any centre will be refused unless the 
requirements of Policy CS15 of the Core Strategy have been satisfied or compliance with the 
sequential approach has been demonstrated.

PP12 - The Transport Implications of Development 
Permission will only be granted if appropriate provision has been made for safe access by all user 
groups and there would not be any unacceptable impact on the transportation network including 
highway safety.

PP13 - Parking Standards 
Permission will only be granted if appropriate parking provision for all modes of transport is made in 
accordance with standards.

4 Consultations/Representations

PCC Transport & Engineering Services  -This site benefits from two parking spaces to the rear of 
the site accessed via Lime Tree Avenue.  Whilst there is hard standing to the front of the site there 
is no direct dropped kerb, therefore this area cannot be considered as a parking space.  Space 
should be provided for delivery vehicles to park, turn and leave in forward gear.  This could not be 
provided within the site, however as there are several instances where turning is not provided the 
LHA would accept a loading area provided to the site frontage.  This would require the provision of 
a parking area on the site frontage of 2.5m in width with 1.5m x 1.5m pedestrian splays which does 
not appear to be achievable with the telecommunications cabinet in its current position.  This would 
require relocation.  The LHA would not support the proposal if an on-site loading/unloading area 
were not provided.  Whilst a delivery vehicle could ordinarily load/unload on the street, even though 
there are double yellow lines, vehicles waiting on the street would in this instance, block visibility 
from Lime Tree Avenue.

2

114



Local Residents/Interested Parties 

Initial consultations: 9
Total number of responses: 0
Total number of objections: 0
Total number in support: 0

No neighbour representations have been received.

5 Assessment of the planning issues

a) Background
There have been two ‘pre-application’ enquiries submitted to the Local Planning Authority seeking 
advice regarding the use of part of the ground floor for retail.  The advice given was that planning 
permission would be required for the change of use and given that the site lies outside of a 
designated centre, it would be unlikely that planning permission would be granted.

b) The principle of development
The development would result in 20m2 of retail floor space using a ground floor room at the front of 
the dwelling, however the site lies outside of a designated local centre.  For retail development 
outside designated centres applicants must firstly undertake a sequential approach to site selection 
to demonstrate that there are no suitable alternative sites that are higher in the search sequence.  
Only if it can be demonstrated that there are no suitable sites available within the search hierarchy 
can an out of centre site be considered acceptable in principle.  

It is accepted that the use would be operated from the applicant’s home and would be a small scale 
business however the site is located within an area which is predominantly residential and the 
approval of a retail use within the property would set an undesirable precedent whereby subsequent 
applications for similar uses would be difficult to resist.

Reference is made to retail units located on the opposite side of Lincoln Road at nos. 131 and 133.  
It should be noted that no 131 Lincoln Road has a historic retail use.  In 2009 planning permission 
was granted for an extension of the retail floor space of the unit into number 133 (ref.09/00157/FUL). 
 The proposal was supported as policy R4 of the Adopted Peterborough Local Plan (First 
Replacement) (relevant policy at the time) allowed for extensions of below 200 sqm on existing retail 
units without the need for a sequential approach and the extension was within this limit.

In addition the application refers to commercial uses at the neighbouring sites i.e. Guest House and 
Hotel which have been occupied in this way for a number of years and in any event they retain a 
residential character.

The proposal is therefore contrary to Policy PP9 of the Adopted Peterborough Planning Policies DPD 
states that the Local Planning Authority and Policy CS15 of the Adopted Peterborough Core Strategy 
DPD.  

c) Design and Visual Amenity
The façade of the existing property has a pleasant appearance with a bay window.  The proposal 
seeks to create an independent access by the replacement of the window with a door.  It is 
considered that the alterations to the front elevation would not detract from the character and 
appearance of the existing dwelling and those within the immediate vicinity.  Hence the proposal 
would not be contrary to policy PP2 of the Adopted Peterborough Planning Policies DPD and policy 
CS16 of the Adopted Peterborough Core Strategy DPD. 

3

115



d) Neighbouring Amenity
The proposed change of use to retail has the potential for higher numbers of visitors to the property 
than would be the case for a residential dwelling.  However, given that the neighbouring property to 
the north is a Guest House and the property is separated from the dwelling to the south and that the 
use could be restricted to the applicant and by hours of operation, it is not considered that the 
proposal would unduly impact upon the amenity of the occupiers of neighbouring dwellings.  The 
proposal would not be contrary to policy PP3 of the Adopted Peterborough Planning Policies DPD 
and policy CS16 of the Adopted Peterborough Core Strategy DPD.

e) Highway implications
The application states that there is parking provision at the front of the property, however there is no 
dropped kerb from the highway and therefore currently this area could not legally be used for parking. 
 The Local Highways Authority would require space within the curtilage of the property for the loading 
and unloading of a delivery vehicle to avoid a vehicle waiting on the highway.  There are double 
yellow lines to the front of the property and whilst a vehicle could load/unload on the highway this 
would be detrimental to highway safety due to the site’s close proximity to the junction with Lime 
Tree Avenue and the impact on the visibility of drivers exiting Lime Tree Avenue.  There is currently 
a telecommunication box directly to the front of the site which would need to be relocated to achieve 
a parking space of 2.5m in width and 1.5m x 1.5m visibility splays each side of the access.  It is 
considered that there would be available space within the site for this to be provided.  

There is one parking space at the rear of the property accessed via Lime Tree Avenue.  No parking 
provision would be available within the site for customers however, there is time limited on-street 
parking available on Lime Tree Avenue. The proposal therefore would not unduly impact upon the 
safety of users of the adjacent highway and the proposal accords with policies PP12 and PP13 of 
the Adopted Peterborough Planning Policies DPD.

6 Conclusions

The proposal is unacceptable having been assessed in light of all material considerations, including 
weighing against relevant policies of the development plan and for the specific reason given below.

7 Recommendation

The Director of Growth and Regeneration recommends that Planning Permission is refused.

The site is a residential dwelling located in an out of centre location and it has not been demonstrated 
that there are no alternative suitable available sites higher in the search sequence e.g. nearby local 
or district centres. The proposal is therefore contrary to Policies CS15 of the Peterborough Core 
Strategy and PP9 of the Peterborough Planning Policies DPD.

4

116



117



This page is intentionally left blank

118



Delegated Report                                                                                                  Items 9 and 10

Application Ref: 15/00768/HHFUL & 15/00769/HHFUL

Proposal: Proposed two storey side extension, ground floor rear extension and 
veranda and loft conversion including a dormer window, increasing in roof 
height

Site: 21 Grange Road, West Town, Peterborough, PE3 9DR
Applicant: Mr Y Qureshi

Agent: Mr N P Branston

Site visit: 01.07.2015

Case officer: Mr D Jolley
Telephone No. 01733 453414
E-Mail: david.jolley@peterborough.gov.uk

Recommendation: 15/00768/HHFUL – REFUSE  
15/00769/HHFUL – APPROVE

1 Description of the site and surroundings and Summary of the proposal

Site and surroundings
The application site is a detached 1920's dwelling of brick and tile construction located within the 
West Town district. The area is characterised by linear street patterns, with variation in the design 
of dwellings. The application site is part way through alterations approved under application 
number 14/00781/HHFUL but has not been constructed in accordance with the approved plans. 
The planning permission was given for a two storey side extension and single storey rear 
extensions. The main departure is that the roof has been raised by approximately 45cm, this 
relates to both the main house roof and the roof of the extension.

Proposal
These applications are an amendment to approved application number 14/00781/HHFUL. Both 
applications seek approval for the following alterations:

 The height of the first floor windows is increased by 30cm to avoid a large gap from window 
top to soffit

 Front door is relocated to the front elevation of the side extension, the existing front door 
replaced by a window

 High level window added to side elevation at ground floor
 4x skylights and 1x velux added to the single storey rear extension
 Width of rear roof dormer increased, this element now requires permission due to the 

increased roof height

The difference between the two applications relates to the roof heights;

15/00768/HHFUL: Proposes a 9.15 metre ridge height for the main house and a 8.85m ridge 
height for the side extension (As constructed on site)
15/00769/HHFUL: Proposes a ridge height of 8.85 metres for both the main house and the side 
extension.

N.B. The original roof height is 8.4 metres, under approved application 14/00781/HHFUL the height 
of the two storey side extension was approved at 8.1 metres above ground level. 

1

119



2 Planning History

Reference Proposal Decision Date
14/00781/HHFUL Construction of a two storey side extension, 

ground floor rear extension and veranda 
and loft conversion including a dormer 
window. - Revised application

Permitted 26/06/2014

3 Planning Policy

Decisions must be taken in accordance with the development plan policies below, unless material 
considerations indicate otherwise.

Peterborough Core Strategy DPD (2011)

CS16 - Urban Design and the Public Realm 
Design should be of high quality, appropriate to the site and area, improve the public realm, 
address vulnerability to crime, be accessible to all users and not result in any unacceptable impact 
upon the amenities of neighbouring residents.

Peterborough Planning Policies DPD (2012)

PP02 - Design Quality 
Permission will only be granted for development which makes a positive contribution to the built 
and natural environment; does not have a detrimental effect on the character of the area; is 
sufficiently robust to withstand/adapt to climate change; and is designed for longevity.

PP03 - Impacts of New Development 
Permission will not be granted for development which would result in an unacceptable loss of 
privacy, public and/or private green space or natural daylight; be overbearing or cause noise or 
other disturbance, odour or other pollution; fail to minimise opportunities for crime and disorder.

4 Consultations/Representations

Local Residents/Interested Parties 

Initial consultations: 9
Total number of responses: 2
Total number of objections: 2
Total number in support: 0

Two objections have been received in relation to the proposals raising the following points;

I now have a 10ft tall 26ft long concrete wall as my boundary, I feel that the amount of sunlight and 
aesthetics that have been lost through these developments will only be added to if any further 
height is allowed to the development of the roof.

I am now in a position to object to the plans as when the initial plans were passed I was in hospital 
and was unable to accept or respond to correspondence, and so was unaware of the extent of the 
development.

The rear elevation includes large dormer windows to be constructed in the roof space which will 
create the potential for overlooking particularly for my property and will inevitably lead to a loss of 
privacy.

2

120



The scale of the proposed alterations alter the proportions of the dwelling resulting in a form, bulk 
and scale that is out of character with all the adjacent houses on Grange Road.  The proposal will 
inevitably be an intrusion and have an adverse impact on visual amenity.

The extension of the two storey element across the width of the site will result in 'terracing' 
contributing to the change in character of the street scene.

The extension to the rear is significant when the canopy veranda is included; I am concerned this 
may create potential noise problems, bearing in mind the proximity to the rear boundary.

The garden building (14/00717/HHFUL) is in breach of condition 2 (materials condition) and the 
applicant should be monitored to make sure they are constructing in accordance with approved 
plans. The builders have shown no regard for the damage they have caused to neighbours 
properties, trespass and encroachment.

Gutters are overhanging neighbours without consent being given.

5 Assessment of the planning issues

The main consideration are;

 The impact of the proposal on the character of the area
 The impact of the proposal on the amenity of the occupiers of neighbouring dwellings

Committee should note the footprint of the extensions and the height and depth of the canopy 
veranda have been approved under previous application number 14/00781/HHFUL. Matters 
relating to these elements will not be discussed at length in this report. As stated above the two 
application being considered only differ in relation to roof heights;

15/00768/HHFUL: Proposes a 9.15 metre ridge height for the main house and a 8.85m ridge 
height for the side extension.
15/00769/HHFUL: Proposes a ridge height of 8.85 metres for both the main house and the side 
extension.

The impact of the proposal on the character of the area
The moving of the front door to the extension and its replacement with a window could be 
undertaken without the benefit of planning permission. Notwithstanding this the alteration, whilst 
slightly unusual for the Grange Road, results in a pleasant composition. The Local Planning 
Authority are of the opinion that this element of the scheme is better than the porch approved 
under application 14/00781/HHFUL.

The height of the 1st floor front facing windows has been increased by 30cm in order avoid a large 
gap between the top of the windows and the roof soffits (created by the raising of the roof). Grange 
Road is somewhat varied in its character and it would appear that the windows at number 17 are of 
the approximate size as proposed here. These windows do not look unacceptable and are not 
immediately apparent in wider views. It is therefore considered that increasing the height of the 
windows is the correct solution and will not unacceptably harm the character of the area. 

As the only material difference between the two applications is the height of the roof, the impact of 
each proposal in this regard shall be discussed separately below;

15/00768/HHFUL
The increased roof height (9.15 metre ridge height for the main house and a 8.85m ridge height for 
the side extension) significantly increases the perceived bulk of the dwelling. When viewed from all 
directions the increased height of the roof is immediately apparent and as such the dwelling has 
become an incongruous focal point within the street scene. Whilst the increasing window height 
would help improve the look of the dwelling in isolation, the roof height will ensure that the dwelling 

3

121



can never integrate acceptably within the street scene and as such causes unacceptable harm to 
the character of the area.

15/00769/HHFUL
This proposal (ridge height of 8.85 metres for both the main house and the side extension) seeks 
to reduce the height of the main house roof (as built) by approximately 25cm so that it ties in with 
the as built side extension roof to create a one height roof as can be seen opposite at 20 Grange 
Road. 

The LPA acknowledge that the dwelling will have a higher roof than its neighbours and that this will 
be visible from the public realm, but the difference will not be so much as to create an obvious and 
unacceptable incongruous feature within the street scene. The height difference is more 
pronounced when viewed from the south as 19 Grange Road is set back by approximately a metre 
compared to the frontage of the application site.

All other alterations are not visible from the public realm and will have no impact upon the areas 
character.

The impact of the proposal on the amenity of the occupiers of neighbouring dwellings
As stated above the footprint of the extensions and the height and depth of the canopy veranda 
have been approved under previous application number 14/00781/HHFUL. Therefore it would be 
unreasonable to refuse the application on the basis of any harm caused to neighbour amenity from 
these elements given that they are constructed in accordance with approved plans.

The 4x roof lights and 1x velux will have no impact upon the amenity of the occupiers of 
neighbouring dwellings.

The high level windows added to the side elevations could be added under permitted development 
once the development had been completed. Notwithstanding this the high level windows are 
approximately 1.6 metres above ground level and as such are unlikely to result in an unacceptable 
loss of privacy for the occupiers of 19 Grange Road.

The applicant proposes to increase the width of the approved rear dormer window, by 3.0 metres 
so that it extends over the side extension. Application 14/00871/HHFUL permitted a dormer of 3.7 
metres width, contained within the original house roof, this dormer could have been constructed 
under permitted development allowances. Notwithstanding this there is no reason to believe that 
increasing the width of a dormer window by 3.0 metres would result in unacceptable harm to the 
amenity of the occupiers of nearby dwellings.

The increase in the height of the house roof will result in some loss of light to the neighbour’s rear 
amenity space. However the reduction in light is not severe enough to warrant the refusal of either 
15/00768/HHFUL or 15/00769/HHFUL.

Other matters
As stated above the footprint of the extensions and the height and depth of the canopy veranda 
have been approved under previous application number 14/00781/HHFUL and as such it would be 
unreasonable to refuse the application on the basis of elements that have previously been found 
sound.

Most of the objections raised have been discussed above. Objectors have also stated that the 
applicant has encroached on neighbouring land. This is not a material consideration in determining 
the application and is a civil matter.

Finally the objectors state that the conduct of the builders has been unacceptable. This is not a 
material consideration in the determination of the application and could not form the basis of a 
refusal of the application.

4

122



6 Conclusions

The recommendations for the applications, having been assessed in light of all material 
considerations, including weighing against relevant policies of the development plan and for the 
specific reasons given below, are as follows:

That the Planning Permission for application number 15/00768/HHFUL is REFUSED, because the 
design of the roof is unacceptably damaging to the street scene.

That the Planning Permission for application number 15/00769/HHFUL is APPROVED subject to 
relevant conditions.

7 Recommendation

The Director of Growth and Planning recommends that Planning Permission for application number 
15/00768/HHFUL is REFUSED for the following reason;

 
R 1 The proposal by way of its roof height would become and incongruous focal point within the 

street scene and would be detrimental to the character of the area. This is contrary to policy 
PP2 of the Peterborough Planning Policies (DPD) 2012 and policy CS16 of the 
Peterborough Core Strategy (DPD) 2011.

The Director of Growth and Planning recommends that Planning Permission for application number 
15/00769/HHFUL is APPROVED subject to the following conditions;

C1 The development hereby permitted shall be begun before the expiration of three years from 
the date of this permission.

Reason: In accordance with Section 91 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 (as 
amended).

C2 The materials to be used in the construction of the external surfaces of the extensions 
hereby permitted shall match those used in the existing building.

Reason: For the Local Planning Authority to ensure a satisfactory external appearance, in 
accordance with Policy CS16 of the Peterborough Core Strategy DPD (2011) and Policy 
PP2 of the Peterborough Planning Policies DPD (2012).

5

123



This page is intentionally left blank

124


	Agenda
	4.1 14/01307/MMFUL - Eyebury Quarry, Eyebury Road, Eye, Peterborough
	4.1 14/01307/MMFUL - Eyebury Quarry, Eyebury Road, Eye, Peterborough
	1. 1401307MMFUL Eye Quarry

	4.2 15/00229/MMFUL - Cooks Hole, Leicester Road, Thornhaugh, Peterborough
	4.2 15/00229/MMFUL - Cooks Hole, Leicester Road, Thornhaugh, Peterborough
	2. 1500229MMFUL Cooks Hole

	4.3 15/00230/MMFUL - Thornhaugh Landfill Site, Leicester Road, Thornhaugh, Peterborough
	4.3 15/00230/MMFUL - Thornhaugh Landfill Site, Leicester Road, Thornhaugh, Peterborough
	3. 1500230MMFUL Thornhaugh I

	4.4 15/00653/OUT - 1 Grove Street, Woodston, Peterborough, PE2 9AG
	4.4 15/00653/OUT - 1 Grove Street, Woodston, Peterborough, PE2 9AG
	4. 1500653OUT 1 Grove Street

	4.5 15/00662/R3FUL - Caretakers House, 9 The Pentlands, Gunthorpe, Peterborough
	4.5 15/00662/R3FUL - Caretakers House, 9 The Pentlands, Gunthorpe, Peterborough
	5. 1500662R3FUL Caretakers House

	4.6 15/00671/HHFUL - 80 Ledbury Road, Netherton, Peterborough, PE3 9PJ
	4.6 15/00671/HHFUL - 80 Ledbury Road, Netherton, Peterborough, PE3 9PJ
	6. 1500671HHFUL 80 Ledbury Road

	4.7 15/00692/FUL - Memorial Wing, Peterborough District Hospital, Thorpe Road, Peterborough
	4.7 15/00692/FUL - Memorial Wing, Peterborough District Hospital, Thorpe Road, Peterborough
	7. 1500692FUL Memorial Wing

	4.8 15/00740/FUL - 126 Lincoln Road, Peterborough, PE1 2NT
	4.8 15/00740/FUL - 126 Lincoln Road, Peterborough, PE1 2NT
	8. 1500740FUL 126 Lincoln Road

	4.9 15/00768/HHFUL - 21 Grange Road, West Town, Peterborough, PE3 9DR
	4.9 15/00768/HHFUL - 21 Grange Road, West Town, Peterborough, PE3 9DR
	9 - 10. 1500768HHFUL - 1500769HHFUL 21 Grange Road


